TE 228 L9 1997 Executiv

The Safety Effects of Signalizing Intersections

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Richard W. Lyles Stephanie Rossi

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

26 November 97

Conducted for the Michigan Department of Transportation



COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY EAST LANSING, MICHIGAN 48824 MSU IS AN AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY INSTITUTION

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle The Safety Effects Executive Summa	of Signalizing Intersections	 5. Report Date November 1997 6. Performing Organization Code
7. Author(s) Richard W. Lyles a	and Stephanie Rossi	8. Performing Organization Report No.
9. Performing Organizat Department of Civi	tion Name and Address il and Environmental Engineering	10. Work Unit No.
Michigan State University East Lansing Michigan 48824-1226		11. Contract or Grant No. MDOT-94-1521-D
12. Sponsoring Agency Michigan Departm 425 West Ottawa	Name and Address nent of Transportation Street	13. Type of Report and Period Covered Executive Summary
Lansing, Michigan	n 48993	14. Sponsoring Agency Code
15. Supplementary Note		<u>1</u>

16. Abstract

The study was directed to the evaluation of the safety effects of signalizing previously unsignalized intersections on state trunklines in Michigan. An initial set of ~350 intersections which had been signalized between January 1986 and December 1992 was provided by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). Data describing both the physical characteristics of these intersections and the motor vehicle crashes that had occurred at them were then acquired and merged. For the analysis, the intersections were initially separated into one of several types: 4-way, 3-way, crossover, driveway, and ramp-end. The emphasis was on the first two types and the last was eliminated because of crash location problems. The analysis primarily consisted of comparison of before-andafter crash statistics. The most-notable results (based on 2-year before-and-after-signalization analysis periods) included the following: while crash frequencies generally (but not always) increased, there was variation by type of intersection and other variables (e.g., geographic location); there was a very clear shift from angle to rear-end crashes; there was some shift toward less severe crashes although relative distributional shifts were offset by increases in crash frequency in some instances; and, while some factors (e.g., geographic area) affected the results, others (e.g., time of day, day of week) did not.

17.	Key Words	······································	18. Distribution Stateme	ent	
	signalization, safety eff severity, crash frequenc	ects, crash type, crash y			
19.	Security Classification (this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classification (this page) Unclassified	21. No. of Pages	22. Price	*******

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors wish to acknowledge the support for this research which came from the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). They also wish to express their appreciation to the MDOT professional staff who provided data and other background materials and who showed great patience throughout the project. Among them, the following were especially helpful and understanding: Dale Lighthizer, Tom Rathbun, and John Saller.

DISCLAIMER

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Michigan Department of Transportation and the United States Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The sponsors assume no liability for its contents or use thereof.

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are solely responsible for the facts and accuracy of the material presented. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views of the sponsors.

The State of Michigan and the United States Government do not endorse products or manufacturers. Trademarks or manufacturers' names appear herein only because they are considered essential to the objectives of this document.

This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Table of Contents

Торіс	page
Technical Report Documentation Acknowledgment and Disclaimer Table of Contents List of Tables	ii iii iv iv
Introduction and Problem Statement Data Collection and Approach to Analysis Overall Results Results for 4-Way Intersections Results for 3-Way Intersections Results for Driveway and Crossover Intersections Discussion	1 1 1 2 5 7 8
List of Tables	page
Table 1. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45 m (150') from signal for 2 years	3
Table 2. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	3
Table 3. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	5
Table 4. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	6

Executive Summary

Introduction and Problem Statement

The primary reasons for installing traffic signals are to control conflicting traffic movements and assign right of way. At the same time, it has long been argued that installing traffic signals (or other intersection traffic control devices) will sometimes result in the increase of certain types of crashes while others decrease. However, even though raw frequencies may increase, signalization is also hopefully accompanied by a reduction in the severity of crashes. For example, installing a signal may result in additional rear-end collisions while decreasing some types of angle crashes. Indeed, these were generally found to be among the results noted in earlier studies of signal installations in Michigan and elsewhere.

The principal question of interest to the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) was: What are the safety-related effects of moving from STOP-controlled to signalized operation at intersections on state trunklines in Michigan? As noted above, the conventional wisdom regarding signalization of intersections is that while absolute numbers of crashes may increase, severity is likely to decrease. In this context, MDOT identified ~350 trunkline intersections which were upgraded from STOP- to signal-control between January 1986 and December 1992. These were generally classified into one of five categories: 4-way, 3-way, driveway, cross-over, and ramp-end intersections. Of those, 4-way and 3-way intersections were studied extensively while driveway and cross-over intersections were examined at a more general level. Ramp-end intersections were formally eliminated from the study although a separate report will be made available at a later date.

This document is the executive summary of the final report of the same name. Only the most important (and characteristic) results from the analysis of 4-way and 3-way intersections are summarized and presented here. The interested reader is referred to the complete report for more extensive presentation on all facets of the study (i.e., the literature review, study approach, detailed analysis, and complete results).

Data Collection and Approach to Analysis

Data describing the physical attributes of the intersections as well as the crashes that occurred were collected and merged into a comprehensive file that was used for analysis. The approach that was taken to the analysis was to examine and compare the safety-related statistics before and after signal installation. The basic time period for the analysis was two years before and two years after the installation. Thirty-day periods before and after the date on which the signal was assumed to have been "turned on" were eliminated since the accuracy of these dates was suspect. The principal safety characteristics that were analyzed included: crash frequency, crash type, and crash severity. Some work was also done with crash rates but that was very limited due to the general unavailability of accurate traffic volume data over time.

Overall Results

The results of this study generally confirmed the "conventional wisdom" that accident frequencies are more likely to increase than decrease, crash types change significantly, and crash severity is somewhat lessened as a result of signalization. However, there is variation in these results in general (e.g., some intersections **might** experience a decrease in frequency but an increase in severity) and due to other factors (e.g., geographic location).

Total crashes for all intersections were generally observed to increase as a result of signalization although increases in the mean number of crashes were not statistically significant. Indeed, there was substantial variation in the numbers of crashes per intersection. The variation results from numerous factors (some which can be addressed and some not) and supports the notion that for any given intersection, an increase or decrease in the number of crashes would be difficult to predict, at least without more complex analysis. In some situations, decreases in the number of crashes at a specific site are certainly possible.

For all intersection types, the shifts in **crash type** were as expected *a priori*—that is, angle crashes decreased while rear-end crashes increased. This shift was most always observed and generally fairly dramatic. However, this shift also varies considerably based upon different conditions. This variation notwithstanding, this result is clearly the most reliable. This shift was evident for all types of intersections and, to the extent it could be examined, in all types of situations.

While there were increases in crash frequency, there was generally an offsetting trend in **crash** severity from more to less severe crashes. This trend was most notable for 4-way intersections and more modest for other types. However, it should be noted that in some instances, the net increase in crashes serves to offset some of the shifting among severity categories (e.g., while there may be *relatively* fewer "B-injury" crashes, the *absolute* number of "B-injury" crashes may still be higher (as a result of the overall increase in crash frequency).

Results for 4-Way Intersections

The change in crash frequency and the shift in crash type for all (91) 4-way intersections are illustrated in table 1. While the increase in frequency is modest (on average, less than one crash per intersection), the shift in crash type is abundantly clear: there is a significant shift from angle to rear-end crashes. This shift is apparent in both absolute (the numbers of crashes) and relative (the percentage distribution) terms. While both head-on/left-turn and other crashes also increase in both absolute and relative terms, the shifts are far less dramatic.

The change in crash severity is illustrated in table 2. In general, these changes are more modest although the trend is toward less severe crashes. While property-damage-only (PDO) crashes decrease in relative terms, there is an absolute increase. The increases for C-injury crashes are evident in both absolute and relative terms while B-injury, A-injury, and fatal crashes all decrease in both absolute and relative terms. The numbers in the latter category are quite small and little

crash type		before	after
rear-end	count	468	734
	percentage	28.98%	43.33%
right-angle	count	659	368
	percentage	40.80%	21.72%
head-on/left-turn	count	152	213
	percentage	9.4 <u>1%</u>	12.57%
other	count	336	379
	percentage	20.80%	22.37%
total	count	1615	1694

Table 1. 4-way intersections: before-and-aftercomparison of crash type 45m (150')from signal for 2 years

Table 2. 4-way intersections: before-and-after
comparison of crash severity 45 m (150')
from signal for 2 years

crash severity		before	after
PDO	count	1085	1134
	percentage	67.18%	66.94%
C-injury	count	262	329
	percentage	16.22%	19.42%
B-injury	count	152	146
	percentage	9.41%	8.62%
A-injury	count	110	82
	percentage	6.81%	4.84%
fatal	count	6	3
	percentage	0.37%	0,18%
total	count	1615	1694

insight was gained by evaluating them. It should be noted, however, that all of the fatal crashes were angle crashes and that type decreases most as a result of signalization.

Other results of the analysis of the signalization of 4-way intersections included the following.

* Notwithstanding variations in the background trends in intersection crashes over the entire analysis period, it appears that signalization results in an increase in crash frequency—using a 2-year analysis before and after window, the increase was about 5%. However, the extent of the increase varies according to several factors and is difficult, if not impossible, to predict for any given site. Moreover, changes in the mean values of crashes per intersection are generally small and statistically insignificant.

- * The shifts in crash type as would be expected *a priori*—that is, angle crashes decreased while rear-end crashes increased. This shift was most always observed and generally fairly dramatic. It too varies considerably based upon different conditions.
- * Notwithstanding an often-observed increase in crash frequency, there is also a shift in crash severity from more severe to less severe crashes. PDO and C-injury crashes tend to increase in both absolute and relative terms while A-injury, B-injury, and fatal crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms.
- * While there does not appear to be any relationship between signalization changes and light conditions with respect to the incidence of crashes, it is interesting to note that over 50% of intersection crashes occur between noon and 6:00 PM. Otherwise, there is nothing notable with respect to signalization effects with respect to light conditions, time of day, or day of week.
- * The absolute and relative increases in rear-end crashes was accompanied by a shift toward minor personal-injury (C-injury) crashes. That is, C-injury crashes accounted for a higher percentage of the crashes after signalization. However, there were absolute increases in the numbers of crashes in all severity categories.
- * While the relative distribution of right-angle crashes by severity effectively remained the same, there were significant reductions in the absolute number of such crashes in all severity categories.
- * Right-angle crashes accounted for all fatal crashes during both the before and after periods and decreased from six (6) to three (3) between the before and after periods.
- * Differences in crash distributions are difficult to relate to the type of signal, fixed-time versus actuated, that is installed since there are differences between these two sets of sites during the before period. That is, sites where fixed-time signals are installed appear to have different crash statistics than those where actuated signals are installed. Fixed-time sites tended to have proportionately fewer right-angle and more rear-end crashes that actuated sites.
- * Actuated signal sites tended to have less severe crashes than fixed-time sites although all fatal crashes were at the latter. It should be noted, however, that there were relatively few actuated sites.
- * For actuated signal sites, there was a noticeable distributional shift from crashes occurring under daylight to dark/no-street lights conditions. There was also a distributional shift from clear/cloudy to rainy conditions for actuated signal sites. There is no ready explanation for this shift.
- * Increases in crashes as a result of signalization appeared to be related to type of area (metro,

executive summary-4

mixed, rural) in which a signal was found. Intersections in rural areas increased the most (9%) followed by mixed areas (5%) and metro areas (4%). The changes in the mean number of crashes was not, however, statistically significant.

- * The right-angle-to-rear-end shift in crash distributions also vary by type of area with rural areas experiencing less of a shift than the others.
- * With respect to crash severity, rural sites tended to shift to more serious crashes while mixed areas had somewhat reduced severity and metro areas had some compensating shifts (fewer PDOs but also fewer A- and B-injury crashes). Fatal crashes occurred in rural areas (2 before) and mixed areas (4 before, 3 after).

Results for 3-Way Intersections

The results for 37 3-way intersections regarding crash frequency, crash type, and severity are shown in tables 3 and 4. As with 4-way intersections, an increase in total crashes (table 3) is noted for 3-ways and it is substantially larger (an $\sim 20\%$ increase versus $\sim 5\%$ for 4-ways). However, the average number of crashes/intersection is not statistically significant. While there are some differences from the 4-way results, the primary absolute and distributional shifts are still from angle to rear-end crashes with more modest changes in the other categories.

crash type		before	after
rear-end	count	334	536
	percentage	36.99%	49.49%
right-angle	.count	240	147
	percentage	26.58%	13.57%
head-on/left-turn	count	42	86
	percentage	4.65%	7.94%
other	count	287	314
	percentage	31.78%	28.99%
total	count	903	1083

Table 3.	3-way intersections: before-and-after
	comparison of crash type 45m (150')
	from signal for 2 years

The changes in crash severity show absolute increases for PDO, C-injury, and B-injury with small or no changes for A-injury and fatal crashes. In an absolute sense, the largest change is the $\sim 3\%$ (distributional) increase in C-injury crashes.

Other results for 3-way intersections include the following.

* Signalization appears to result in a sizeable increase in the number of crashes occurring at 3way intersections—on the order of 20% although that figure varies under different conditions. While there is an (obvious) accompanying increase in the mean number of crashes per

crash severity		before	after
PDO	count	646	765
	percentage	71.54%	70.64%
C-injury	count	147	208
	percentage	16.28%	19.21%
B-injury	count	70	75
	percentage	7.75%	6.93%
A-injury	count	37	32
	percentage	4.10%	2.95%
fatal	count	3	3
	percentage	0.33%	0.28%
total	count	903	1083

Table 4. 3-way intersections: before-and-after
comparison of crash severity 45 m
(150') from signal for 2 years

intersection (~5), the increase is not statistically significant.

- * The primary shift in crash type is to the rear-end category where there are both absolute and relative increases. On the other hand, right-angle crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms.
- * A large percentage of the increased number of crashes is accounted for by PDO crashes although this category decreases slightly in importance in relative terms. C-injury crashes increase in both relative and absolute terms while B-injury crashes increase absolutely and decrease relatively and A-injury crashes decrease in both senses. Fatal crashes remain the same. "Improvement" in terms of crash statistics is modest, if at all.
- * Rear-end crashes become not only more numerous but also somewhat more severe at these sites. They are the dominant type of crash in each severity category except fatal crashes.
- * Right-angle crashes decrease in number although any shift in severity is modest.
- * Head-on/left-turn crashes increase in number and there is a shift to more severe crashes. The absolute numbers are relatively small and the distributional shift is sensitive as a result.
- * PDO crashes increased significantly and was dominated by rear-end crashes with lesser numbers of head-on/left-turn and other crashes.
- * Fatal crashes at 3-way intersections included one angle-turn crash (before) and five "other" crashes. Four of these (2 before, 1 after) were head-on/left-turn collisions and one was a pedestrian crash.

- * Sites where fixed-time versus actuated signals were installed appear to be different from each other prior to signalization (e.g., different crash type distributions during the before period). Nonetheless, there is still a basic shift to rear-end type crashes as a result of signalization at both types of site.
- * At fixed-time sites, the shift in crash severity is toward C-injury crashes (from less and more serious categories, although the latter seems more dominant) while for actuated sites shifts were much more modest (slight).
- * At rural sites, signalization resulted in fewer crashes while relatively significant increases were noted for mixed and metro sites.
- * The shifts among crash type categories (to rear-end crashes) are more pronounced in rural areas although the shift from right-angle crashes is clear in all cases (a ten-point decrease for rural and metro sites, a 16-point shift for mixed sites).
- * Rural sites saw an increase in severity (although frequencies decreased), while mixed sites had largely compensating shifts among categories for, most likely, no real change in severity, and metro sites shifted toward less serious crashes.

Results for Driveway and Crossover Intersections

Driveway intersections were also examined during the course of this study. It should be noted that these intersections constitute a special case insofar as they are generally "new," resulting from, for example, opening a major shopping facility. Moreover the sample size, 12, is fairly small. These caveats notwithstanding, the results for these intersections are summarized.

- * The increase in driveway crashes is most dramatic, 55%, but may well be attributable to changes in development patterns and the opening of major new facilities (e.g., a shopping mall) rather than the signalization of the intersections *per se*.
- * Rear-end crashes dominate the crash type distribution after the signalization and are generally consistent with other types of intersections.
- * There is a general shift from personal injury to PDO crashes in a distributional sense although all categories (except fatal crashes) saw substantial increases in the absolute number of crashes.

Crossover intersections constitute yet another special type and is generally characterized by leftturn movements being accommodated through a median.

* There is an increase in the number of crashes which is generally consistent with other intersection types.

- * There is a shift to rear-end crashes which is clear and consistent in both an absolute and relative sense.
- * The severity distributions changed only modestly as a result of signalization although the trend is toward less severe crashes.

Discussion

Although (overall) there were consistent increases in crash frequencies for the various intersection types, the changes in the average number of crashes per intersection were statistically insignificant. The latter result was, in all likelihood, due to the variance in the before-to-after changes. Thus, while the changes were evident, they were not statistically large enough. In addition the changes in frequencies (or in average number per intersection) must also be considered in the context of the background trends in crashes. The magnitude and direction of changes in crash frequencies were also seen to vary according to several other factors—e.g., the rural 3-way intersections included in the study actually experienced crash reductions while 4-way intersections in similar locations experienced an increase. Overall then, on average, an increase in crash frequency might be expected as a result of signalization although the magnitude of the increase is virtually impossible to predict and decreases in the number of crashes are certainly possible.

The most reliable finding was that signalization will almost assuredly result in a shift from angle to rear-end crashes. This shift was evident for all types of intersections and, to the extent it could be examined, in all types of situations. There was some variance in the magnitude of the crash type shift. The general shift in crash type is consistent with findings elsewhere.

Overall, there appeared to be some evidence that crashes will be less severe as a result of signalization although, once again, the magnitude of the shift varies by intersection type and sometimes other factors. In some instances, the net increase in crashes serves to offset some of the shifting among severity categories (e.g., while there may be *relatively* fewer "B" crashes, the *absolute* number of "B" crashes may still be higher (as a result of the overall increase in crash frequency).

There was no attempt to develop predictive models based on intersection or signal characteristics or to analyze the intersections (and crashes) at any more sophisticated level. It is possible, for example, that there are more complex relationships among the several characteristics examined that could be identified to determine whether there are differences between newly signalized intersections that experience an increase in crash frequency (or severity) and those that do not. That is, for example, is there any identifiable difference between newly signalized intersections which experience crash increases and those where crashes decrease? Likewise, while there were no general differences related to the time of day of crashes, it may be that flashing operations have some other, as yet undetermined, impact(s). The availability of the combined intersection and crash files produced as part of this project do, however, make such additional investigation possible. As a result of this project, the Michigan Department of Transportation will be better able to assess the likely safety impacts resulting from signalization of previously unsignalized intersections. In addition, the reports and other materials generated as a result of this project will be of assistance in explaining those impacts in a variety of forums. TE 228 L9 1997 Final

The Safety Effects of Signalizing Intersections

FINAL REPORT

Richard W. Lyles Stephanie Rossi

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

26 November 97

Conducted for the Michigan Department of Transportation



COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY EAST LANSING, MICHIGAN 48824 MSU IS AN AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY INSTITUTION

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle The Safety Effects of Sig	gnalizing Intersections	 5. Report Date November 1997 6. Performing Organization Code
7. Author(s) Richard W. Lyles and St	ephanie Rossi	8. Performing Organization Report No.
9. Performing Organization N	ame and Address	10. Work Unit No.
Department of Civil and	Environmental Engineering	
Michigan State Universi	ty	11. Contract or Grant No.
East Lansing, Michigan	48824-1226	MDOT-94-1521-D
12. Sponsoring Agency Name	and Address	13. Type of Report and Period Covered
Michigan Department of Transportation 425 West Ottawa Street		Final Report
Lansing, Michigan 489	993	14. Sponsoring Agency Code
15. Supplementary Notes	144 ja - 14 ja	

16. Abstract

The study was directed to the evaluation of the safety effects of signalizing previously unsignalized intersections on state trunklines in Michigan. An initial set of ~350 intersections which had been signalized between January 1986 and December 1992 was provided by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). Data describing both the physical characteristics of these intersections and the motor vehicle crashes that had occurred at them were then acquired and merged. For the analysis, the intersections were initially separated into one of several types: 4-way, 3-way, crossover, driveway, and ramp-end. The emphasis was on the first two types and the last was eliminated because of crash location problems. The analysis primarily consisted of comparison of before-andafter crash statistics. The most-notable results (based on 2-year before-and-after-signalization analysis periods) included the following: while crash frequencies generally (but not always) increased, there was variation by type of intersection and other variables (e.g., geographic location); there was a very clear shift from angle to rear-end crashes; there was some shift toward less severe crashes although relative distributional shifts were offset by increases in crash frequency in some instances; and, while some factors (e.g., geographic area) affected the results, others (e.g., time of day, day of week) did not.

17.	Key Words		18. Distribution Statem	ent
	signalization, safety eff severity, crash frequenc	ects, crash type, crash y		
19.	Security Classification (this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classification (this page) Unclassified	21. No. of Pages	22. Price

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors wish to acknowledge the support for this research which came from the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). They also wish to express their appreciation to the MDOT professional staff who provided data and other background materials and who showed great patience throughout the project. Among them, the following were especially helpful and understanding: Dale Lighthizer, Tom Rathbun, and John Saller.

DISCLAIMER ·

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Michigan Department of Transportation and the United States Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The sponsors assume no liability for its contents or use thereof.

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are solely responsible for the facts and accuracy of the material presented. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views of the sponsors.

The State of Michigan and the United States Government do not endorse products or manufacturers. Trademarks or manufacturers' names appear herein only because they are considered essential to the objectives of this document.

This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Table of Contents

Торіс	page
Technical Report Documentation	ii
Acknowledgment and Disclaimer	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
1. Introduction and Problem Statement	1-1
1.1. Problem Statement	1-1
1.2. Project Outcomes	1-1
2. Literature Review	2-1
2.1. Warrants and Warrant-Related Research	2-1
2.2. Safety Effects of Signal Installation	2-6
2.3. Signal Removal	2-8
2.4. Diamond Interchanges	2-9
2.5. Conclusion	2-9
2.6. References	2-10
3. Data Collection, Data Issues, and Research Approach	3-1
3.1. Identification of Intersections to be Evaluated	3-1
3.2. Available Data	· 3-1
3.3. Merged Data Files	3-2
3.4. The Temporal Dimension	3-2
3.5. Data Issues	3-3
3.6. The Research Approach	3-3
3.6.1. Intersection Types	3-4
3.6.2. Other Important Characteristics	3-5
3.6.3. Measures of Safety Effects and Research Hypotheses	3-5
4. Analysis and Results	4-1
4.1. Background Trends in Statewide Crashes	4-1
4.2. Intersection Area of Influence	4-3
4.3. Definition of Before and After Time Window	4-6
4.4. Analysis of 4-Way Intersection Crashes	4-8
4.4.1. 4-Way Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribution	4-8
4.4.2. 4-Way Intersections: Crash Severity	4-9
4.4.3. 4-Way Intersections: Ambient Light, Time of Day, and Day of Week	4-11
4.4.4. 4-Way Intersections: Crash Type and Other Factors	4-12
4.4.4.1. Level of Severity by Before/After for Different Crash Types	4-12
4.4.4.2. Crash Type by Before/After for Different Levels of Severity	4-13

Table of Contents (continued)

	4.4.4.3. Contributing Circumstances, Time of Day, Light Co	nditions, 4-16
	4 4 5 4-Way Intersections: Type of Signal Installed	4 16
	4.4.5.1 Signal Type and Crash Type	4-10 4-16
	4.4.5.2 Signal Type and Severity	4-10
	4.4.5.3 Signal Type and Other Variables	4-17
	4.5.1 3-Way Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribut	$\frac{4-10}{4-22}$
	4.5.2 3-Way Intersections: Total Crash Severity	4-22 4-23
	4.5.3 3-Way Intersections: Crash Type and Other Factors	4-23
	4 5 3 1 Level of Severity by Before/After for Different Crast	$\frac{4-23}{4-24}$
	4 5 3 2. Crash Type by Before/After for Different Levels of S	Severity 4_2
	4 5 4 3-Way Intersections: Type of Signal Installed	4-23 4_27
	4.5.4.1. Signal Type and Crash Type	4-27
	4.5.4.2. Signal Type and Severity	4-28
	4.5.4.3. Signal Type and Other Variables	4-28
	4.5.5. 3-Way Intersections: Geographical Area	4-29
	4.5.6. 3-Way Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effects	of 4-30
	Signalization	
	4.6. Analysis of Driveway Intersections	4-31
	4.6.1. Driveway Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distr	ibution 4-32
	4.6.2. Driveway Intersections: Crash Severity	4-32
	4.6.3. Driveway Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effect	ts of 4-33
	Signalization	
	4.7. Analysis of Crossover Intersections	4-33
	4.7.1. Crossover Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Dist	ribution 4-34
	4.7.2. Crossover Intersections: Crash Severity	4-34
	4.7.3. Crossover intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effective Signalization	cts of 4-34
5.	Summary and Discussion	5-1
	5.1. Principal Results	5-1
	5.1.1. Total Crashes	5-1
	5.1.2. Types of Crashes	5-2
	5.1.3. Severity of Crashes	5-2
	5.1.4. Type of Signalization	5-2
	5.1.5. Type of Area	5-3
	5.1.6. Other Factors	5-3
	5.2. Discussion	5-3

Topic

Appendices Appendix 3-1: Initial list of intersections (from MDOT) page

List of Tables	page
Table 4-1. Crash information by "area type"	4-2
Table 4-2. Percent changes in total crashes by time period	4-7
Table 4-3. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45 m (150') from signal for 180 days and 2 years	4-8
Table 4-4.4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of detailed crash types45m (150') from signal for 180 days and 2 years	4-10
Table 4-5. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45m (150') from signal for 180 days and 2 years	4-11
Table 4-6.4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of severity and crashtypes 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-14
Table 4-7. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type by timing type 45m (150') from signal for two years	4-17
Table 4-8.4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity by typeof signal timing (45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-18
Table 4-9.4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type by type ofarea 45m (150') from signal for two years	4-19
Table 4-10. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-22
Table 4-11. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45m(150') from signal for 2 years	4-23
Table 4-12. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of severity and crash types 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-26
Table 4-13. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type by signal type 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-28
Table 4-14. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity by type of signal 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-29
Table 4-15. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type by type of area 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-29

List of Tables (continued)	page
Table 4-16. Driveway intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45m(150') from signal for 2 years	4-32
Table 4-17. Driveway intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45m (150') from signal for 2 years	4-33
Table 4-18. Crossover intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type 45m(150') from signal for 2 years	4-34
Table 4-19. Crossover intersections: before-and-after comparison of severity 45m (150 [°]) from signal for 2 years	4-35

List of Figures

Figure 4-1. Crash location by area type (#)

Figure 4-2. Crash location by area type (%)

page

4-5

4-4

1. Introduction and Problem Statement

The primary reasons for installing traffic signals are to control conflicting traffic movements and assign right of way. At the same time, it has long been argued that installing traffic signals (or other intersection traffic control devices) will sometimes result in the increase of certain types of crashes while others decrease. However, even though raw frequencies may increase, signalization is also hopefully accompanied by a reduction in the severity of crashes. For example, installing a signal may result in additional rear-end collisions while decreasing some types of angle crashes. Indeed, these were generally found to be among the results noted in earlier studies of signal installations in Michigan. It is clear (e.g., from the *Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices*) that there are a variety of reasons (warrants) for introducing signals to the intersection environment (i.e., from those related to vehicular volumes to crash experience and delay).

1.1. Problem Statement

The principal question of interest to the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) was: What are the safety-related effects of moving from STOP-controlled to signalized operation at intersections on state trunklines in Michigan? As noted above, the conventional wisdom regarding signalization of intersections is that while absolute numbers of crashes may increase, severity is likely to decrease. One project task was to review the published literature to determine if past history in Michigan and elsewhere supports this assertion.

Originally, the research effort was also to include some examination of tradeoffs among safety effects, the actual cost of signal installation and maintenance, and operational effects such as delay. However, site selection and, especially, data collection developed into tasks which were far more time consuming than had been anticipated—far more resources had to be invested in data collection than planned. Thus, the research plan was modified—while the principal question regarding the safety effects of signalization was addressed, the secondary tradeoff issues were not.

The sites were identified by MDOT and included all trunkline intersections which were upgraded from STOP- to signal-control between January 1986 and December 1992. The classification of sites turned out to be fairly straightforward: 4-way, 3-way, driveway, cross-over, and ramp-end intersections. Of those, 4-way and 3-way intersections were studied extensively while driveway and cross-over intersections were examined at a more general level. Ramp-end intersections were formally eliminated from the study although a separate report will be made available at a later date.

1.2. Project Outcomes

This final report provides MDOT with important information for making decisions regarding intersection signalization. Basically, the conventional wisdom is validated. A

very brief overview of the results of the safety analysis is provided below while far more detail is provided in chapters 4 and 5.

Total crashes for all intersections were generally observed to increase as a result of signalization although increases in the mean number of crashes were not statistically significant. Indeed, there was substantial variation in the numbers of crashes per intersection. The variation results from numerous factors (some which can be addressed and some not) and supports the notion that for any given intersection, an increase or decrease in the number of crashes would be difficult to predict, at least without more complex analysis. In some situations, decreases in the number of crashes at a specific site are certainly possible.

For all intersection types, the shifts in **crash type** were as expected *a priori*—that is, angle crashes decreased while rear-end crashes increased. This shift was most always observed and generally fairly dramatic. However, this shift also varies considerably based upon different conditions. This variation notwithstanding, this result is clearly the most reliable. This shift was evident for all types of intersections and, to the extent it could be examined, in all types of situations.

While there were increases in crash frequency, there was generally an offsetting trend in **crash severity** from more to less severe crashes. This trend was most notable for 4-way intersections and more modest for other types. However, it should be noted that in some instances, the net increase in crashes serves to offset some of the shifting among severity categories (e.g., while there may be *relatively* fewer "B-injury" crashes, the *absolute* number of "B-injury" crashes may still be higher (as a result of the overall increase in crash frequency).

As a result of this project, the Michigan Department of Transportation will be better able to assess the likely safety impacts resulting from signalization of previously unsignalized intersections. In addition, materials generated as a result of this project will be of assistance in explaining those impacts in a variety of forums.

2. Literature Review

The primary purpose of installing traffic signals at intersections is to promote efficient traffic operations while assigning the appropriate right of way and safely controlling conflicting traffic movements. While the overall purpose of this study is the assessment of the safety-related impacts of installing signals at a set of intersections on state trunklines in Michigan, the purpose of the literature review was more broadly defined as describing what is known about the effects of signalization from previous experience in Michigan and elsewhere. In this context, it is instructive to review the literature regarding the signalization of typical STOP-controlled intersections as well as at least some other related topics such as signalized diamond interchanges and the removal of unwarranted signals— the idea being that such related findings might provide insight to the specific problem at hand.

The literature review is, in turn, addressed to the warrants that are used for signal installation, the safety effects of signalization, and signal removal and other related issues.

2.1. Warrants and Warrant-Related Research

According to the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), a highway traffic signal will operate to the advantage or disadvantage of the vehicles and persons controlled (FHWA 1988). The number of warrants has varied over time from, for example, eleven in the 1988 MUTCD to the seven proposed in 1993. Both sets are presented here since many of the studies to be examined were based on intersections which were signalized under the "old" warrants. In any event, the warrants should be used as guides in determining the need for traffic control signals rather than absolute criteria. Therefore, before installation takes place, the intersection and all its characteristics must be taken into account with a thorough engineering study of the roadway and traffic conditions. The traffic studies must be used to determine what type of installation is necessary, if any.

According to the MUTCD, comprehensive engineering studies should precede the installation of a signal and include the investigation of the appropriate warrants. These studies are necessary to determine the need for the signal, type of signal, timing program, and signal design. Some of the suggested data included: traffic counts, turning movements, pedestrian volumes, the eighty-fifth percentile speed, a diagram of the physical layout, a collision diagram, distribution of gaps, vehicle-seconds of vehicle, and pedestrian delay time (FHWA 1988). Data suggested to be acquired for evaluations using the 1993 warrants include: the number of vehicles entering an intersection in each hour per approach during twelve consecutive hours of an average day, vehicular volume for each traffic movement from each approach, classified by vehicle type during each fifteen minute period of the morning and afternoon peak hour of travel at the intersection, pedestrian volume counts on each crosswalk during the same periods of vehicle counts and during hours of highest pedestrian volumes, eighty-fifth percentile speed on uncontrolled approaches to location, diagram showing details of physical layout, and a

collision diagram showing crashes by type (FHWA 1993). Some other data collection items for a more precise description of the intersection include: vehicle seconds delay per approach, the number and distribution of gaps in traffic on major street, eighty-fifth percentile speed on controlled approaches, and pedestrian delay time for at least two 30-minute peak pedestrian delay periods on an average day (FHWA 1993).

The eleven warrants defined in the 1988 MUTCD are described below. (These warrants are the relevant ones for many of the studies discussed later and provided at least some of the basis for signalizing many of the intersections included in this study.)

<u>Warrant One</u>: Minimum Vehicular Volume. The volume of intersection traffic is the principal reason for traffic signal installation. The warrant is satisfied when for each of any eight hours of an average day (a weekday representing traffic volumes normally and repeatedly found at the location) the traffic volumes in the table below exist on the major street and on the higher-volume minor-street approach to the intersection.

Minimum vehicular volumes:

number of lanes each approach		vehicles per hour maior street	vehicles per hour high volume minor
major street	minor street	both approaches	single approach
1	1	500	150
2+	1	600	150
2+	2+	600	200
1	2+	500	200

<u>Warrant Two</u>: Interruption of Continuous Traffic. This applies to traffic conditions where the traffic volume on a major street is so heavy that traffic on a minor intersecting street experiences long delays before entering the flow of the major streets traffic volume.

Minimum vehicular volumes:

numbe each	er of lanes approach	vehicles per hour major street	vehicles per hour high volume minor single approach
major street	minor street	both approaches	
1	1	750	75
2+	1	900	75
2+	2+	900	100
1	2+	750	100

<u>Warrant Three</u>: Minimum Pedestrian Volume. If the pedestrian traffic is one hundred or more for any five hours in a day or one hundred and ninety in one hour then a signal is warranted. There shall also be less than sixty gaps per hour in the traffic stream of adequate length for pedestrians to cross during the same period. <u>Warrant Four</u>: School Crossings. A signal may be warranted at an established school crossing in relation to the size of the pedestrian groups crossing the intersection along with the adequacy of gaps in the vehicular stream. A minimum of at least fifty children should be utilizing the crossing before applying this warrant. Less restrictive measures should also be considered before installing a traffic signal.

Safe Gap: T = 3 + (width of street/401) + Fwhere F = (number of children per group-1/5) (2)

<u>Warrant Five</u>: Progressive Movement. This is for an intersection that may not qualify otherwise for a signal such as a one-way street with few signals which do not provide the necessary degree of vehicle platooning and speed control or a two-way street which adjacent signals do not provide the necessary degree of platooning or speed control and proposed adjacent signals could constitute a progressive signal system. Signal spacing must be more than one thousand feet apart in addition to an area study should indicate that a minimum of two hundred vehicles per hour for each eight hour period benefit from a gap produced by a signal installed under this warrant.

<u>Warrant Six</u>: Accident Experience. This is met when all of the following apply: lesser remedies were unsuccessful, five or more accidents (crashes) occurred in one year which could have been prevented due to the installation of a traffic signal, there exists a vehicular and pedestrian volume eighty percent or greater than specified in warrants one, two and three, and lastly the signal will not seriously disrupt the traffic flow.

<u>Warrant Seven</u>: Systems. This is to encourage concentration and organization of traffic flow networks. This warrant is applicable when the common intersection of two or more major routes has a total existing or immediately projected entering volume of at least 1,00 vehicles during the peak hour of a typical weekday and has five-year projected traffic volumes which meet one or more of warrants 1,2,8,9 and/or 11 during an average weekday or has a total existing or immediately projected entering volume of at least 1,00 vehicles for each of any five hours of a Saturday and/or Sunday. A major route has one or more of the following characteristics: it is part of the street or highway system the serves a principal network for through traffic flow, a highway out side of, entering or traversing a city and/or it appears a major route in an official plan.

<u>Warrant Eight</u>: Combination of Warrants. No single warrant is satisfied but warrants one and two must be met by eighty percent of MUTCD standards. <u>Warrant Nine</u>: Four-Hour Volumes. This is satisfied when each of any four hours of an average day the plotted points representing vehicles per hour on the major street and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher volume minor street approach all fall above the curves shown in MUTCD for the existing combination of approach lanes.

<u>Warrant Ten</u>: Peak-Hour Delay. The traffic volumes are such during peak hours that traffic entering the major street from the minor street suffers undue delays due to excessive traffic on the intersecting street. The total peak hour delay must exceed four hours, the side street approach must be 100vph per one lane or 150vph per two lanes and the total entering volume for the intersection during the hour equals or exceeds 800vph.

<u>Warrant Eleven</u>: Peak-Hour Volume. In this warrant the traffic volumes are also such during peak hours that traffic entering the major street from the minor street suffers undue delays due to excessive traffic on the intersecting street. This warrant is satisfied when the plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street and corresponding vehicle per hour of the higher volume minor street approach for one hour of an average day falls above the curve for the existing combination of approach lanes.

Past research has been directed to the examination of the effectiveness of traffic control device warrants due to averse changes in traffic conditions at newly signalized intersections. The question of safety in relation to crashes is raised by the MUTCD in the "accident" warrant which states "a traffic signal is warranted when five or more crashes susceptible to correction have occurred in a twelve month period" (MUTCD). Baldwin (1966) noted that the manual was directing engineers to respond to conflict rather than to anticipate it, i.e., there was no warrant which is forward looking. As time has passed and the need arisen, the warrants have been modified to reflect research findings and practice regarding signal installation. Researchers have raised questions regarding the effectiveness of the warrants.

In 1981, Clement stated that he believed the warrants based on approach volumes such as warrants one and two needed to be modified and modernized. He stated that, "In fact the approach volumes do not reflect the need for signalization, rather the conflicting traffic volumes within the intersection itself do" (Clement 1981). The argument was that if traffic is light and there are sufficient gaps in the traffic, a signal may not be necessary even if the traffic signal warrants based on approach warrants have been met.

The more recent modifications of the 1988 warrants is, for the most part, a condensation of the eleven warrants to seven. The actual text of the warrants have changed for easier use and understanding although the actual numerical criteria within the warrants have not been altered. Former warrants 1,2, and 8 have been combined into Warrant 1. Warrants 10 and 11 now make up Warrant 3. Warrants 9 is now warrant 2 and warrant 3 is now 4.

The previous warrant (4) regarding school crossings has been moved to Section 7D.4 of the manual and finally warrant 5 and 7 have revised titles (FHWA 1993).

The new language of the MUTCD indicates that a signal should not be installed unless an engineering study indicates it should, at least one or more of the warrants are met, the signal will not seriously disrupt the traffic flow, and solid engineering judgment is used (FHWA 1993). The following is an abridged description list of the 1993 version of the signal warrants (for tabular values, reference is made to the earlier version of the warrants on page 3-2).

<u>Warrant One</u>: Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume. Condition A: applies where the volume intersecting traffic is the principal reason for consideration of the traffic control signal installation. Condition B: applies when traffic volumes on a major street are so heavy that traffic on a minor intersection street suffers excessive delay or hazard upon entering or crossing the major street.

<u>Warrant Two</u>: Four-Hour Vehicular Volume. The four-hour vehicular volume warrant conditions are intended for application where the volume of the intersection traffic is the principal reason for consideration of traffic control installation.

Warrant Three: Peak Hour. This warrant is for use at intersections where traffic conditions are such that for a minimum of one hour of an average day the minor-street traffic suffers undue delay in entering or crossing the major street.

<u>Warrant Four</u>: Pedestrian Volume. To be applied where the traffic volume on a major street is so heavy that pedestrians suffer excessive delay or hazard in crossing the major street.

<u>Warrant Five</u>: Coordinated System. Progressive movement in a coordinated system requires a traffic control signal installed at intersections where they would not otherwise be needed in order to maintain proper platooning of vehicles.

<u>Warrant Six</u>: Accident Experience. Applies where the severity and frequency of accidents (crashes) are the principal reasons for considering the installation of a traffic control signal.

<u>Warrant Seven</u>: Roadway Network. This warrant applies to when the justification to install the signal is to encourage concentration and organization of traffic flow on a roadway network.

2.2. Safety Effects of Signal Installation

The safety effects of traffic signal installation have long been in question. One of the earliest studies was done in 1953 by McMonagle who questioned the safety-related effects of moving from stop-controlled to signalized operation. McMonagle analyzed case histories from Michigan's signalization experience by reviewing documents regarding the relationship between traffic signals and intersection crashes. He came to the conclusion that signal installation must be properly warranted and installation methods must be improved to avoid crashes and negative travel pattern changes. While at the time of this study traffic warrants did not exist as they do today, his study still has relevance regarding the negative effects of installing a traffic signal and has often been cited by later researchers.

Datta and Dutta (1989) did work similar to McMonagle's. Their study was directed to an analysis of the safety effects at intersections with newly-installed traffic signals. Datta and Dutta used before-and-after approach to examine crashes at signalized intersections, ramps, and crossovers to evaluate the change in crash characteristics resulting from signal installation. They analyzed 155 intersections where signals had been installed between 1978 and 1983 and examined the total number of crashes at the intersections as well as the types of crashes and injuries. The comparison between various intersections showed that properly installed signals reduced total injury and right-angle crashes at intersections and ramp locations while rear-end and head-on collisions increased. Datta and Dutta noted that the results of their study of newly signalized intersection as well as the types of crashes and injuries (Datta and Dutta 1990). While there were some questions about details of the Datta and Dutta study (see Mercer 1988), many other studies have been conducted along the same line using a before-and-after approach.

By using before and after (signalization) crash histories, one can determine the change the signal has had on the intersection and what it might be in similar intersections. Many researchers have tried to determine the impact a new signal will have on categorized motor vehicle crash occurrences within an intersection. For example, from a review of before-and-after crash studies of newly-signalized intersections, Clyde notes that "traffic signals are not safety devices, but rather a means of assigning right-of-way" (Clyde 1964). Clyde believed traffic signals required the driver to stop, which he felt was an unnatural action when the driver is not expecting to have to stop therefore increasing the chances of the driver causing a crash. Goldblatt and King attempted to determine the impact a new signal has on categorized vehicle crash occurrences. They examined 30 intersections in Virginia and found that when the number of right-angle crashes at a unsignalized intersection is low, the installation of a signal could cause as increase in the total number of crashes (Goldblatt and King 1975).

Hakkert and Mahalel conducted a study of 34 intersections with recently installed traffic signals in Israel. The authors found that the installation of the traffic signals did not have a uniform effect. Intersections with more than five crashes per year generally experienced a

reduction of crashes while intersections with less then two crashes per year generally experienced an increase (Hakkert and Mahalel 1978). This is similar to Goldblatt and King's 1975 study results insofar as intersections with a small number of crashes before signalization tend to experience more crashes after signalization. The opposite is believed to be true when there is a larger number of crashes occurring at the intersection prior to signal installation. Similarly, Baldwin (1966) also noted in his study in New York City that where there have been a large number of crashes, a signal usually reduces the frequency. Intersections with relatively moderate crash frequency experience little change while those with a relatively low crash frequency will normally experience an increase.

More recently, Vey (1933) also found similar results when he analyzed approximately 600 intersections in the United States with newly installed traffic signals. He concluded that after signals were installed at intersections with three or less crashes per year, the crash frequency increased 39-70%; after a signal was installed at intersections with three or more crashes per year, crashes were reduced 19-49% (Vey 1933). According to the research it also seems to hold true that intersections with low traffic volumes tend to experience fewer crashes but if a signal is installed which is not necessary, even though the warrants have been met, crash numbers tend to increase. In 1959 Solomon examined intersections with low traffic volumes to determine what the safety implications of installing traffic signals would be. Solomon's results revealed that an increase in crashes occurs at intersections with low traffic volumes such as those with less than 20,000 average daily trips (Solomon 1959).

It would also appear that signalization tends to reduce certain types of crashes (e.g., angle crashes) while increasing other types (e.g., rear-end crashes). From the previous studies it also appears that the decrease in angle crashes is sometimes not great enough to offset the increase in rear-end crashes therefore actually showing an overall increase in crashes at some intersections. Schoene and Michael examined intersections with low crash frequencies to determine the safety implications of traffic signal installation in 1968. Their results showed that if there are fewer than five right-angle crashes per year prior to signalization, the increased number of rear-end crashes is usually large enough to offset the small decrease in the right-angle crashes after signalization (Schoene and Michael 1968). Many of the studies have shown that signal installation can either help increase traffic safety or it can cause more traffic conflicts. As Baldwin stated "One must first ask will installing the signal improve traffic conditions, or will results be worse?" (Baldwin 1955).

Yiu-kuen Lau and May developed injury-crash-prediction models for signalized intersections in order to estimate the rate of crashes that will occur at signalized intersections in California (Yiu-kuen Lau and May 1988). This study was developed using the data base from the Traffic Accident Surveillance and Analysis System (TASAS). The models include factors such as traffic intensity, percentage of cross street traffic, intersection type, number of lanes on main and side streets, and left-turn arrangements. A rural versus urban differentiation was not been found to be significant. For this study injuries included all injuries from slight to severe. Three models were developed to predict crashes and were based on traffic intensity, intersection characteristics, and information that includes individual crash histories (Yiu-kuen Lau and May 1988). These models can be useful in determining crash forecasts at signalized intersections.

The basic conclusion that can be drawn from the work to date is that intersections should be thoroughly analyzed before signals are installed—crash savings (or costs) are related to a variety of factors that go beyond just signalization *per se*. It should be determined if the intersection is better suited for stop sign or for signal control. It should be clear that the warrants are met, and even then intersection should be monitored after the signal is installed to analyze its effectiveness. Neudorff stated that improved crash experiences occur at newly signalized intersections with large traffic volumes, a high crash frequency, and a geometrically complex intersection with five or more approaches although these types of intersections are not as common (Neudorff 1978). Similarly Knox and Warden contend that if the warrants are correctly followed, traffic signals probably provide the strictest, although most costly method of intersection control (Knox and Waldron 1972).

2.3. Signal Removal

In some instances it may become necessary to remove traffic signals that were never warranted to begin with or where the warranting conditions have changed. Traffic signals provide the maximum intersection control to regulate traffic flow. It is possible that unwarranted traffic signals may be installed in many communities due to neighborhood or other political pressure or a lack of transportation engineering knowledge. These same reasons also make it difficult to remove the signal.

Signal warrant reviews and updates need to take place at intersections were signalization appears questionable. Intersections where there is excessive delay or high crash rates should be reexamined to ensure that the warrants which originally indicated that the signal was needed are still valid. For example, a warranted signal which was installed to ensure safety for pedestrians at a school crossing may later be a candidate for removal if the school is no longer in operation or if the use has changed dramatically. Other reasons for a valid removal include excessive delays in traffic flow or projected traffic volumes which are never reached. It is also worth mentioning that the operation and maintenance of the signal itself is much more costly than the placement of STOP signs. According to a study conducted in 1981, a signal may consume over \$500 of electricity a year and maintenance cost have been recorded as high as \$3550 a year (unknown 1981). If the signal is not necessary, it is in the best interest of the community to have it removed or not installed in the first place due to unnecessary costs.

Nuedorff indicated that after traffic signals were removed from intersections which no longer needed them, the number of crashes generally decreased (Neudorff 1978). It is possible that the removal of an unnecessary signal can actually reduce the number of crashes that occur at an intersection. Instead of an increase in right-angle crashes there was a significant decrease after the signal was removed but the study did not determine that there will be a significant decrease in crashes at low volume previously signalized intersections. On the other hand, the authors of a 1981 study noted that while the overall number of crashes was not found to change significantly following signal removal, the type of crash did. Following conversion from signal to two-way stop control, the number of rear-end crashes tended to decrease by nearly fifty percent, while the number of right angle crashes was found to increase by approximately the same proportion (Unknown 1981).

2.4. Diamond Interchanges

In addition to traditional isolated intersections, intersections at diamond interchanges can also be signalized and experience related safety effects. Diamond interchanges are commonly used in Texas and in the western United States in both urban and rural areas as a means to transfer freeway traffic to and from the surface street system. Diamond interchanges are typically shaped like a diamond although there are many variations such as compressed and stacked diamond interchanges. The basic shape consists of a T-shape intersection with a major road crossing over a freeway. Diamond interchanges either have stop signs or traffic signals to control traffic. Often stop signs are found to be adequate but as traffic volumes increase sometimes it is necessary to replace the stop signs with signals (Oliver 1987).

There has been little research done involving signalization at diamond interchanges (Oliver 1987). Like isolated intersections, signals at diamond interchanges are based on MUTCD warrants. These warrants are based on traffic volumes at isolated intersections therefore they may not adequately reflect the characteristics at diamond interchanges nor are they sensitive to the traffic patterns between two intersections at a diamond interchange. The study conducted by Oliver compared all-way stop signs with traffic signals at different sites in Texas (Oliver 1987). The results revealed that a discriminating traffic volume at diamond interchanges exists, beyond which traffic signal control is better than stop control in terms of a combined performance of queue and travel speed. Diamond interchanges operate much differently than isolated intersections therefore diamond interchanges should have separate criteria regarding effective warrants (Oliver 1987).

2.5. Conclusion

Based on the results of the review of previous work, it is clear that there is some variation in the safety-related impacts of signalization. Notwithstanding that variation, there are some recurring themes. Many of the studies have shown that the signal installation guidelines set by MUTCD are not guarantees that signalization is the most effective control for a particular intersection. Different intersections surrounded by different land uses will normally require individual study. For example, rural intersections should probably be treated differently than urban and intersections at diamond interchanges. Variations in traffic volumes, prevailing speeds, and surrounding land uses are all likely to be important factors involved in determining the appropriateness of the installation of a traffic signal. Some intersections will need to be reevaluated over time to determine if the signal control installed at the intersection is still warranted. It is possible that the signal may no longer be warranted or necessary due to the dynamic patterns of land usage and the transportation system surrounding the intersection.

Traffic signals have been regarded as the strictest form of traffic control and the most effective control when appropriately used. After a traffic signal is installed it has been noted that there is often little change in the total number of crashes at the intersection. There typically is an increase in the number of rear-end crashes at the intersection while at the same time there is a decrease in the number of angle crashes. It is also been noted that there is an increase in the number of crashes at intersections with low crash frequencies and a decrease in crash frequency at intersections with many crashes. These basic results were found to be fairly consistent over time. This is interesting since warrants have been modified in the MUTCD but the effects of signalization are no more or less consistent

2.6. References

Baldwin, David M. "Traffic Engineering Group Session: Are Traffic Engineers Safety Conscious?" Traffic Safety: National Safety Council. Vol 24, 1966: 33-38.

Clement, J.P. "Traffic Signal Warrants-Time for a Change?" Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Journal. Vol 51, No. 6, October 1981: 69-71.

Clyde, Max N. "Michigan Study Indicates Signals increase Accidents" *Traffic Engineering* Vol 35, No. 2, November 1964: 32.

Datta, Tapan K. and Dutta, Utpal. "Traffic Signal Installation and Accident Experience" *ITE Journal*. Vol 60, No. 9, September 1990: 39-42.

Datta, Tapan K. and Dutta, Utpal. "Traffic Signal Installation and Safety: Final Report" Prepared in cooperation with The Michigan Department of Transportation and U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. February 1989.

Ebbecke, Gerald M. and Schuster, James J. "Areawide Impact of Traffic Control Devices" *Transportation Research Record 644*. 1977: 54-57.

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), National Committee on Uniform Traffic Control Devices. Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 1988.

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), Signal Technical Committee. Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices: Technical Committee Recommendation on Current Part IV-C Now Part IV-B. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 1993. Hakkert A.S. and Mahalel D., "The Effect of Traffic Signals on Road Accidents with Special Reference to the Introduction of a Blinking Phase". Traffic Engineering Control. 19, 212-215. 1978.

Unknown. "Do Traffic Signals Ever Become Too Unwarranted?" American City and County November 1981: 25-28.

Holahan, Charles J. "Relationship Between Roadside Sins and Traffic Accidents: A Field Investigation." Prepared by Council for Advanced Transportation Studies: The University of Texas at Austin. Research Report 54, November 1977.

King G. F. and Goldblatt R. B., "Relationship of Accident Patterns to Type of Intersection Control". *Transportation Research Record* 540 1975.

Knox, D.W. and Waldron R. J., "Traffic Signal Warrants and Priorities" *The Australian Road Research Board*, Canberra 1972. Vol 6, Part 3, 1972: 145-159

Lawton, Lawerence. "New York Signal Formula" *Traffic Quarterly*. Vol 9 No.2, June 1955: 398-410

McMonagle, J.C., "Relation of Traffic Signals to Intersection Accidents," *Highway Research Board Bulletin 74*, p.46-53, 1953.

Mercer, Don. "Review of A Study of Traffic Signal Installation and Safety: Draft and Final Report." June 14, 1988.

Nuedorff, Louis G. "Relationship Between the Removal of Traffic Signal and Intersection Accidents." *Transportation Engineer* Vol 48, Number 3. March 1978: 16-20.

Oliver, Richard H. "Relative Performance of Stop Sign versus Signal Control at Diamond Interchanges." *ITE Journal* Vol 57, Number 10. October 1987: 17-24.

Persaud, Bhagwant. "Relating the Effect of Safety Measures to Expected Number of Accidents." *Accident and Analysis and Prevention* Vol 18, Number 1. 1986: 63-70.

Schoene, G.W. and Michael, H. L., "Effects of a Change in the Control Device on Intersection Accidents," Purdue University, Joint Highway Research Project, CE237. February 1968.

Solomon, D., "Traffic Signals and Accidents in Michigan" *Public Roads*, p234, October 1959.

Yiu-Kuen Lau, Michael and May Jr., Adolf D. "Injury Prediction Models for Signalized Intersections" *Transportation Research Record 1172*. 1988: 58-67.

Vey A.H. "Effect of Signalization on Motor Vehicle Accident Experience". In Pro. Inst. Traffic Engineers, 1933.
3. Data Collection, Data Issues, and Research Approach

The approach taken in this research was relatively straightforward. A set of recently-signalized intersections was identified by MDOT, and the safety effects of installing the signals at these intersections were evaluated in a before-after (signalization) study. While the study was conceptually quite simple, the execution was deceptively difficult. The study approach and the problems encountered (insofar as they are useful to discuss) are described below.

3.1. Identification of Intersections to be Evaluated

MDOT identified an initial set of about 350 intersections which had been signalized in the last several years (1986-1992). These included numerous types (e.g., simple 4-way, simple 3-way) of intersections with a considerable amount of variation even within a given type (e.g., actuated versus non-actuated signals, protected versus permitted phasing). The intersections did have the common characteristic of being on the state trunkline system although the intersecting streets/roads were often non-trunkline. It should be noted that not all of these intersections are valid sites for this study—many were eliminated for a variety of different reasons (e.g., some were "upgradings" where the intersection was already signalized and the signal was being modified in some significant way). The initial list of intersections is provided in appendix 3-1.

3.2. Available Data

The data available for this study primarily consisted of information from the (paper) "spot" files maintained by MDOT for each signal location (i.e., a signalized intersection is a "spot") and crash records. Other data were available from MDOT's computerized intersection features file.

The crash records were based on the crash master file maintained and/or managed by the Michigan State Police and MDOT. The crash data actually used in this project were from the MDOT trunkline crash file, updated to 1995. These data are in a "short" form relative to the available crash data master (103 versus 252 or more characters in the record). The short-form data were used because they are updated to a consistent location frame of reference. This was necessary so that crashes could be matched to the appropriate intersections using the MDOT referencing system (and use of the long-form did not permit such accurate matching). The crash data that were used in this project were from the years 1985 through 1995.

For this project, a new intersection characteristics file was constructed, primarily by hand, from data available from MDOT's "spot" files. For example, intersection geometric features, traffic volumes, type of signal, and other descriptive features were coded into this file. These data allowed the intersections to be grouped by, for example, physical characteristics for the analysis—e.g., simple 3-way intersections could be separated out. The data in this file were obtained by manually reviewing the spot files for all of the relevant intersections, transferring information onto coding sheets, and then transferring that information into a computerized spreadsheet.

The primary use of MDOT's intersection features file was in merging the intersection characteristics information obtained from the spot files (and the resultant spreadsheet) with the crash data.

3.3. Merged Data Files

The intersection characteristics and crash files are separate and at different "levels"—that is, the unit of observation for the former is the intersection itself while in the latter it is a crash. It was necessary to merge these two files to undertake the planned analysis. The observations in the merged file are crashes—however, in almost all instances the results are aggregated to the intersection (or intersection type) level.

Based on the location data included in the intersection files, the crash data file could be entered and all relevant crashes retrieved. For example, assume that an intersection exists on control section X at milepoint Y. Code was written so that an intersection's area of influence was defined as that location plus or minus Z distance up- and down-stream of the intersection. That code provided a screen through which all trunkline crashes were passed. The crashes that were "caught" in the screen can be attributed to the specific intersections (defined by their area of influence) that caught them. Crashes that occurred within 45m (150') of the intersection on the cross street are automatically assigned to the intersection and would also be "caught." For the initial construction of the file used for analysis, 150m (500') was used as the largest possible area of analysis. Most analysis is, however, reported for an influence area of 150' which is the definition most-often used by MDOT.

As noted above, in the actual file on which the analysis was done, a single observation is a crash. Each crash carried with it, as part of its record, the description of the intersection at which it occurred. This file (as well as the other files created for this project) is available to MDOT.

3.4. The Temporal Dimension

The final issue with the data concerns the point in time that the intersection was signalized and the identification of before and after periods. From the spot files it is not at all clear when the traffic signal was actually "turned on"—that is, while there is a general record of when the signalization project was done, there is nothing that says that the signal actually started operating on a specific date. The best indication of this time is the "last action date" which is available. Thus, that date was used in the analysis as an indication of when the signal was actually in operation. To account for the unknown time difference between that recorded date and the "real" date, a 30-day window on either side of that date was used to discard some crash data (since it was not necessarily known that a crash within this time period really should be in the "before" or the "after" period).

The use of the window described above may have some effect on the results of the analysis. If there are some crashes that occur because the signal "surprises" a driver who is familiar with the site in its unsignalized operation, they will not be included in any analysis that was done where the data in the window are discarded. It should also be noted that the real time specifications of before and after windows vary by signal installation. That is, for example, a two-year before period for intersection X is different from the two-year before period for intersection Y (unless both intersections were signalized at the same time).

3.5. Data Issues

The construction and merging of the various files used in this project was extremely labor intensive and there were many mis-steps along the way. If MDOT is interested in tracking longterm trends for signalized (and potentially other) intersections, an automated file should be developed which is consistent with other MDOT-generated/maintained data. That is, materials contained in the spot files should be routinely entered into a computerized file which has location and identifying information which is consistent with other files (e.g., the crash file). Similarly, consistent information should be collected and checked for each intersection.

A related issue is the lack of complete, consistent traffic volume information. Traffic volume data were not necessarily available or consistent from site to site. Before and after (signalization) volume data were virtually non-existent. Thus, for example, before and after crash rate determinations that are made here are somewhat crude. While collection of such data on a comprehensive statewide basis would almost certainly be cost-prohibitive, it may be appropriate (if interest warrants it) to consider such a program on the basis of a scientifically-determined sample.

Finally, there are also some questions regarding the accuracy of different data. Traffic volume data are typically from one-day counts that may be seasonally affected and are not necessarily from a similar time period as the sometimes-available 24-hour machine counts. It was also not clear when/if different actions occurred in the intersection—for example, were "new signal" signs used (and when were they put up/taken down), when was the signal actually operational.

3.6. The Research Approach

The original approach that was planned was to compare and contrast the characteristics, frequencies, and rates of crashes that occurred before and after signalization of various intersections. These changes, if any, were also to be compared with any changes that might have occurred at a set of unsignalized, "control" intersections. It turned out that the identification of a set of control (untreated) intersections was prohibitive (due to data availability and resources) so that was not done.

The fundamental comparisons that were to be made included the number and rates of crashes that occur as well as the character and severity of those crashes (e.g., does the distribution of crashes by type and/or severity change with signalization). In order to do this, a before-and-after approach to the analysis was taken.

3.6.1. Intersection Types

There is a large variance in defining types of intersections. While the "typical" intersection is perceived as being between two, 2-way streets, there are almost endless variations. For example, an intersection between two, 2-way, 2-lane streets/road is different from an intersection between two, 2-way, 4-lane streets/roads and whether the signal is actuated or not adds another level of "definition." Given that at some level each of the intersections on the original list from MDOT is unique, some characteristics will be ignored in the aggregation into a "type." The fundamental types of intersections (found on the initial list) defined for this project are presented and discussed below.

<u>Standard 4-way intersections</u> are those formed by the intersection of two streets/roads. There were 106 of these on the initial list. Of these, 85 were determined to be "simple" and useable 4-way intersections—that is, they are the intersections of two, 2-way streets/roads and are not missing extensive data or have other significant (e.g., locational) problems. This group of intersections is probably perceived as being "most typical."

<u>Standard 3-way intersections</u> are the next simplest intersection—these are basic "T" intersections. Of the 57 3-way intersections on the initial list, 36 were "simple" intersections of two, 2-way roads and useable.

Much of the analysis reported later was done on these first two types of intersections.

Ramp-end intersections, which occur when a ramp from a limited-access highway intersects with a surface street/road, account for an additional 35 intersections on the initial list. Defining the location of these intersections in terms of control sections and milepoints was quite difficult as crashes on the ramps are assigned to the highway mainline. Thus, another approach to location determination was necessary. While this information was provided by MDOT, this problem was not resolved until late in the project and these intersections will not be analyzed in any detail here. It should be noted that a separate effort (outside of the current project and this report) will be undertaken to investigate the safety effects at these intersections. It is not expected that signalization at this type of intersection will result in drastically different outcomes than at standard 3- and 4-way intersections.

Driveway intersections are those typically associated with large new developments (e.g., a shopping mall). These signals are typically installed when the development is opened to the public. In most instances, during the "before" period there was no intersection present—thus, a before-and-after comparison for the effects of signalization can be undertaken only with extreme caution.

<u>**Crossover**</u> intersections accounted for 28 of the original intersections. Crossovers have been studied in the past under a separate contract with MDOT and, in addition, there is considerable site-to-site variation in how crossovers function (e.g., number and placement of the signals themselves). Given the relatively small sample size, the existence of the prior study devoted to crossovers, and the variance within the type, only very general analysis was done on this group.

<u>Service drive</u> intersections constitute the final type. The service drives constitute another very specific kind of intersection (i.e., along freeways) and, in this instance, were almost all associated with one freeway in the Detroit area. For this reason (and because these intersections are, once again, so different from standard 3- and 4-way intersections), this type was excluded from further analysis.

3.6.2. Other Important Intersection Characteristics

There are other important characteristics of intersections that can be used to further define subcategories of "type." As noted previously, these include things like the type of signalization, geometry, and so forth. The issue that arises in defining sub-types is one of sample size—e.g., there may be only one or two 3-way intersections formed by one 2-way, 2-lane and one 2-way, 4lane road. Generalizations become impossible to make with such small samples. The effects of such characteristics are developed and discussed, as possible, in the context of the analysis presented later.

3.6.3. Measures of Safety Effects and Research Hypotheses

The principal measures of the safety effects of signalizing intersections have been mentioned previously. They are defined in more detail here and are used in the analysis that follows.

<u>**Crash frequency**</u> is a fundamental measure of "what happens" when a signal is installed—did the number of crashes increase, decrease, or stay the same as a result? However, crash frequency can be somewhat misleading if not taken in the context of the traffic volumes that are present. If the traffic volumes experienced at a site are the same during the before and after periods, then comparisons of frequencies are more appropriate.

<u>Crash type distribution</u> is another measure of the results of signalization. The relevant comparison here is whether the distribution of crash shifts—e.g., is there a higher proportion of rear-end crashes after signalization. Crash type changes might be an effect of signalization even if there is no change in the number of crashes.

<u>Crash rate</u> is another safety measure which, in essence, "adjusts" crash frequency for some measure of traffic volume. A comparison of crash rates, for example, would allow intersections which experience significantly different traffic to be compared. A major problem in using crash rates is the lack of dependable and consistent traffic volume data (e.g., virtually no intersections had before and after volume data available).

<u>Crash severity</u> is a measure of how serious crashes are. In this instance, each crash is classified according to its most serious outcome. For example, an crash that resulted in property damage only (PDO) would be classified as a PDO whereas one which included both property damage and an "A" injury would be classified as an "A-injury" crash. The shift in the distribution of crashes by severity would be relevant for comparison.

The research hypotheses that were pursued are structured around the measures just described. In a formal sense, the hypothesis could be stated as, for example:

H₀: signalization did not result in a change in crash frequency H₁: signalization did result in a change in crash frequency

While the hypotheses are generally not so formally stated in the analysis which follows, they are implicitly of this form.

4. Analysis and Results

The analysis of the data for the several signalized intersections proceeded according to the general outline presented in the last chapter. The presentation and discussion of the results of that analysis is generally divided according to the type of intersection (e.g., 4-way) being considered. This is preceded by a consideration of some statewide background trends in crashes. In the concluding part of this section, results from the different types of intersections are compared and contrasted. A note on statistical testing is appropriate at the outset. In general, the results of the statistical testing that was done are not explicitly shown in the text that follows. When statistical testing was done, the results are generally reported with the criterion that was invoked being a significance of 0.05.

4.1. Background Trends in Statewide Crashes

One of the problems in determining the effects of signalization in terms of crash frequencies for time-based before and after windows defined around the actual time of signalization is that there may be some natural background variation in crash frequencies. For example, if traffic volumes and/or vehicle-miles of travel are generally increasing over time, it would be expected that the number of crashes would generally be increasing as well. Thus, the effects of some intervention (e.g., signalization) would have to be tempered by a consideration of the background trend. If, for example, the general frequency of crashes at intersections is increasing by 3%/year, then for signalization to have resulted in an *increase* in frequency, the increase would have to exceed 3%/year. Contrarily, if the crash frequency for the newly signalized intersections was not shown to increase at all (0% change) then, relative to the statewide trends, this would represent a decrease in real terms. To that end, statewide crash trends were analyzed.

It is also important to remember that in 1992, the statewide crash reporting form (the UD-10) was significantly changed. Thus, any changes in, for example, crash type distributions that occur around this time have to be evaluated with reference to those that were induced by the change in form and those that occur for other reasons.

The top part of table 4-1, which contains some general crash statistics over the period from 1985 to 1995, can be used to illustrate both of the above points. First, the total number of crashes (crash frequencies), the bottom line in the first section, is seen to vary fairly substantially on an annual basis. The total number of crashes increases annually from 1985 to 1989; then decreases for 1990, 1991, and 1992; and finally increases in 1993, 1994, and 1995. The crash figures for 1992 and after may be slightly low since unlocated trunkline crashes are allocated as non-trunkline crashes resulting in the 1992 and later counts being approximately 2 to 5% low (according to MDOT sources).

A gross measure of intersection crash trends is also seen in table 4-1. The classification that is shown (middle section of table), the distribution of crashes by "highway area type" (a relatively crude indication of where on the road system an crash occurred), illustrates both the trend in intersection crashes as well as potential effects of the form change. The percentage of crashes

					crash fi	requencies l	by year				
area type	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990	. 1991	1992	1993	1994	1995
interchange	13736	12938	13000	13880	12990	12180	10665	25700	28364	30737	32767
intersection	69862	72819	72719	73019	73069	67759	62730	56065	57628	59760	61334
non-intersect/interchange	56349	58655	59882	63809	68132	63400	59347	39661	43677	47991	51602
non-motorized vehicle	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	612	381	315	337
total accidents	139947	144412	145601	150708	154191	143339	132742	122038	130050	138803	146040
			•								
	crash distribution (%) by year										
area type	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995
interchange	9.82%	8.96%	8.93%	9.21%	8.42%	8.50%	8.03%	21.06%	21.81%	22.14%	22.44%
intersection	49.92%	50.42%	49.94%	48.45%	47.39%	47.27%	47.26%	45.94%	44.31%	43.05%	42.00%
non-intersect/interchange	40.26%	40.62%	41.13%	42.34%	44.19%	44.23%	44.71%	32.50%	33.58%	34,57%	35.33%
non-motorized vehicle	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.50%	0.29%	0.23%	0.23%
				%	change fro	m previous	year by yea	ır			
area type	1985	1986	1987	1988	1989	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995
interchange	n/a	-5.81%	0.48%	6.77%	-6.41%	-6.24%	-12.44%	140.98%	10.37%	8.37%	6.60%
intersection	n/a	4.23%	-0.14%	0.41%	0.07%	-7.27%	-7.42%	-10.62%	2.79%	3.70%	2.63%
non-intersect/interchange	n/a	4.09%	2.09%	6.56%	6.77%	-6.95%	-6.39%	-33.17%	10.13%	9,88%	7.52%
non-motorized vehicle	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	-37.75%	-17.32%	6.98%

Table 4-1. Crash information by "area type"

that occurred at intersections versus interchanges, non-interchange/non-intersection, and nonmotor vehicle is seen to be just under 50% in 1985, risen slightly (50.4%) in 1986 and then steadily declined through 1995. The drop between 1991 and 1992 is only slightly greater than other years. While the proportion of all crashes that occurred at intersections is decreasing, the actual numbers of crashes occurring at intersections (referring back to the top section of the table) varies considerably—there are significant yearly decreases from 1989 to 1990, from 1990 to 1991, and from 1991 to 1992; then increases from 1992 to 1993, from 1993 to 1994 and from 1994 to 1995. The lowest number of intersection crashes, 56,065, occurs in 1992 while the highest numbers occur during 1986-1989 when the yearly totals are all 72-73,000.

The changes in the other two primary crash categories shown in table 4-1 (interchange, noninterchange/non-intersection) vary considerably. While interchange crashes account for 8-10% of the crashes from 1985 to 1991, this percentage jumps to 21-22% for 1992-1995 (with a similar, off-setting, change in the non-interchange/non-intersection crashes)—this is a form-related change.

Finally, the bottom portion of table 4-1 is an illustration of the year-to-year percent change in the general crash types. For example, there is an approximate 4% increase in intersection crash frequency from 1985 to 1986. This is followed by very small changes (<1%) over the next three years, substantially larger decreases from 1989 to 1990 (7%), 1990 to 1991 (7%), and 1991 to 1992 (11%). Conversely, the last three years (1992-93, 1993-94, and 1994-95) in the period studied showed increases of 3%, 4%, and 3%. The reasons for this variation in intersection crash frequency are not known. Moreover, 1992 crashes are suspected by MDOT to have been undercounted due, in part, to the form changes.

These variations are also illustrated in figures 4-1 and 4-2 which serve to highlight the year-toyear variations and the changes in the highway area type distributions, respectively. The latter is especially useful for seeing the changes presumable resulting from the form change in 1992.

The root causes for the variations in number of crashes, number of intersection crashes, and the changes in the proportion of all crashes that occur in intersections are unknown (with the exception of the form-related changes). The lack of explicitly-known (versus conjectural) causes notwithstanding, these numbers serve to illustrate the extent of the background variation which must be considered when other signalization-related effects are discussed later.

4.2. Intersection Area of Influence

Another issue that needs to be resolved before extensive before-and-after analysis can be done involves defining the area of influence of the intersection—which crashes are and are not attributable to the intersection (and its signalization).

MDOT generally defines the area of influence of an intersection as 45m (150')—crashes occurring within that distance are assumed to be related to the intersection. Obviously, the area of influence can extend further back than 45m (150') under some conditions. The 45m (150')distance translates to a queue length of 6-9 vehicles depending on the assumption made for





vehicle spacing. A scenario of a rear-end collision that occurs more than 45m (150') from the intersection, but at the end of a queue caused by a signal, is fairly realistic. For that reason, "intersection" crashes may be declared by an investigating officer in such an instance. At the same time, 45m (150') is used to attribute side-road (non-trunkline) crashes to the intersection with the state trunkline.

On the other hand, as the distance from the intersection increases, the likelihood of crash occurring that was **not** intersection-related increases—for example, it may occur because of someone turning in to or out of a driveway or passing another vehicle. Clearly there is a trade-off: with a larger area of influence: it is more likely that all crashes correctly attributed to the intersection would be captured; conversely, it is also more likely that more crashes that are not correctly attributed to the intersection operation will also be captured.

To this end, three different distances from the intersection were used to define the area of influence: 45, 75, 150m (150, 250, and 500 feet, respectively). (Notwithstanding that intersecting local, non-trunkline streets and roads always had, by definition, a 45m [150'] influence area.) The idea was to undertake analysis and see if there were significant differences in the analysis and to determine whether a "best" distance could be determined. Basically, the finding was that when before-after crash statistics were compared, it was found that there were basic shifts in the type of crashes that were occurring (e.g., more rear-end, fewer right-angle) and that this shift was evident at all three distances. However, the magnitude of the difference in the shift was somewhat more subtle at greater distances from the intersection. Thus, it was decided to define the area of influence as within 45m (150') of the intersection. Any important crash shifts will be evident at this distance, and it is consistent with both the general definition that MDOT uses as well as results reported in the literature.

4.3. Definition of Before and After Time Window

Similar to the question of how far the area of influence of the intersection extends in terms of distance, there is a question of the length of time period over which the effects of signalization should be measured. As before there are tradeoffs in defining the appropriate time period. For example, it could be argued that the time period before and after should be as long as possible, say five years. Problems with long time windows include the effects of signalization; major improvements elsewhere in the system changing the traffic routing/flow patterns; and significant changes in development in the vicinity of the intersections. On the other hand, shorter time windows are hampered by the so-called novelty effect of the new signal; the effects of differential signing (e.g., "new signal ahead"); relatively low numbers of crashes occurring; and, in the case of the current work, not knowing when the signal was actually put into operation. While the novelty effect is arguably something that **should** be measured in the analysis, measuring this effect is significantly hampered by the lack of knowledge of when the signal was actually put into regular operation.

Table 4-2 shows the results of a general analysis of 169 intersections (an early version of the final data base that was used for this project) where the effects of the time-window definition are

shown. Basically, the shorter-term effects of signalization tend to be more striking. If samelength before and after periods are compared with one another, it is noted that there are always more crashes in the after period than in the comparable before period. That notwithstanding, it should also be noted that in some of the "shorter" periods (e.g., 30 and 60 days), there is, on average, less than two crashes per intersection—i.e., sample size is quite small. Notwithstanding these findings, it should also be noted that the 30-day window is subject to unknown error with respect to when the signal was actually put into operation (i.e., some after-crashes may have actually occurred in the "true" before period or vice versa).

	number of	number of	percent	incremental
time	crashes	crashes	change	% change
period	before	after	after	after
(days)	signalization	signalization	signalization	signalization
30	97	168	73.20%	n/a
60	211	314	48.82%	19.05%
90	318	485	52.52%	20.38%
180	671	874	30.25%	7.42%
365	1325	1640	23.77%	12.81%
730	2588	3061	18.28%	9.63%
730	2377	2747	15.57%	n/a

Table 4-2. Percent changes in total crashes by tin	me period
---	-----------

Note: last row excludes crashes within 30 days of assumed date when signal was activated

Plots of crash frequency versus time window length (not shown) show that there is a fairly distinctive linear trend for both before and after periods. That is, as the time window increases in length, the number of crashes that occurred increases linearly.

It was decided to use longer crash windows for this project, one of which excluded crashes occurring around the time of the signalization. The latter prohibits making inferences about the novelty (or newness) effect but comments about that effect, at least using the data available here, would be problematic anyway. Use of the larger time windows also allows more stratification of crashes (since sample size is larger). For example, analysis may be done on more than one factor at a time. In the end, 180-day and 2-year time windows were used for the analysis. The 2-year window excludes 30-day signalization implementation periods on both sides of the assumed signal-in-actual-operation date.

A final cautionary note is that the analysis done for this project was done in the aggregate (i.e., all intersections in a given group were lumped together). Thus, for example, a two-year before-after window for intersection S_1 might be 1991-92 (before) and 1993-94 (after) whereas the window for another intersection, S_2 , in the same group might be 1988-89 (before) and 1990-91 (after). In the analysis that was done, all before data for all intersections in the group were grouped together as were all after data. This complicates any attempt to make adjustments for background trends:

for example, the background trend for intersection S_1 is that, statewide, intersection crashes increased while for S_2 , they decreased (see table 4-1 for trends).

4.4. Analysis of 4-Way Intersection Crashes

The analysis that was done for 4-way intersections was somewhat more extensive than that for other types. The reasons for this include: 4-way intersections are considered to be most typical; 4-way intersections are probably best understood with respect to operation; and several levels of analysis were done with 4-ways to determine which were most illuminating with respect to understanding what's happening from an crash perspective.

It should be remembered that the 4-way intersections considered here are "basic"—that is they are simple intersections of two 2-way streets. While intersections with turning lanes and other simple geometric variations are included, any geometrically or operationally "odd" 4-way intersections are excluded (e.g., intersections of two one-way streets were excluded even though the intersection would have four legs). There was a total of 91 4-way intersections used in the analysis.

4.4.1. 4-Way Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribution

The most fundamental information about these intersections includes the number and type of crashes that occurred before and after signalization. This information is shown in table 4-3 for two time windows: 180 days (with no exclusion of a signal implementation period) and two years (with exclusion of the implementation period). It should be noted that the sample size for the two time periods varies: for 180 days, there were 91 intersections; for 2 years, there were 80.

		180 days		2 years	
crash type		before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	121	193	468	734
	percentage	29.30%	40.46%	28.98%	43.33%
right-angle	count	172	122	659	368
	percentage	41.65%	25.58 <u>%</u>	40.80%	21.72%
head-on/left-turn	count	35	47	152	213
	percentage	8.47%	9.85%	9.41%	12.57%
other	count	85	115	336	379
	percentage	20.58%	24.11%	20.80%	22.37%
total	count	413	477	1615	1694

Table 4-3.	4-way intersections	: before-and-after comparison of	crash
	type 45m (150') fro	m signal for 180 days and 2 years	

The first thing that should be noted from the numbers noted in the table is that for the 180-day period, an increase of about 15% in the number of crashes was observed. Over the longer 2-year time period, the increase was somewhat less striking, about 5%. Given the overall trends in intersection crashes (see table 4-1 and figure 4-1 and accompanying discussion in section 4.1), it

appears that signalization resulted in an increase in crash frequency. For example, examining table 4-1, if **all** 4-way intersection signalizations had occurred in the last four years of the overall analysis period (the only period of steadily increasing numbers of intersection crashes), an increase of about 6% in intersection crashes would have been expected as a background trend. Any other 4-year window results in a lower rate of increase or a decrease as a background trend. Indeed the change in intersection crashes over the entire analysis period (1985 to 1995) is a reduction from 69,862 to 61,334, a net decrease of 12% (this figure obscures the fact that there were, however, increases to over 73,000 during the period). On the other hand, the average number of crashes/intersection for the 2-year analysis period increased by almost one—from 20.2 to just over 21, a difference which was not statistically significant. Interestingly, for the 180-day analysis period, the average increase in crashes is about the same (0.89, from 5.0 to 5.89).

Of primary interest is the distribution of crashes by type. The distributions shown in table 4-3 are based on the crash types defined in the crash data files but several types are aggregated into the four key types shown in order to highlight the changes attributable to signalization. Over both the short (180 days) and long (2 years) term, a significant shift between crash types is noted: rear-end crashes increase by 10-12% (of the total) while right-angle crashes decrease 11-14%. The other categories shift by significantly smaller percentages. These distributions, it should be noted, are unaffected by any background trends in raw frequencies. Thus, it can be concluded that signalization resulted in clear shifts in the type of crashes occurring at intersections—from angle-type crashes to rear-end and with a lesser increase in head-on/left-turn crashes. This is consistent with other research reported in chapter 2.

A more detailed presentation on crash types is provided in table 4-4 which shows all of the crash types that are differentiated in the MDOT/MSP crash files. The same trends are noted as had been observed in table 4-3.

4.4.2. 4-Way Intersections: Crash Severity

Crash severity changes that may result from signalization are also of interest. In this instance, each crash is classified according to its most serious outcome. That is, if an crash resulted in some property damage, an "A" injury, and a "B" injury, the crash would be classed as a "A-injury" crash which is the worst outcome. The five crash severity categories that are used here are: fatal; A (incapacitating injury), B (non-incapacitating injury), C (possible injury), and PDO (property-damage-only). The before-and-after distributions of crashes by severity for 180-day and 2-year windows are shown in table 4-5.

While the number of fatalities is fairly low in general (and fatalities are relatively rare events in general), it is seen that there were fewer fatalities after signalization for both time windows. More importantly, however, is the general distributional shift from more severe to less severe crash outcomes. For both time windows, there is decrease in fatalities, a decrease in A crashes, a decrease in B crashes, and increases in C and PDO crashes. These percentage changes are driven by absolute decreases in the numbers of fatal and A crashes for both time windows, an increase for the 180-day period and a decrease for the 2-year period for B crashes, and increases in C and PDO crashes for both time windows. Thus, in spite of overall increases in the total

		180	days	2 ye	ears
crash types		before	after	before	after
misc 1-vehicle	count	4	5	10	22
	percentage	0.97%	1.05%	0.62%	1.30%
overturn	count	1	1	10	4
	percentage	0.24%	0.21%	0.62%	0.24%
w/parked vehicle	count	3	2	12	7
	percentage	0.73%	0.42%	0.74%	0.41%
backing	count	2	10	18	28
	percentage	0.48%	2 .10%	1.11%	1.65%
parking	count	2	1	4	6
	percentage	0.48%	0.21%	0.25%	0.35%
pedestrian	count	2	2	6	6
	percentage	0.48%	0.42%	0.37%	0.35%
fixed object	count	16	23	68	56
-	percentage	3.87%	4.82%	4.21%	3.31%
other object	count	5	0	4	3
ř	percentage	1.21%	0.00%	0.25%	0.18%
animal	count	1	3	13	17
	percentage	0.24%	0.63%	0.80%	1.00%
bicycle	count	3	4	8	15
	percentage	0.73%	0.84%	0.50%	0.89%
head-on	count	5	1	23	11
	percentage	1.21%	0.21%	1.42%	0.65%
angle-straight	count	115	88	435	259
<u> </u>	percentage	27.85%	18.45%	26.93%	15.29%
rear-end	count	109	178	405	695
	percentage	26.39%	37.32%	25.08%	41.03%
angle-turn	count	57	34	224	109
· .	percentage	13.80%	7.13%	13.87%	6.43%
side-swipe/same	count	4	3	5	29
-	percentage	0.97%	0.63%	0.31%	1.71%
rear-end/left-turn	count	. 8	4	40	10
	percentage	1.94%	0.84%	2.48%	0.59%
rear-end/right-turn	count	4	11	23	29
_	percentage	0.97%	2.31%	1.42%	1.71%
other driveway	count	6	8	32	33
	percentage	1.45%	1.68%	1.98%	1.95%
angle at driveway	count	5	10	42	41
	percentage	1.21%	2.10%	2.60%	2.42%
rear-end/driveway	count	17	27	62	70
	percentage	4.12%	5.66%	3.84%	4.13%
side-swipe/opp	count	8	9	11	21
	percentage	1.94%	1.89%	0.68%	1.24%
head-on/left-turn	count	35	47	152	213
	percentage	8.47%	9.85%	9.41%	12.57%
daul left-turn	count	1	2	5	3
	percentage	0.24%	0.42%	0.31%	0.18%
dual right-turn	count	0	4	3	7
{ ·	percentage	0.00%	0.84%	0.19%	0.41%
total	count	413	477	1615	1694

Table 4-4.4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of detailed crashtypes 45m (150') from signal for 180 days and 2 years

numbers of crashes between the before and after time periods, the severity of those crashes was somewhat lower.

		180 days		2 years	
crash severity		before	after	before	after
PDO	count	276	316	1085	1134
	percentage	66.83%	66.25%	67.18%	66.94%
C-injury	count	68	96	262	329
	percentage	16.46%	20.13%	16.22%	19.42%
B-injury	count	38	42	152	146
	percentage	9.20%	8.81%	9.41%	8.62%
A-injury	count	28	22	110	82
•	percentage	6.78%	4.61%	6.81%	4.84%
fatal	count	3	1	6	3
	percentage	0.73%	0.21%	0.37%	0.18%
total	count	413	477	1615	1694

 Table 4-5.
 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity 45 m (150') from signal for 180 days and 2 years

4.4.3. 4-Way Intersections: Ambient Light, Time of Day, and Day of Week

Several other factors were also examined through cross-tabulations. Ambient light was defined using the standard UD-10 code (i.e., daylight, dawn or dusk, dark w/street lights, dark w/no street lights, and unknown). It should be noted that no attempt was made to verify the values of that code by using actual time of day and month—the codes were taken at face value. For ambient light there were generally only modest before-after differences in the distributions (not shown). For example, using the 2-year window, the percentage of crashes occurring during daylight hours decreased from 75.4 to 75.1%. Some of the other shifts were somewhat more notable but they were not necessarily consistent between the 180-day and 2-year time windows, and the differences were attributed to general variance.

Similarly, the before and after hour-by-hour distribution of crashes was also examined. Distributional shifts in this instance were limited to generally much less than 1% (with a maximum of about 3% in one instance). Again, these shifts seem quite insignificant and seem likely to be a result of natural variation. It is marginally interesting to note that the highest percentages of intersection crashes (both before and after signalization) occurred after 12:00 noon and before 6:00 PM. The maximum percentage for an hour (in the 12:00-6:00 block) was on the order of 12% and the minimum was about 6%. The highest hour not within this time block was 7:00-8:00 AM where the percentage was around 5% (and the adjoining hours were much less) and 6:00-8:00 PM where the hourly percentages were 5-6%. Over 50% of the intersection crashes occurred in the six-hour period from noon until the end of the evening rush hour.

Finally, before and after crash distributions by day of the week were also investigated. Once again, there does not appear to be much difference that is attributable to signalizing the

intersections. Generally speaking, weekdays account for a somewhat greater percentage of the crashes than weekends—if crashes occurred randomly by day (i.e., 14+% each day), it would be expected that the two weekend days would account for about 29% while the statistics show that they account for something on the order of 20-24%. Fridays account for the greatest percentage of intersection crashes, generally 16-21%, and there appears to have been a slight decrease in that percentage between the before and after periods (about 4% using the 180-day time window, about 2% using the 2-year window). Again, this relatively small decrease may be due to natural variation. If there is an effect, signalization seems to have "smoothed out" the distribution over the week (each day accounted for a more equal amount).

Notwithstanding the minor effects that have been noted, signalization effects on these three variables appear to be relatively uninteresting and are not discussed further (i.e., for other intersection types) in any detail.

4.4.4. 4-Way Intersections: Crash Type and Other Factors

In addition to the general examination of crash type that was discussed in section 4.4.1., the crashes were also broken down into type-based groups (i.e., head-on/left-turn, right-angle, rearend, and other) and re-examined with respect to severity, contributing circumstances, time of day, light conditions, weather, and day of week. That is, for example, all the rear-end crashes were broken out and the before-after comparison was examined with respect to the other variables just noted. In addition, both the 180-day and 2-year windows were also examined.

4.4.4.1. Level of Severity by Before/After for Different Crash Types

The general shift toward more, but less severe crashes noted above was broken down by crash type. For different types of crashes, the shifts in severity were noticeably different. The discussion that follows is based upon the comparison of 2-year before/after windows, unless otherwise noted.

Rear-End Crashes

There were large absolute and relative increases in rear-end crashes when before and after periods are compared (468 to 734, 29 to 43%). Examining only the rear-end crashes, there is a shift in severity as well: PDOs, while increasing in number (358 to 520) account for a lower percentage (77 versus 71%, respectively) of all rear-end crashes. The C crashes increased in both absolute (75 to 171) and relative (16 to 23%) terms while both B and A crashes increased in absolute terms but decreased relatively. Thus, the severity-related changes in rear-end crashes were mixed: while rear-end crashes generally increased in number there was a shift toward minor injury crashes. That is, category C increased both absolutely and relatively, while PDOs and other injury categories decreased relatively, they all increased in an absolute sense. There were no fatal rear-end crashes reported in either the before or the after period.

Right-Angle Crashes

Unlike rear-end crashes where there were notable changes in both the numbers and severity of crashes, the severity distribution of right-angle crashes remained fairly constant. The biggest relative shift was that PDO crashes decreased from 58 to 55%. This relative decrease was offset by minor increases in all but the fatal crash category. In absolute terms, there was a large overall before-after decrease in right-angle crashes (see table 4-3b) and in each severity category.

Perhaps most notable is that right-angle crashes account for all fatal crashes in the study. Moreover, this number decreased from 6 to 3 between the before and after periods. While fatal crashes are relatively rare events and the decrease could be simply a statistical anomaly, it is nonetheless noteworthy that all the fatal crashes were this type. It does appear that the decrease in the number of fatal crashes is most likely due to the general decrease in this type of crash.

Head-On/Left-Turn and Other Crashes

The other two crash types that were studied in detail were head-on/left-turn and (all) "other" crashes. While there were almost across-the-board absolute increases in each severity category for both of these types of crashes, the severity distribution did not change markedly. For both types, the PDO percentage varied by about 1% or less and there was some shifting among the personal injury categories—the largest change being a 3.6% increase in B head-on/left-turn crashes.

4.4.4.2. Crash Type by Before/After for Different Levels of Severity

The relationship between type of crash and the severity of those crashes can also be looked at "the other way around." In the last section cross-tabulations of level of severity by before/after for different crash types was examined. In this section cross-tabulations of crash type by before/after for different levels of severity will be examined. Table 4-6 is an illustration. Each section of the table shows a cross-tabulation of crash type by before/after for a different level of severity (PDO, C, B, and A). Fatal crashes are discussed separately.

PDO Crashes

As noted earlier, the absolute number of PDO crashes increased between the before and after periods from 1085 to 1134 (49 crashes, about 5%). While head-on/left-turn and "other" crash types increased only marginally (in both absolute and relative terms), there was a relatively large shift between rear-end and right-angle crashes. Rear-end crashes increased dramatically while right-angles decreased similarly.

C-Injury Crashes

While the increase in number of C crashes (262 to 329) was somewhat higher than that for PDOs (67 versus 49), the percentage increase was substantial, almost 26%. "Other" crash

		PD	Ōs	C-in	uries	B-in	juries	A-in	juries
crash type		before	after	before	after	before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	358	520	75	171	25	32	10	11
	percentage	33.00%	45.86%	28.63%	51.98%	16.45%	21.92%	9.09%	13.41%
right-angle	count	384	202	127	75	82	54	60	34
	percentage	35.39%	17.81%	48.47%	22.80%	53.95%	36.99%	54.55%	41.46%
head-on/left-turn	count	91	125	23	38	16	30	22	20
	percentage	8.39%	11.02%	8.78%	11.55%	10.53%	20.55%	20.00%	24.39%
other	count	252	287	37	45	29	30	18	17
	percentage	23.23%	25.31%	14.12%	13.68%	19.08%	20.55%	16.36%	20.73%
total	count	1085	1134	262	329	152	146	110	82

Table 4-6. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of severity and crash types 45m (150') from signal for 2 years

types accounted for a considerably lower proportion although it was fairly constant as it was for head-on/left-turn crashes. Again the large shift was from right-angle (large absolute and relative declines) to rear-end crashes (large absolute and relative increases).

B-Injury Crashes

B-injury crashes actually declined by almost 4%, from 152 to 146. Interestingly, the shifts among crash types was somewhat different than for other crash severity categories. Rear-end crashes showed only marginal absolute and relative increases; right-angles decreased somewhat more strikingly; and "others" held steady. The other difference was head-on/left-turn crashes which accounted for absolute and relative increases in B crashes.

A-Injury Crashes

The final category shown in the table is A-injury crashes which showed the largest overall decrease in crashes (110 to 82) in spite of being the smallest category (other than fatals). Once again, there were increases in rear-end crashes in both absolute and relative terms, decreases in right-angle crashes and modest relative increases in head-on/left-turn and "other" crashes.

Fatal Crashes

Fatal crashes are not shown in the table because there are so few, and all of which were rightangle crashes. There was a decrease of three fatal crashes (6 to 3) between the before and after periods. As noted earlier, all fatal crashes (both before and after) were associated with some sort of turning movement. Examination of other characteristics of these crashes showed the following: only one of the crashes (during the after period) was associated with DUIL or drug use as a contributing circumstance while one had "none" (before) as a contributing circumstance while 7 (5 before, 2 after) had "other," two of the after crashes occurred in the 1:00-2:00 AM time period while one occurred in the 6:00-7:00 PM period whereas the "before" crashes were scattered throughout the afternoon and evening (1 during 11:00AM-noon, 1 during 4:00-5:00 PM, 2 during 5:00-6:00 PM, 1 during 6:00-7:00 PM, and 1 during 9:00-10:00 PM); all 6 "before" occurred during daylight or dawn/dusk hours while all 3 "after" occurred during dark conditions; with exception of 1 after crash which occurred in the rain, all others occurred when it was clear/cloudy; and, finally, the before crashes were distributed during the week 1 on Sunday, 1 on Tuesday, 2 on Thursday, and 1 each on Friday and Saturday while the after crashes occurred on Tuesday (1) and Saturday (2). Given the small number of fatal crashes that do occur, not much insight is gained on how the signalization affects these crashes although it is interesting to note that they were all angle crashes; and these sorts of crashes typically decrease as a result of signalization.

Summary and Discussion

The results arrayed in table 4-6 clearly shows that there was an overall increase in PDO and C crashes and some offsetting decreases in B and A crashes (plus the decrease in fatal crashes not shown in the table). Generally speaking, the differences in the type of crashes show up in the shift

from angle to rear-end crashes. There are significantly more of the latter and fewer of the former. The increases in the overall crash numbers are attributable primarily to the additional rear-end crashes with more modest contributions from head-on/left-turn and "other" crash types. Right-angle crashes decrease in absolute and relative terms for all severity classes.

4.4.4.3. Contributing Circumstances, Time of Day, Light Conditions, Weather, Day of Week and Crash Type

Contributing circumstances, time of day, light conditions, weather, and day of week were also considered with respect to crash type. For the most part, none of these factors were interesting—that is, there were few distributional changes that might be attributable to the signal installation. Some observations regarding each type of crash follows.

For "other" crashes, it was noted that there was a decrease (both in absolute, 15 crashes, and relative, six percentage points, terms) in crashes after dark where there were no street lights present. On the other hand, crashes occurring under clear or cloudy conditions increased (in absolute and relative terms).

Head-on/left-turn crashes increased in both absolute and relative terms in dark/no-street-light conditions and snowy conditions while decreasing in relative terms for clear/cloudy conditions.

For right-angle crashes there were fewer distributional variations with the most notable being an absolute and relative decrease in daylight crashes which was offset, in a proportional sense, by increases in the percentages of nighttime crashes. Variations due to weather conditions were slight although there were significant reductions in absolute terms.

Finally, for rear-end crashes, there were only minor changes in the distributions of any of these factors.

4.4.5. 4-Way Intersections: Type of Signal Installed

There were two basic classifications of the signals that were installed: fixed timing and actuated. The same types of variables and issues were examined for each type of signal. The fundamental issue that is being addressed is whether the type of signal that is being installed results in any differential effects with respect to the crash statistics that have been examined. For this analysis, the 91 original intersections were broken down into 10 actuated signal sites and 81 fixed-time sites although this was further reduced to 9 and 70 for the 2-year analysis period.

4.4.5.1. Signal Type and Crash Type

While the general trends in distributional shifts that were discussed earlier were also apparent here (e.g., an absolute and relative increase in rear-end crashes as a result of signalization), there were some basic differences between the distribution of crashes by type for the two different types of signal. For example, rear-end crashes accounted for 30% (439) of the before crashes and 44% (687) of the after crashes for fixed timing sites while, for actuated signal sites, rear-end crashes

accounted for only 19% (27) of before crashes and 35% (42) of the after crashes. These distributions are shown in table 4-7. The largest part of the differences between the two types of sites is accounted for in the differences between rear-end and right-angle crashes. In general, fixed-timing sites had proportionately fewer right-angle crashes and more rear-end crashes. The differences were especially noticeable during the before period. The higher percentage of right-angle crashes at actuated signal sites may well be explained by more equal and possibly higher volumes being experienced at those sites both before and after signalization.

Table 4-7 also indicates that there are some other fundamental differences between fixed and actuated signal sites. For fixed-time sites, there was an absolute increase in the number of crashes (in addition to the distributional shifts just noted) which resulted in a mean increase of 0.76 (although this is not statistically significant). On the other hand, for actuated sites, there was an absolute decrease in crashes and a sizable, but statistically insignificant, mean decrease (4.22). There were, however, only nine actuated sites.

		fixed		actuated	
crash type		before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	439	687	27	42
	percentage	30.13%	44.24%	18.49%	35.00%
right-angle	count	582	336	75	27
	percentage	39.95%	21.64%	51.37%	22.50%
head-on/left-turn	count	132	189	19	23
	percentage	9.06%	12.17%	13.01%	19.17%
other	count	304	341	25	28
	percentage	20.86%	21.96%	17.12%	23.33%
total	count	1457	1553	146	120

Table 4-7. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crashtype by timing type 45m (150') from signal for 2 years

4.4.5.2. Signal Type and Severity

The general trend noted earlier of typically more crashes but with less severity is also in evidence for both types of signals. For fixed-time signals, there are absolutely and relatively fewer A crashes, about the same number but relatively fewer B crashes, absolutely and relatively more C crashes, and relatively the same percentage but a greater number of PDO crashes. For actuatedsignal sites, C crashes "collect" absolutely and relatively more crashes than the other categories. Crashes at actuated-signal sites are, in general, more likely to be more severe than those at fixedtime signal sites, notwithstanding the fact that all fatal crashes were at fixed-time sites. These results are summarized in table 4-8.

		fixed		actuated	
crash severity		before	after	before	after
PDO	count	984	1045	90	75
	percentage	67.54%	67.29%	61.64%	62.50%
C-injury	count	241	298	20	27
	percentage	16.54%	19.19%	13.70%	22.50%
B-injury	count	133	131	19	12
	percentage	9.13%	8.44%	13.01%	10.00%
A-injury	count	93	76	17	6
	percentage	6.38%	4.89%	11.64%	5.00%
fatal	count	6	3	0	0
	percentage	0.41%	0.19%	0.00%	0.00%
total	count	1457	1553	146	120

Table 4-8. 4-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash severity by type of signal timing 45 m (150') signal for 2 years

4.4.5.3. Signal Type and Other Variables

Several other variables (detailed crash type, contributing circumstances, time of day, light condition, weather condition, and day of week) were also examined with respect to differences that might be attributable to the type of signal that was installed. While most of these effects were not dissimilar from those already noted, there were a couple of notable exceptions.

For light conditions, there were very minor differences in the before-after distribution of crashes occurring under different light conditions for fixed-time signal sites (a maximum difference of about one percentage point). However, for actuated signal sites, there were some notable before-after changes. For example, the percentage of crashes that occurred during daylight conditions decreased from 77 to 68% and dark/street lights present increased by about the same amount (10 to 19%). There is no ready explanation for this shift—i.e., why the installation of one type of signal would make a difference in the distribution of crashes by light condition.

A similar outcome was noted when weather conditions (at the time of the crash) were considered. There was little change in the distributions for fixed-time sites but significant shifts at actuated signal sites. The latter consisted of a decrease during clear or cloudy conditions (82 to 70%) with an offsetting increase for rainy conditions (10 to 22%).

4.4.6. 4-Way Intersections: Geographic Area

Another classification that was investigated was a rough definition of "where" the signalized intersections were located. This definition was based on the general character of the county where the signal was installed: metro, mixed, and rural. Metropolitan counties were those such as Wayne which has a primarily urban, very-built-up character. Mixed counties are those such as Ingham which contains a significant amount of urban development (Lansing in this case) but also significant suburban and rural areas. Rural counties are those where there is no principal urban

center. The breakdown of the original 91 intersections into the three groups just defined was: metro, 15; mixed, 63; and rural, 14. (For the 2-year analysis period, these numbers were further reduced to 14, 53, and 13, respectively.)

Although the definitions of the three geographic area types are crude, the results were, nonetheless, interesting. While the mixed category represented the most sites, there was a reasonable distribution among the three categories. While the trend of more crashes in the after period that was noted earlier is still evident, the percentage change in total crashes varied by area: in rural areas, the increase was almost 9% (208 to 226); in mixed areas, the increase was about 5% (1136 to 1187); and for metro areas, the increase was the lowest, almost 4% (271 to 281). While this could easily be explained by changes in traffic volumes and so forth, it could also be argued that the signals in more rural-oriented areas would typically result in the most (unexpected) change to traffic patterns and, hence, be more likely to result in a higher increase in traffic crashes. There is no way to prove this contention, but it seems a logical explanation.

The mean number of crashes also varies by geographic type. The before-and-after mean values were: rural-16 to 16.1; mixed-21.4 to 22; and metro-19.4 to 18.7. The mean decrease in metro being an artifact of a change in sample size. None of the differences was statistically significant.

While the general tendencies in the shifts among crash types is the same as reported earlier, there are differences for the different areas and are shown in table 4-9. For the rural sites, the percentages of rear-end crashes increase only 5% with signalization while for the mixed areas the increase is about 15% and for metro areas, about 20%. This is accompanied, and largely offset, by decreases in right-angle crash percentages: the rural decrease is 6%, mixed is 21%, and metro is 17%. Depending on the type of area in which signalization occurs, somewhat different crash shifts could be expected. In general, the shifts are much more pronounced in more suburban and/or urban areas.

		rural		mixed		metro	
crash type		before	after	before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	71	90	317	504	80	140
	percentage	34.13%	39.82%	27.90%	42.46%	29.52%	49.82%
right-angle	count	64	56	493	255	102	57
	percentage	30.77%	24.78%	43.40%	21.48%	37.64%	20.28%
head-on/left-turn	count	22	28	108	160	22	25
	percentage	10.58%	12.39%	9.51%	13.48%	8.12%	8.90%
other	count	51	52	218	268	67	59
	percentage	24.52%	23.01%	19.19%	22.58%	24.72%	21.00%
total	count	208	226	1136	1187	271	281

Table 4-9.	4-way intersections:	before-and-after comparison of crash type by ty	/pe of
	area 45m (150') from	n signal for 2 years	

There are also some differences in the severity of crashes by type of geographic area. For rural sites, there is a shift from the PDO category (which accounted for 76% of all before crashes "before" signalization and decreased to 66% "after") to C (14 to 19%), B (5 to 10%), and A (4 to 5%) injury crashes. There were, however, two fatal crashes in the before period but none after. For mixed areas, the proportion of PDO crashes increased from 66 to 68% while C crashes increased (17 to 19%), B crashes decreased (10 to 8%), and A crashes decreased (8 to 5%). Fatal crashes in mixed areas decreased from 4 to 3. Finally, for metro areas, the shifts were: PDOs decreased (68 to 62%), C crashes increased (15 to 24%), and both B and A crashes decreased (10 to 9% and 10 to 5%, respectively). There were no fatalities in the metro grouping. In summary, rural sites tended to experience more serious crashes as a result of signalization, mixed areas had somewhat reduced severity, and metro areas experienced some compensating shifts (fewer PDOs but also fewer A and B-injury crashes with an increase in C crashes). The increase in severity in rural areas may be hypothesized to result from problems with generally higher speed vehicles although that was not tested in any way.

The results for the other variables that were examined (e.g., contributing circumstances, light condition) showed no other striking results.

4.4.7. 4-Way Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effects of Signalization

Based on the analysis of the 4-way intersections included in this study, the following synthesis and summary of findings can be presented.

- * Notwithstanding variations in the background trends in intersection crashes over the entire analysis period, it appears that signalization results in an increase in crash frequency—using a 2-year analysis before and after window, the increase was about 5%. However, the extent of the increase varies according to several factors and is difficult, if not impossible, to predict for any given site. Moreover, changes in the mean values of crashes per intersection are generally small and statistically insignificant.
- * The shifts in crash type as would be expected *a priori*—that is, angle crashes decreased while rear-end crashes increased. This shift was most always observed and generally fairly dramatic. It too varies considerably based upon different conditions.
- * Notwithstanding an often-observed increase in crash frequency, there is also a shift in crash severity from more severe to less severe crashes. PDO and C-injury crashes tend to increase in both absolute and relative terms while A-injury, B-injury, and fatal crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms.
- * While there does not appear to be any relationship between signalization changes and light conditions with respect to the incidence of crashes, it is interesting to note that over 50% of intersection crashes occur between noon and 6:00 PM. Otherwise, there is nothing notable with respect to signalization effects with respect to light conditions, time of day, or day of week.

- * The absolute and relative increases in rear-end crashes was accompanied by a shift toward minor personal-injury (C-injury) crashes. That is, C-injury crashes accounted for a higher percentage of the crashes after signalization. However, there were absolute increases in the numbers of crashes in all severity categories.
- * While the relative distribution of right-angle crashes by severity effectively remained the same, there were significant reductions in the absolute number of such crashes in all severity categories.
- * Right-angle crashes accounted for all fatal crashes during both the before and after periods and decreased from six (6) to three (3) between the before and after periods.
- * Differences in crash distributions are difficult to relate to the type of signal, fixed-time versus actuated, that is installed since there are differences between these two sets of sites during the before period. That is, sites where fixed-time signals are installed appear to have different crash statistics than those where actuated signals are installed. Fixed-time sites tended to have proportionately fewer right-angle and more rear-end crashes that actuated sites.
- * Actuated signal sites tended to have less severe crashes than fixed-time sites although all fatal crashes were at the latter. It should be noted, however, that there were relatively few actuated sites.
- * For actuated signal sites, there was a noticeable distributional shift from crashes occurring under daylight to dark/no-street lights conditions. There was also a distributional shift from clear/cloudy to rainy conditions for actuated signal sites. There is no ready explanation for this shift.
- * Increases in crashes as a result of signalization appeared to be related to type of area (metro, mixed, rural) in which a signal was found. Intersections in rural areas increased the most (9%) followed by mixed areas (5%) and metro areas (4%). The changes in the mean number of crashes was not, however, statistically significant.
- * The right-angle-to-rear-end shift in crash distributions also vary by type of area with rural areas experiencing less of a shift than the others.
- * With respect to crash severity, rural sites tended to shift to more serious crashes while mixed areas had somewhat reduced severity and metro areas had some compensating shifts (fewer PDOs but also fewer A- and B-injury crashes). Fatal crashes occurred in rural areas (2 before) and mixed areas (4 before, 3 after).

4.5. Analysis of 3-Way Intersection Crashes

The analysis of 3-way intersections proceeded in a parallel fashion to that done for the 4-way sites. As was the case for the 4-ways, the intersections analyzed were "simple" 3-way intersections—that is, basic "T" intersections of two 2-way streets. Any other geometrically or

operationally "odd" intersections were excluded. The discussion presented here is somewhat briefer as only those issues which were found to be important are discussed (the discussion of 4-ways had been somewhat more comprehensive to illustrate the breadth of the work that had been done). There was a total of 37 3-way intersections (35 for the 2-year analysis period).

4.5.1. 3-Way Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribution

Table 4-10 shows the basic cross-tabulation of the before and after signalization crashes distributed by crash type (only the data for the 2-year window are shown). In the discussion that follows, there are references back to table 4-3 to show fundamental differences between crash type distributions at the two different types of intersections.

crash type		before	after
rear-end	count	334	536
	percentage	36.99%	49.49%
right-angle	count	240	147
	percentage	26.58%	13.57%
head-on/left-turn	count	42	86
	percentage	4.65%	7.94%
other	count	287	314
	percentage	31.78%	28.99%
total	count	903	1083

Table 4-10.	3-way intersections: before-and-after
	comparison of crash type 45m (150')
	from signal for 2 years

First, it is noted that there is again an increase in total crashes from the before to after periods—in this instance, the increase is from 903 to 1083, almost 20% and sizably more than the 5% increase noted for 4-way intersections. The mean number of crashes obviously increases as well, from about 26 to about 31, although the increase was not statistically significant. Compared to 4-way intersections, the mean number of crashes at 3-way intersections is higher for both before and after periods. The crash rates for 3-ways are, however, about the same as for the 4-ways. Thus, the differences in the mean number of crashes are likely to be simply artifacts of the traffic volumes at the 4-way versus 3-way intersections. (Other crash rates are not discussed in any detail given that before and after ADTs were not available in the data base and, hence, rate changes mirror the frequency changes).

The distributions of crashes by type are also different from the 4-ways although the shifts among crash types are somewhat similar. For the 3-way intersections, head-on/left-turn crashes comprise a smaller proportion of all crashes while the "other" crashes are substantially larger. It should be noted that with 3-way intersections the absolute number of head-on-related conflicts would, assuming equal roadway volumes, be less than for 4-way intersections (by definition). The primary shift though is still between rear-end and right-angle crashes: rear-end crashes increase in both absolute and relative terms (from 334 to 536, and from 37 to almost 50% of all crashes); and

right angle crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms (from 240 to 147, and from 27 to 14%). Right-angle crashes are the only type that shows an absolute decrease from the before to the after period.

4.5.2. 3-Way Intersections: Crash Severity

Changes in crash severity for 3-way signalization sites are shown in table 4-11 (again, only the 2year window is illustrated). While the substantial increase of 180 crashes has already been noted, a large proportion of the increase is in PDO crashes, although the PDOs account for a slightly decreasing percentage of all crashes. The C-injury category is the only one that increases in both absolute and relative terms. While B-injury crashes increase slightly in number, the proportion decreases. A-injury crashes decrease in both relative and absolute terms while fatal crashes remain the same.

crash severity		before	after
PDO	count	646	765
	percentage	71.54%	70.64%
C-injury	count	147	208
	percentage	16.28%	19.21%
B-injury	count	70	75
	percentage	7.75%	6.93%
A-injury	count	37	32
	percentage	4.10%	2.95%
fatal	count	3	3
	percentage	0.33%	0.28%
total	count	903	1083

Table 4-11. 3-way intersections: before-and-after
comparison of crash severity 45 m
(150') from signal for 2 years

A comparison of the results shown here and those in table 4-5 for 4-way intersections reveals that the same general trends are evident: in absolute terms the PDO and C-injury categories account for the most of the change in absolute terms and the C category accounts for a somewhat higher percentage of crashes overall. However, whereas with the 4-way intersections there was a marginal tendency toward less severe crashes overall (A, B, and fatal crashes all decreased although C and PDO crashes increased), any severity "improvement" is more modest with C- and A-injury crashes increasing and fatal crashes remaining the same. Percentagewise, there is still, nonetheless, some improvement.

4.5.3. 3-Way Intersections: Crash Type and Other Factors

As was done for the 4-way intersections, the before and after crashes were broken down by crash type and further analysis was done. Only the data for the 2-year window are shown. In the next

part of this section, crashes are grouped by type, and then examined. After that, the crashes are grouped "the other way," that is, by severity level.

4.5.3.1. Level of Severity by Before/After for Different Crash Types

The four (basic) different types of crashes are rear-end, right-angle, head-on/left-turn, and "other" and are addressed in turn.

Rear-End Crashes

For rear-end crashes, the before-after comparison shows that there are more crashes in every severity category in an absolute sense (PDOs increase from 248 to 365, Cs from 68 to 137, Bs from 17 to 28, and As from 1 to 6) and a primary shift from PDO to C-injury crashes. That is, the percentage of crashes in category C increases from 20 to 26% and is largely offset by a corresponding decrease (74 to 68%) in the percentage of PDO crashes. Thus, it seems clear that rear-end crashes generally become not only more numerous in the after period, but also somewhat more serious.

Right-Angle Crashes

Right-angle crashes, on the other hand, show decreases in all severity categories (PDOs from 165 to 100, Cs from 30 to 24, Bs from 21 to 14, As from 23 to 9, and fatal crashes from 1 to 0). On a percentage basis, there is some minor shifting from the fatal and A categories to B and C categories. Given that the numbers of crashes in the personal injury categories are relatively small, it is not clear that this really represents a significant shift in severity.

Head-On/Left-Turn Crashes

For head-on/left-turn crashes, there was an overall increase in the number of crashes, from 42 to 86, an increase of over 100%. This increase showed up, in absolute terms, in all severity categories. In relative terms, PDO crashes decreased in a relative sense (from 28 to 53 crashes, but 67 to 62%), C crashes increased in absolute terms (6 to 12) but stayed approximately the same at 14%, while B crashes increased from 4 to 13 (10 to 15%), and As increased from 4 to 8 and held relatively steady, proportionately, at about 9-10%. In general, this represents an increase in this type of crashes and a general increase in severity (although the numbers driving the distributions are small).

"Other" Crashes

Other crashes also increased in overall number (287 to 314) but here there was a clear trend, in a both absolute and relative sense, toward less severe crashes—PDO crashes increased in both absolute and relative terms while all others decreased, except for fatal crashes which increased from 2 to 3.

4.5.3.2. Crash Type by Before/After for Different Levels of Severity

Crashes were also grouped into the different severity categories and examined in more detail with regard to shifts among crash types. The crash type distributions for each severity level (except for fatal crashes) are shown in table 4-12 and discussed below. (This table is comparable to table 4-6 for 4-way intersections.)

PDO Crashes

The 18% increase in PDO crashes between the before (646) and after (765) periods varied by crash type. The largest increase was in rear-end crashes which rose from 248 to 365 and accounted for 38 and 48% of all before and after PDO crashes, respectively. There were also increases in head-on/left-turn (28 to 53) and "other" (205 to 247) crashes. On the other hand there was a decrease in right-angle PDOs (165 to 100).

<u>C-Injury Crashes</u>

C-injury crashes also increased (147 to 208), a greater percentage increase than was seen for PDOs, but a smaller number in absolute numbers (61 versus 119). The distribution by crash type for C crashes is somewhat similar to the PDOs but there is an even greater domination by rear-end crashes—rear-end numbers increase from 68 to 137, accounting for 46 and 66% of all C crashes during the before and after periods, respectively. Right-angle crashes decrease in absolute and relative terms, while head-on/left-turn crashes are few in number (6 and 12, accounting for 4 and 6% of the before and after crashes, respectively). Other crash types also decrease in both absolute and relative terms.

B-Injury Crashes

Compared to PDOs and C-injury crashes, there are relatively few crashes in the other severity categories. The increase in B-injury crashes is only from 70 to 75, accounting for 8 and 7% of all before and after crashes. The small numbers notwithstanding, the pattern of change with respect to crash type is similar—an increase in rear-end crashes (17 to 28), a decrease in right-angle crashes (21 to 14), an increase in head-on/left-turn crashes (4 to 13), and a decrease in "other" crashes (from 28 to 20).

A-Injury Crashes

The A-injury crashes are even smaller (37 and 32) but do represent a net decrease. While the numbers are small, there was an increase in rear-ends, a decrease in right-angles, an increase in hear-on/left-turns, and no change in "others." Most notable of these changes is the reduction in right-angle crashes which decreased from 23 to 9.

		PE	Os	C-in	juries	B-injuries		A-injuries	
crash type		before	after	before	after	before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	248	. 365	68	137	17	28	1	. 6
	percentage	38.39%	47.71%	46.26%	65.87%	24.29%	37.33%	2.70%	18.75%
right-angle	count	165	100	30	24	21	14	23	9
	percentage	25.54%	13.07%	20.41%	11.54%	30.00%	18.67%	62.16%	28.13%
head-on/left-turn	count	28	53	6	12	4	13	4	8
	percentage	4.33%	6.93%	4.08%	5.77%	5.71%	17.33%	10.81%	25.00%
other	count	205	247	43	35	28	20	9	9
	percentage	31.73%	32.29%	29.25%	16.83%	40.00%	26.67%	24.32%	28.13%
total	count	646	765	147	208	70	75	37	32

Table 4-12. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of severity and crash types 45m (150') from signal for 2 yrs

Fatal Crashes

Unlike the 4-way intersections where all fatal crashes were associated with angle-turning movements, only one before crash was in the right-angle category for the 3-ways. The other five fatal crashes were in the "other" category. Four of these (2 before, 1 after) were head-on collisions and one was a pedestrian crash.

Summary and Discussion

The changes attributed to signalization for 3-way intersections are not all that dis-similar from those noted for 4-ways. Much of the increase in PDOs was from rear-end crashes in both absolute and relative terms with a decrease in right-angle crashes. There were also increases in rear-end crashes in all other severity categories. The most notable off-setting trend was the decrease in right-angle crashes, in both absolute and relative terms, in all severity categories and especially so for A-injury crashes (although the numbers were not large). Fatal crashes at 3-way intersections, while, again, a very small number were much more varied in type than they had been for 4-way intersections—whereas all fatals had been right-angle crashes, for 3-ways, this was the case for only one crash.

4.5.4. 3-Way Intersections: Type of Signal Installed

The 3-way signal installations were also examined with respect to differences in crash types, severity, and so forth, as was the case for the 4-way sites. As appropriate, references are made to the latter results which were shown in tables 4-7 and 4-8. Of the original 37 3-way intersections, six (6) had actuated signals and the remaining 31 were fixed-time.

4.5.4.1. Signal Type and Crash Type

The cross-tabulations of the crash type distribution for both (fixed and actuated) signal types are shown in table 4-13. A comparison of the two before distributions shows that there are some differences in the crash distributions in these two sets of sites prior to signal installation. While there is about the same proportion of rear-end crashes (37%) at both types, there is a significantly higher percentage of right-angle crashes (28%) at fixed-time sites versus actuated sites (19%). The compensating differences are found in the remaining two crash types—the percentages for both head-on/left-turn and "other" types are higher at the actuated sites.

For the after periods, at the fixed-time sites there is a shift to rear-end and head-on/left-turn crashes although the latter is more modest. The off-setting decrease is primarily in the right-angle category. For actuated sites, it is interesting to note that while right-angle crashes increase in number, the proportion of all crashes that this category accounts for is essentially unchanged. On the other hand, there is a significant absolute and proportional increase in the rear-end category and a corresponding decrease in "other" crashes, at least proportionately.

In general, the magnitudes of the shifts with respect to different types of signals are somewhat different than those seen for 4-way intersections although the dominance of rear-end crashes is

still apparent. However, for both 3-way and 4-way intersections, it should be noted that there are fundamental differences in the crash distributions at fixed and actuated sites <u>before</u> the signal is installed. This is, no doubt, due to the types of sites that are chosen to have different types of signals installed.

crash type		fixed		actuated		
		before	after	before	after	
rear-end	count	281	449	53	87	
	percentage	37.02%	50.11%	36.81%	46.52%	
right-angle	count	213	113	27	34	
_	percentage	28.06%	12.61%	18.75%	18.18%	
head-on/left-turn	count	33	74	9	12	
	percentage	4.35%	8.26%	6.25%	6.42%	
other	count	232	260	55	54	
	percentage	30.57%	29.02%	38.19%	28.88%	
total	count	759	896	144	187	

Table 4-13.	3-way intersections:	before-and-after	comparison of crash
	type by signal type 4:	5m (150') from sig	gnal for 2 years

4.5.4.2. Signal Type and Severity

The type of signal installed was also examined with respect to severity. These results are shown in table 4-14. Again, it should be noted that there are some initial differences (i.e., in the "before" distributions) in the severity levels at the two types of sites. There are, generally speaking, more PDOs at the actuated sites. These differences notwithstanding, the results in the table shows that for fixed-time sites, there was a shift toward C-injury crashes, mostly from more severe crash categories; for actuated sites, the shifts were much more slight, on the order of only one or two percentage points (and with a relatively small sample size so that a shift of a few crashes could account for a percentage point of change).

4.5.4.3. Signal Type and Other Variables

As was the case for 4-way sites, the effects of/on several other variables were also examined although little of interest was noted. The sole exception was that for actuated signals, there was a clear shift (in proportional and absolute terms) of crashes to daylight conditions. This was primarily offset by an absolute and relative decrease in crashes occurring under dark/no-street light conditions. No similar shift was evident for fixed-time sites (in fact, for those sites, there was a relative increase in dark/no-street light crashes). For 4-way sites, the significant shifts noted here were the reverse. Again, there is no ready explanation for these changes.

		fixed		actuated	
crash severity		before	after	before	after
PDO	count	538	623	108	142
	percentage	70.88%	<u>69.5</u> 3%	75.00%	75.94%
C-injury	count	127	180	20	28
	percentage	16.73%	20.09%	13.89%	14.97%
B-injury	count	62	63	8	12
	percentage	8.17%	7.03%	5.56%	6.42%
A-injury	count	30	27	7	5
	percentage	3.95%	3.01%	4.86%	2.67%
fatal	count	2	3	1	0
	percentage	0.26%	0.33%	0.69%	0.00%
total	count	759	896	144	187

Table 4-14. 3-way intersections: before-and-after crash severityby type of signal 45 m (150') from signal for 2 years

4.5.5. 3-Way Intersections: Geographic Area

The definitions of the three geographic areas (rural, mixed, and metro) were provided in the earlier discussion of 4-way intersections. There were 10 metro, 25 mixed, and only four (4) rural 3-way intersections. The crash-type distribution for each of the three areas is given in table 4-15 (the comparable table for 4-way intersections is 4-9). Interestingly, the crashes in rural areas actually declined between the before and after periods while 23% increases were recorded for the other two. This is quite different from what was found for 4-way intersections where the differences were greatest for rural areas, less for mixed areas, and least for metro areas.

Table 4-15. 3-way intersections: before-and-after comparison of crash type by type ofarea 45m (150') from signal for 2 years

	rural mixed		mixed	metro			
crash type		before	after	before	after	before	after
rear-end	count	19	36	154	272	161	228
right-angle	count	35	24	123	68	44.48%	51.24%
	percentage	31.53%	22.43%	28.60%	12.81%	22.65%	12.36%
head-on/left-turn	count percentage	7 6.31%	11 10.28%	13 3.02%	.19 3.58%	22 6.08%	56 12.58%
other	count percentage	50 45.05%	36 33.64%	140 32.56%	172 32.39%	97 26.80%	106 23.82%
total	count	111	107	430	531	362	445

The "before" crash type distributions are quite different for all areas with rear-end crashes, not surprisingly, accounting for a higher fraction of crashes from rural to mixed to metro

intersections. The shifts to rear-end crashes resulting from signalization, on the other hand, are more pronounced in rural areas although the final proportion is not as high as it is for mixed and metro sites. Unlike the 4-way sites, the shift in distribution away from right-angle crashes is somewhat more consistent: a ten-point decrease for rural and metro sites, and a 16-point shift for mixed areas.

The severity distributions show that rural sites increased in severity (although overall crash frequencies actually decreased): PDOs had a twelve-point decrease while C and B categories both increased (10 to 16% and 3 to 9%, respectively) and A decreased very modestly (<one point). (See table 4-16.) For mixed areas, PDOs decrease in a relative sense as do A and B categories while the C category increases—what appears to be a sort of "wash" in terms of whether severity increased or decreased. For metro areas, the PDO proportion increases and all others decrease. So, rural areas tended to see fewer, but somewhat more serious crashes, mixed areas stayed about the same, and metro areas saw a shift toward less serious crashes. Finally, it should be noted that all but one of the fatal crashes occurred in the mixed areas.

4.5.6. 3-Way Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effects of Signalization

Based on the analysis of the 37 3-way intersections included in this study, the following synthesis and summary of findings can be presented.

- * Signalization appears to result in a sizeable increase in the number of crashes occurring at 3way intersections—on the order of 20% although that figure varies under different conditions. While there is an (obvious) accompanying increase in the mean number of crashes per intersection (~5), the increase is not statistically significant.
- * The primary shift in crash type is to the rear-end category where there are both absolute and relative increases. On the other hand, right-angle crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms.
- * A large percentage of the increased number of crashes is accounted for by PDO crashes although this category decreases slightly in importance in relative terms. C-injury crashes increase in both relative and absolute terms while B-injury crashes increase absolutely and decrease relatively and A-injury crashes decrease in both senses. Fatal crashes remain the same. "Improvement" in terms of crash statistics is modest, if at all.
- * Rear-end crashes become not only more numerous but also somewhat more severe at these sites. They are the dominant type of crash in each severity category except fatal crashes.
- * Right-angle crashes decrease in number although any shift in severity is modest.
- * Head-on/left-turn crashes increase in number and there is a shift to more severe crashes. The absolute numbers are relatively small and the distributional shift is sensitive as a result.
- * PDO crashes increased significantly and was dominated by rear-end crashes with lesser numbers of head-on/left-turn and other crashes.
- * Fatal crashes at 3-way intersections included one angle-turn crash (before) and five "other" crashes. Four of these (2 before, 1 after) were head-on/left-turn collisions and one was a pedestrian crash.
- * Sites where fixed-time versus actuated signals were installed appear to be different from each other prior to signalization (e.g., different crash type distributions during the before period). Nonetheless, there is still a basic shift to rear-end type crashes as a result of signalization at both types of site.
- * At fixed-time sites, the shift in crash severity is toward C-injury crashes (from less and more serious categories, although the latter seems more dominant) while for actuated sites shifts were much more modest (slight).
- * At rural sites, signalization resulted in fewer crashes while relatively significant increases were noted for mixed and metro sites.
- * The shifts among crash type categories (to rear-end crashes) are more pronounced in rural areas although the shift from right-angle crashes is clear in all cases (a ten-point decrease for rural and metro sites, a 16-point shift for mixed sites).
- * Rural sites saw an increase in severity (although frequencies decreased), while mixed sites had largely compensating shifts among categories for, most likely, no real change in severity, and metro sites shifted toward less serious crashes.

4.6. Analysis of Driveway Intersections

Several of the signal installations provided by MDOT were classified as "driveways" and are singled out for analysis which is separate from the 4- and 3-way intersections discussed in the previous sections. The primary difference with driveways is that these are generally sites where there may not have been a real intersection present during the "before" period—i.e., a typical situation is where a new shopping mall opens and the main entrance is signalized (although this is not necessarily the case). While this may be a typical-looking 3- or 4-way intersection after the mall opened, during the before period it may well have not existed. Moreover, depending on the location of the driveway, the character of the development which it serves, the area, and whether the intersection existed prior to signalization, there may be substantial changes in traffic volumes on the state trunkline before and after the mall opens. In addition, there were only 12 usable intersections in the initial set of intersections provided for the study (and that reduced to nine when the 2-year analysis period was considered). Thus, the attention that "driveway" intersections receives here is very broad—they are not generally comparable to other types of sites.

4.6.1. Driveway Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribution

The total crashes and crash type distribution for driveways are shown in table 4-16. It is seen in that table that the total number of crashes increases from 122 to 189, a 55% increase. While this increase is quite large, it should be remembered that, for the most part, the crashes in the before period included many which were attributable to non-intersection locations (i.e., at least some of the "intersections" did not exist prior to signalization). However, even with the large increase in crashes and the accompanying increase in the mean number of crashes/intersection (from 13.3 to 20.6), the difference is not statistically significant.

crash type		before	after
rear-end	count	24	66
	percentage	19.67%	34.92%
right-angle	count	8	16
	percentage	6.56%	8.47%
head-on/left-turn	count	5	10
1	percentage	4.10%	5.29%
other	count	85	97
	percentage	69.67%	51.32%
total	count	122	189

Table 4-16.	Driveway intersections: before-and-
	after comparison of crash type 45m
	(150') from signal for 2 years

It is also noted that the "before" distribution is quite different from others that have been examined to this point. Only "rural" intersections exhibited so low a percentage of rear-end crashes in the before period. In the same vein, the "other" type of crashes dominates the distribution. The rear-end percentage is in the after period is reasonably consistent with the low end of the range encountered thus far. Examination of the more detailed crash type distribution (not shown) indicates that many of the crashes classified as "other" in table 4-16 are one type of "driveway" crashes or another.

Overall, while these intersections are "different," it is noted that the same general trends as were noted for other more typical kinds of intersections are also noted here—a shift to rear-end crashes once the signal is installed.

4.6.2. Driveway Intersections: Crash Severity

The crash severity situation for driveways is also fairly similar to that noted for other types of intersections: there is an overall, although modest, shift to PDO crashes from the more serious personal injury classifications. The PDO percentage increases from 60 to 64%. It should, however, be noted that while this implies a safety benefit in a relative sense, there were absolute increases in the numbers of crashes in all categories except fatal crashes which decreased from 2 to 0. These results are summarized in table 4-17.

crash severity		before	after
PDO	count	73	121
	percentage	59.84%	64.02%
C-injury	count	30	46
	percentage	24.59%	24.34%
B-injury	count	12	13
	percentage	9.84%	6.88%
A-injury	count	5	9
	percentage	4.10%	4.76%
fatal	count	2	0
	percentage	1.64%	0.00%
total	count	122	189

Table 4-17. Driveway intersections: before-and-
after comparison of crash severity 45 m
(150') from signal for 2 years

4.6.3. Driveway Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effects of Signalization

Based on the analysis of 12 driveway intersections included in this study, the following synthesis and summary of findings can be presented.

- * The increase in driveway crashes is most dramatic, 55%, but may well be attributable to changes in development patterns and the opening of major new facilities (e.g., a shopping mall) rather than the signalization of the intersections *per se*.
- * Rear-end crashes dominate the crash type distribution after the signalization and are generally consistent with other types of intersections.
- * There is a general shift from personal injury to PDO crashes in a distributional sense although all categories (except fatal crashes) saw substantial increases in the absolute number of crashes.

4.7. Analysis of Crossover Intersections

Crossover intersections constitute another "different" type of intersection. These are intersections where the left-turn movements are handled by median (boulevard) crossovers which are beyond the core intersection. There is a variety of geometric and actual signalization possibilities which makes the aggregation of a selected few of these into one group problematic. Indeed, the signalization itself may well be accompanied by significant changes in the geometry that is present at any give site and the allowable turning movements. For these reasons, and the fact that separate studies have been done on crossovers, this type of intersection is also examined in the most general of terms. There were 21 crossover intersections considered here (and only 14 for the 2-year analysis period).

4.7.1. Crossover Intersections: Total Crashes and Crash Type Distribution

The total number of crashes and the before and after distributions by crash type are shown in table 4-18. The increase in crashes, in this instance, is in the general range that has been found for the traditional types of intersections. Moreover, the shifts among crash types is fairly consistent with the findings thus far: the rear-end category increases (in absolute and relative terms) while all other categories decrease except for head-on/left-turn crashes (of which there were very few) increased. An examination of the more detailed crash types showed that left turn-related crashes decreased substantially, which would be expected, although there only a few of them in the before period anyway.

crash type		before	after
rear-end	count	66	90
	percentage	44.59%	54.22%
right-angle	count	32	28
	percentage	21.62%	16.87%
head-on/left-turn	count	1	4
	percentage	0.68%	2.41%
other	count	49	44
-	percentage	33.11%	26.51%
total	count	148	166

Table 4-18. Crossover intersections: before-and-
after comparison of crash type 45m
(150') from signal for 2 years

4.7.2. Crossover Intersections: Crash Severity

Changes in crash severity (table 4-19) were minor in this instance. While the predominant types of crashes were PDOs and C-injuries, there was very little shift between the before and after period although there were absolute increases in all but A-injury and fatal categories. Overall, however, it could be said that these intersections appeared to become at least somewhat safer as measured by severity.

4.7.3. Crossover Intersections: Summary and Synthesis of the Effects of Signalization

Based on the analysis of 21 crossover intersections included in this study, the following synthesis and summary of findings can be presented.

- * There is an increase in the number of crashes which is generally consistent with other intersection types.
- * There is a shift to rear-end crashes which is clear and consistent in both an absolute and relative sense.

crash severity		before	after
PDO	count	101	119
	percentage	68.24%	71.69%
C-injury	count	30	35
	percentage	20.27%	21.08%
B-injury	count	7	8
	percentage	4.73%	4.82%
A-injury	count	8	4
	percentage	5.41%	2.41%
fatal	count	2	0
	percentage	1.35%	0.00%
total	count	148	166

Table 4-19. Crossover intersections: before-and-
after comparison of crash severity
45 m (150') from signal for 2 years

* The severity distributions changed only modestly as a result of signalization although the trend is toward less severe crashes.

5. Summary and Discussion

This study has been directed to the evaluation of the effects of signalizing previously unsignalized intersections. The basic question to be answered was: What happens (from an crash perspective) when an intersection is signalized. In order to answer this question, a set of intersections that had been recently signalized was provided by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). Descriptive data on these intersections as well as crash records were assembled from MDOT files and combined for the analysis. The analysis that has been presented was fairly straightforward and descriptive of general, broad trends for several classes of intersections; simple 4-way, simple 3-way, driveways, and crossovers. The primary focus was on the first two categories. Rampterminal intersections were excluded from this study because of the additional (and different) data manipulation required to identify the appropriate crashes. The analysis that was done was generally directed to considering the changes in the frequency of crashes, identification of intersection and/or signal characteristics that might also have an impact on the crash statistics, and changes in crash severity. Crash rates have generally not been addressed in any detail. The reason for this is the general lack of knowledge about the changing ADTs that the various intersections experienced (i.e., for most intersections, only one characteristic ADT was available, thus, crash rates "show" the same thing as frequency analysis).

5.1. Principal Results

The results that are reported below are based on consideration of a 2-year before and after window around the time of the signalization (less 30 days on either side of the assumed implementation date because of the inaccuracy inherent with that date). It should be noted that indications of increased (or decreased) numbers of crashes should be interpreted with some caution as there was substantial instability in the annual variations in statewide trends in all and intersection-only crashes. Lastly, the relative shifts in severity and crash type should be more reliable because these are largely unaffected by background variation.

5.1.1. Total Crashes

Notwithstanding variations in the background trends in intersection crashes over the entire analysis period, it appears that signalization results in an increase in crash frequency. For 4-way intersections, the increase was about 5%; for 3-ways, it was about 20%; for driveways, about 55%, and for crossover intersections, about 12%. The very large increase in crashes at driveways is most likely explained by the fact that signalized driveways occur in conjunction with large new land uses (e.g., shopping malls), thus, much of the increase is attributable to the substantial changes in travel patterns. These increases can also be expressed in terms of the mean number of crashes: for 4-ways, the increase was about one crash/intersection; for 3-ways, about 5 crashes; for driveways, about 7; and for crossovers, hardly any change. Interestingly, none of the changes in the mean number of crashes was statistically significant. This points to the fact that there was substantial variation in the numbers of crashes per intersection. The variation results from numerous factors (some which can be addressed and some not) and supports the notion that for any given intersection, an increase or decrease in the number of crashes would be difficult to predict, at least without more complex analysis.

5.1.2. Types of Crashes

For all intersection types, the shifts in crash type were as expected *a priori*—that is, angle crashes decreased while rear-end crashes increased. This shift was most always observed and generally fairly dramatic. However, this shift also varies considerably based upon different conditions.

5.1.3. Severity of Crashes

There was generally an increase in crash frequency for 4-way intersections. Offsetting this trend was a shift in crash severity from more to less severe crashes. PDO and C-injury crashes tend to increase in both absolute and relative terms while A-injury, B-injury, and fatal crashes decrease in both absolute and relative terms. On the other hand, the changes in severity observed for 3-way intersections were more modest—i.e., it is not possible to conclusively say whether severity really increased or decreased. For driveways, there was a general shift from personal injury to PDO crashes in a distributional sense although all categories (except fatal crashes) saw substantial increases in the absolute number of crashes. Finally, for crossovers, the severity distributions changed only modestly, although the shift was toward less severe crashes.

For specific crash types, the absolute and relative increases in rear-end crashes observed at 4-way intersections was accompanied by a shift toward minor personal-injury (C-injury) crashes. That is, C-injury crashes accounted for a higher percentage of the crashes after signalization. However, there were absolute increases in the numbers of crashes in all severity categories. At 3-way intersections, rear-end crashes became both more numerous and somewhat more severe.

On the other hand, the relative distribution of right-angle crashes by severity at 4-way intersections effectively remained the same although there were significant reductions in the absolute number of such crashes in all severity categories. Similar shifts were observed for 3-way intersections.

Finally, with regard to the most serious crashes at 4-way intersections, right-angle crashes accounted for all fatal crashes during both the before and after periods and decreased from six (6) to three (3) between the before and after periods for 4-way intersections. The results for 3-way intersections were not as clear-cut.

5.1.4. Type of Signalization

Differences in crash distributions are difficult to relate to the type of signal, fixed-time versus actuated, that is installed since there are differences between these two sets of sites during the before period. That is, sites where fixed-time signals are installed appear to have different crash statistics than those where actuated signals were installed. This was the case for both 3-and 4-way intersections although the same general trends were observed—e.g., shifts to rear-end crashes. There were some modest differences in shifts among severity categories although these would be hard to predict since the number of actuated sites was small.

5.1.5. Type of Area

The type of area where the signal installation took place was also investigated. While results seemed to differ by area type, it was also noted that the trends exhibited for 4-way intersections were not the same as for 3-ways. Thus, explanation of the reasons for these results is problematic.

For 4-way intersections, increases in crashes as a result of signalization appeared to be related to type of area (metro, mixed, rural) in which a signal was found. Intersections in rural areas increased the most (9%) followed by mixed areas (5%) and metro areas (4%). The changes in the mean number of crashes was not, however, statistically significant. Contrarily, rural 3-way intersections experienced fewer crashes while there were relatively significant increases noted for mixed and metro sites.

For 4-way intersections, rural sites tended to shift to more serious crashes while mixed areas had somewhat reduced severity and metro areas had some compensating shifts (fewer PDOs but also fewer A- and B-injury crashes). Fatal crashes occurred in rural areas (2 before) and mixed areas (4 before, 3 after). The results at 3-way intersections were similar with rural sites increasing in severity (although frequencies decreased), while mixed sites had largely compensating shifts among categories for, most likely, no real change in severity, and metro sites shifted toward less serious crashes.

5.1.6. Other Factors

At the level of analysis that was done, other factors that were investigated (e.g., time of day, day of week) did not appear to have an identifiable effect on the results. It should be noted, however, that some specific questions were beyond the scope of this project. For example, the effects of flashing operations were not assessed and could not be picked up through a simple time-of-day examination.

5.2. Discussion

Although (overall) there were consistent increases in crash frequencies for the various intersection types, the changes in the average number of crashes per intersection were statistically insignificant. The latter result was, in all likelihood, due to the variance in the before-to-after changes. Thus, while the changes were evident, they were not statistically large enough. In addition the changes in frequencies (or in average number per intersection) must also be considered in the context of the background trends in crashes. The magnitude and direction of changes in crash frequencies were also seen to vary according to several other factors—e.g., the rural 3-way intersections included in the study actually experienced crash reductions while 4-way intersections in similar locations experienced an increase. Overall then, on average, an increase in crash frequency might be expected as a result of signalization although the magnitude of the increase is virtually impossible to predict and decreases in the number of crashes are certainly possible.

The most reliable finding was that signalization will almost assuredly result in a shift from angle to rear-end crashes. This shift was evident for all types of intersections and, to the extent it could be examined, in all types of situations. There was some variance in the magnitude of the crash type shift. The general shift in crash type is consistent with findings elsewhere.

Overall, there appeared to be some evidence that crashes will be less severe as a result of signalization although, once again, the magnitude of the shift varies by intersection type and sometimes other factors. In some instances, the net increase in crashes serves to offset some of the shifting among severity categories (e.g., while there may be *relatively* fewer "B" crashes, the *absolute* number of "B" crashes may still be higher (as a result of the overall increase in crash frequency).

There was no attempt to develop predictive models based on intersection or signal characteristics or to analyze the intersections (and crashes) at any more sophisticated level. It is possible, for example, that there are more complex relationships among the several characteristics examined that could be identified to determine whether there are differences between newly signalized intersections that experience an increase in crash frequency (or severity) and those that do not. That is, for example, is there any identifiable difference between newly signalized intersections which experience crash increases and those where crashes decrease? Likewise, while there were no general differences related to the time of day of crashes, it may be that flashing operations have some other, as yet undetermined, impact(s). The availability of the combined intersection and crash files produced as part of this project do, however, make such additional investigation possible. Appendix 3-1

Initial List of Intersections from MDOT

WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

iting pont.

33739A 04110 GR RAPI

.

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TRAFFIC & SAFETY DIVISION TRAFFIC SIGNAL STATUS FILE --- HISTORY FIND OPTION REPORT

1

	DATE	- 05~22-95	TRAFFIC SIGNAL	STATUS	FIL	E	- HISTORY	FIND O	PTION REPOR	T WORK	ORDER HIST	ORY D	ATA			``	
											- 1						
L	.T = '01'	SIGNAL	STATEWIDE WOR	RK ORDERS	G ON	LY	TIM	E SPAN	- 0186-1292	1 AII I	nclusive						
0) -CS SPOT	- LOCATION		Li	_ S ł	LAS	TACITON	-DATE-	(REMARKS)	YON THIS		FUND	IR DATE	CSJ	JOR NO	WD NO	AGENC ~
<i>i</i>			DON AVENUE O TOLE DOVAL	т х				- No	E/E W/TRO		MACT ADUC	500	004000		245004	00774	
\sim	31051 00	3 US-41(SHEL	UUN AVEJWE @ ISLE RUTAL :			w 0	COMPLETE	100190	5/5 W/100	12" PEDS	MASI ARMS	- rug - FUG	021290		JIDD9A	03/74	MDUT
- K 1	50040 01	6 US-41(IUWA	BYDACC & MCCLELLAM AVE			- W U	COMPLETE	092890	5/5 W/100	12" PEUS	ER ADV HON	្រាល	001988		30300A	03072	MDUI
\mathcal{X}	52042 03	4 US-41,M-20 7 UC-440D(UA	CHINGTON) & MCCLELLAN AVE			- w O	COMPLETE	000000	5/5 W/ 10C	12 HEADS	DDE-DD STC	m M	112060	NO	303124	03000	
1	52044 UI	3 05-4166(94	ICT) A LATH AVEV			u 0	COMPLETE	020800	S/S W/TRC	12 FEDS	SCHI X-ING	FUG	040207	NU	274034	03420	MDO(MDOT
5	17022 00	1 DS-766 CAS	CARE CONSTINCT SHOPPING (FNTER		w n	COMPLETE	010101		12 HEADS	12" PEDS	STG	032692		344254	04169	MOOT
	17032 00	7 85-76 (ASH	WIN) A M-120/CIENNS MARKI	TDRYO		ພິກ	COMPLETE	052402			12 1203	EHG	060188	NO	292338	03478	MOOT
10	21021 00	4 115-7 115-41	(LUDINGTON) & 30TH STA	01	01	u u	COMPLETE	092392	S/S SEMI	12" HEADS	10005	STG	112090	110	340184	04130	MDOT
0.0	21025 00	1 115-2 115-41	AT N-35 L	01	01	wn	COMPLETE	051089	FUT NB I TO		ADV RESOLU	EUG	100682		293304	03494	MDDT
20	21025 00	1 115-2 115-4	1 @ M-35 (ATH AVE) #	01		u n	COMPLETE	051089	12" HEADS	OH ADV WAR	FLASHER	FUG	012188		293304	03494	MDOT
6.2	75021 00	3 US-2 (RELC	CATED) & CEDAR ST &	01	0.1	พัก	COMPLETE	110587		PFRDDF	1240= 8-84		022880	NO	200004	02574	MDOT
	10032 00	1 US-31 AT M	I = 1.15 (N dCT) k	0.	01	มัก	COMPLETE	071087	S/S CONTRI	12" PEDS &	HEADS	FRG	082586	110	270344	03089	MODIT
L	15011 00	1 US-31(BRT	IGE) AT M-66(STATE)	01	01	พัก	COMPLETE	100590	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	SPLIT WIRE	FRG	111489		314474	03796	MDOT
20	18031 01	1 US-278R(MC	EWEN) & SCHOOLCREST AVE	ζ οι	01	w n	COMPLETE	032488	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	ADV RESOLU	RSG	080886		27742A	03269	MDOT
<u></u>	28011 00	2 IIS-31 @ W	SILVER LAKE RD (CO. RD. 6	sia)ℓ 01	01	-wõ	COMPLETE	111092	S/S W/TBC	RR PRE-SIG	WIDEN=CLLT	STG	091688	NO	33511A	04078	MDOT
	28012 00	6 US-31 M-37	- MANUFACTURERS MARKET	LACE 01	01	wo	COMPLETE	092690	S/S W/TBC	SEMI-ACTUA	SB RT LN	FRG	121589	NO	31331A	03758	MDOT
وحو	28012 01	4 US-31/M-37	● MEIJER DRIVE "B" K	01	01	W D	COMPLETE	050389	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	040887		29381A	03517	MDOT
3.3	28013 02	3 US-31.M-72	(MUNSON) AT HOLIDAY RD .	01	01	ΨO	COMPLETE	050989	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	031488		29304A	03491	MDOT
ha	45071 00	3 M-22 @ CHE	RRY BEND ROAD L	- 01	01	WΟ	COMPLETE	070391	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	WIDN= X-RD	FRG	081188	NO	31369A	03780	MDOT
ba	51011 00	7 US-31 @ ME	RKEY RD 🚣	. O 1	01	WO	COMPLETE	060292	S/S: 4 PHS	12" HEADS	LOOPS=X-RD	STG	102590		33512A	04053	MDOT
A. 3	51012 00	1 US-31 @ M-	55 L	01	01	W 0	COMPLETE	060690	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS		FRG	091889		30712A	03714	MDOT
) 53032 00	5 US 10,31 @	-US-31-RELOCATED (SB ON 1	7AMP)- 01	01	wο	COMPLETE	072090	SEMI-ACTUA	W/S LT PHA	12" HEADS	FRG	012689	NO	30258A	03632	MDOT
F. 3	83021 00	3 M-55,115 🕯	M-55 NW JCT. 4	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	102386	12" HEADS	& PEDS		MNT	062984	, NO		02952	MDOT
化	83032 00	9 US-131 @ B	00N ROAD (CO. RD. 34)	01	01	ΨO	COMPLETE	050290	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	4-W C/SIGN	FUG	063089		30512A	03645	MDOT
24	16021 00	1 M~68(WILSC	N)@OLD US-27(STRAITS HWY)	S. JCT401	01	ΜO	COMPLETE	082389	S/S CONTRL	12" PEDS	WIDEN=CLLT	FRG	070886	NO	28283A	03338	NDOT
44	16021 00	2 M-68 @ M-8	8(OLD 27) N. JCT. 4	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	061786	G.I.= 4-85	GET PLANS	NEED= 6-86	FRG	070183	NO	25616A	02896	MDOT
- 44	16032 01	5 M-27 (MAIN) @ B&C SHOPPING CENTER (DR ~ 01	01	WO	COMPLETE	040391	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	12" HEADS	FRG	111589	NO	31608A	03838	MDOT
~~	16071 00	1 M-108(NICC	LET) @ US-23 4	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	061686	FULL ACTUA	12" HEADS	ADV WARN F	RSG	080585		25393A	02886	TODM
1	16071 00	1-M-108(NIC	LET)-0-US-23	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	051686	ADU RI LNS	ADD LOOPS		RSG	031786	NU	25393A	A2886	MDUI
XA	20021 00	1 M-72, M-93	0 M-93 W, JCI, A	0	01	W U	CUMPLETE	051190	S/S CONTRL	SEMI-ACTUA	12" HEADS	M	093087		30255A	03629	MUU(
~	24011 02	4 US-31 AL M	LEU AVE X	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	002490	S/S SEMI	PEU ACIUAT	IL # REEU	M	001588	NO	30091A	03596	MUUI
44	24051 00	2 US-31,M-68	10ND 00 4	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	092288	STAT ANTUA	EB LAG LIU	SB RIGA	RSG EDC	041585		2/0/44	03263	MDUT
معر	1 35012 00	1 M-03 Q 234		01		พ บ ม ก	COMPLETE	093087	DEDI DOLE	CE OUAD W/	LING M-DO	FRG	012565		27037A	03090	MDOT
	- 05012 00	1 01 - 75 0 M-		01			COMPLETE	093067	REFL FULE	3E QUAD W/	NEED- C-06	000	111270	MO	270374	00011	NDOT
- <u>C</u>	65021 00	1 DL-7J 4-74	55 L 001 A	01	01	ΨÖ	COMPLETE	070387		PEST"N"PED	CONST PEOD	MNT	061284	NO	2034 IN	02905	MOOT
- K.	69011 00	5 BL-75 (OTS	FOD & GRANOVIEW BLVD &	. 01	01	w n	COMPLETE	091588	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FRG	081887	NO	281374	03304	MDOT
84	69014 10	2 1-75 NB 0F	F RAMP @ M-32(MAIN) K	01	01	wo	COMPLETE	072387	SEMI-ACTUA	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	FRG	051386		27039A	03028	MDOT
24	72022 00	2 M-55 Ø M-1	8 @ MAIN (W. JCT.) K	Õ	01	WO	COMPLETE	101687	S/S CONTRL	F/PREEMPT	NB RTGA	FRG	101885	NO	27270A	03158	MDOT
- Ca	72031 00	2 M-55 @ LO)	LEY/MT PLEASANT C	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	052087	SEMI-ACTUA	12" HEADS	WIDEN X-RD	FRG	112684	NO	25666A	02916	MDOT
16	19031 00	3 US-27 Ø RC	UND LAKE RD. /	0	01	WD	COMPLETE	060988	SEMI ACTUA	12" HEADS	ADV WARN F	FRG	032785	NO	27094A	03108	MDOT
	+9031-00	a-US-27-e-RC	UND-LAKE RD	01	01	W D	COMPLETE	060988	RELOC POLE	NE QUAD	ISLAND REV	FRG	041188	NO	27094A	A3108	MDOT
15	19031 01	4 US-27 AT 1	OWNSEND ROAD	01	01	wο	COMPLETE	112090	FULL ACTUA	PED P/BUTN	12" HEADS	м	062189	NO	31528A	03761	MDOT
×.5	19062 00	1 M-21 @ MAI	N ST.L	01	01	WO	COMPLETÉ	042289	S/S: SEMI	ADV WARN	ADV RESOLU	FRG	091085		29084A	03415	MOOT
~~~5	i 29031 01	0 US-278R(SL	PERIOR) AT WOODWORTH ST 7	۰ O t	01	ΨO	COMPLETE	071190	S/S W/TBC	C/SIGN	ADV RESOLU	м	070588		30322A	03625	MDOT
<b>R</b> 5	i 34032 01	0 M-66(STATE	) @ TUTTLE RD (	01	01	W 0	COMPLETE	080489	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	ADV WRN FL	м	042588	NO	29880A	03558	MDOT
	34032 01	<del>0-M-00(STAT</del>	<del>) • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •</del>	, 01	01	WΟ	COMPLETE	080489	ADD PEDS	ADV RESOLU		м	071789		29880A	A3558	MDOT
25	34042 00	4 BS-96(GRAN	D RIVER @ DIVINE HIGHWAY	<b>দ ∈0</b> 1	01	wο	COMPLETE	080787	S/S W/TBC	NO PEDS	ADV RESOLU	RSG	101086	_	27040A	03038	MDOT
4.5	i 37021 01	0 M-20(HIGH/	REMUS) @ BRADLEY &	01	01	ΨO	COMPLETE	100287	S/S W/TBC	WIDEN: X-RD	NOT REQ'D	FUG	082786	NO	27096A	03107	MDOT
_ <b>}</b> _6	41013 01	2 M-44(NORTH	LAND) @ 7 MILE/ROGUE RIVI	R.C 01	01	WO	COMPLETE	121487	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FUG	082285		27097A	03114	GR RAPI
λ5	i 41024 00	4 1-96 WB ON	RAMP @ 28TH ST (	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	011289	S/S W/TBC	EB THRU GR	ARROWS		052788	NÖ	24283A	03440	MDOT
×5	41026 00	3 I-96 W8 OF	F RAMP AT WALKER AVE &	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	112888	S/S: SEMI	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	M	050288		28624A	03389	GR RAPI
<b>ar</b> 5	41027 10	Б I-196 WB C	IFF RAMP @ COLLEGE AVE 🤸	01	01	M O	COMPLETE	121190	5/5 W/TBC	12" PEDS	NB LIGA	IRG	120186		29910A	03557	GR RAPI

OT OT W D COMPLETE 061792 EPAC: SEMI 12" HEADS ADV WRN FL SIG 120191

都5 41027 106 I-196 WB OFF RAMP @ COLLEGE AVE ム 人ち 41031 003 M-37(CHERRY VALLEY AVE) AT MAIN ST 人

DATE = 05-22-95

WORK ORDERS ONLY TIME SPAN = 0186-1292

WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

1	LT = 'O	11' S	GNAL	STATEW	IDE W	ORK ORDER	s oi	VLY.		TIME	SPAN :	- 0186-1292								
	-CS S	POT-	LOCATION	N		L	T S	T L#	AST	ACTION	-DATE-	REMARKS			FUND	IR DATE	CSJ	JOB NO	WO NO	AGENC
برهم	5 41031	004	M-37(BRC	OADMOOR)	AT 29TH ST	0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	100292	S/S:SEMI	PED P/BUTN	LOOPS≈X-RD	STG	031792	NO	34202A	04145	GR RAPI
1	41031	005	M-37(BR	DADMOOR)	B 36TH STREET	Ō	1 0	1 W	ā	COMPLETE	022387	S/S W/TBC	WIDEN M-37	NEED: 4-87	M	121284	ND	26375A	03003	GR RAPI
20	41031	006	M-37(BR	NADMOOR)	B GATH STREET A	Ő	1 0	1 11	ñ	COMPLETE	101988	S/S CONTRI	CILTE ALL	ADV RESOLU	FUG	012886	NO	28133A	03306	GR RAPT
A.	5 41033	020	M-37(AL	DINE AVE)	A 13 MILF PD ≪	õ	1 0	1 W	ñ	COMPLETE	071592	S/S SFMI	12" HEADS	ADV WARN F	FRG	100587	NO	285664	03378	GR RAPI
x i	5 41040	001	96-196(	CHICAGO DI	D) AT HAVANA ST	, o	10	1 14	ň	COMPLETE	112989	S/S W/TRC	12" PEDS		м	030889		301444	03602	GR RAPI
	- 41042	001	53-130(C	DETTIC AL		0	1 0	1 TU	0	COMPLETE	102700	NEMA A DUC	SENT-ACTUA	128 HEADS	STO	020100	NO	341724	04139	
	5 41043	000	M-21 AL	TON A D	VENUE CUNNECTUR	ε <b>4</b> 0	1 4	1 19 4 1.J	ň	COMPLETE	102132	C/C U/TOC	100 UCADC	ADM MON EL	510	020190		200104	07130	CD DADI
	9 41043	018	M-2I(FUL	.1007 0 FC	JREST HILLS AVENU	10 E		1 17 4 1.1	U .	COMPLETE	002000	5/5 #/100	12 16403	EVIND V DD	г U G	100100	20	201004	03000	CD DADI
1	5 41043	020	M-21(W.	MAIN) AL	VALLET VISIA URI			1 W	U O	COMPLETE	041891	5/5 W/ 100	12 7605		M	100189	N/U	321084	03301	GR RAPI
u	5 41051	007	M-37(E E	BELILINE	SB AT MICHIGAN S	1 0	10		U	COMPLETE	122290	5/5 W/ 186	12" HEADS	RI IN UNLY	M	021289		30854A	03730	GR RAPI
Ę.	5 41051	010	M-44(E.	BELILINE	AL 3 MILE RU.	0	10		U	CUMPLETE	120987	S/S CUNTRL	12" HEAUS	ADV RESULU	FUG	072386		270988	03113	GR RAPI
ž	41051	012	M-44(E.	BELILINE	) @ BRADFURD RU ~		10	1 11	0	CUMPLETE	120186	EF-140: JBC	SEMI-ACTUA	NU F.A. \$\$	MNI	071784	NU		02941	GR RAPI
7	5 41051	105	M-441E E	BELTLINE	NB @ X-UV 483' 5 I	BURION O	1.0	1 11	0	COMPLETE	062786	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE		FUG	092584		25183A	02855	GR RAPI
μ	5 41051	205	M-44(E E	BELTLINE	SB @ X-UV 537' N I	BURION C 0	10	1 11	U	COMPLETE	071086	12" HEAUS	HARDWIRE		FUG	092584		25184A	02856	GR RAPI
	5-41051	205	M 44(E E	BELTLINE)	59 @ X 8V 537 N I	BURTON O	10	1 11	8	COMPLETE	071086	ADD PEDS			FUG	031986		25184A	A2856	GR RAPI
	5 41051	-305	M 44(E E	BELTLINE H	\ <del>B~@ X~OV 537′ N </del>	BURTON- 0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	120486	S/S CONTRL	PED P/BUIN	HARDWIRE	M	031986		26421A	02977	GR RAPI
<u> </u>	5 41061	003	M-11(WIL	SON) AT I	LEONARD ST	- 0	10	1 11	0	COMPLETE	090789	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	RESTRIPE	FUG	072887	NO	28709A	03404	GR RAPI
	5 41063	021	M-11(281	TH ST) @ (	CASCADE THEATRE DI	R O	10	I W	0	COMPLETE	111087	S/S:F/ACTU	12" PEDS	ADV RESOLU	FUG	090585		26042A	02978	GR RAPI
(i	5 41081	020	M-45(FUL	LTON) @ 01	TTAWA	0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	022787	RELOC S&G	FR SB RAMP	BY C/MAINT	м	020487				GR RAPI
	5-54010	<u>-014</u>	-UG-13-BF	<del>≈<u>e_</u>U⊊∍18:</del>	<del>1119-MI)-&amp;-19 MIL</del>	<del>E-RD</del> 0	1 0	1 ₩	0	COMPLETE	102386	TEMP END	NEED BY	MID NOV		121082	NO	11421A	02276	MDOT
بې سو	5 61012	010	M-120(HC	DLTON) AT	GILES	0	1 0	1₩	0	COMPLETE	082791	S/S W/TBC		2-3 LN WDN	м	101890	NO	33025A	04007	MDOT
ų	5 61012	012	M-120(HC	OLTON) 🛛 (	DLD ORCHARD LANE	0	1 0	1₩	0	COMPLETE	011189	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FRG	020188		28546A	03364	MDOT
– u	5 61023	005	M-46(APF	PLE) @ MII	LL IRON RD	0	1 0	1 W	Ö	COMPLETE	011289	S/S: SEMI	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FRG	022288		28711A	03405	MDOT
<u> </u>	5 61072	014	US-31 NE	B OFF RAM	P AT SHERMAN BLVD	: 0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	070892	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		STG	081590	NO	33678A	04098	MDOT
74 H	3 61073	011	US-31BR	(COLBY) 🖗	WHITEHALL RD	0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	071586	S/S CONTRL	SEMI-ACTUA	12" HEADS	RSG	120384		25280A	02859	MDOT
	5 61151	006	US-31BR	(SEAWAY DI	R)SEB 🛛 GRAND HAV	EN ROAD O	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	060988	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	NEED 3-88	FUG	102086		28025A	03293	MĐOŤ
<del>}</del> ;	5 61151	007	US-31BR	(SEAWAY DI	R) NWB 🛛 GETTY & .	AIRLINE O	1 0	1 ₩	0	COMPLETE	032091	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	RR PRE-SIG	FUG	102086		31197A	03741	MDOT
4	5 62031	004	M-37(ST/	ATE) @ M-#	B2(CROTON DR)	. 0	1 0	1₩	0	COMPLETE	092587	SEMI-ACTUA	SB ADV WRN	CNTY = NO	FRG	032785	NO	27043A	03032	MDOT
ų	5 62031	004	M-37,M-8	B2(STATE)	@ M-82(CROTON DR	:) 0	1 0	1₩	0	COMPLETE	092587	CHNG AGNCY	TO CITY =	25%	FRG	060287		27043A	R3032	MDOT
<b>1</b>	5 70013	004	US-31 A	T RILEY S	T	0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	061490	S/S CONTRL	WIDEN X-RD	DIR X-OVRS	FRG	073187	NO	28474A	03360	MDOT
1	70013	_004_	US-31 0	RILEY ST		0	1 0	I W	0	COMPLETE	061490	ADD S8 ADV	WARN FLSHR		FRG	012789		28474A	A3360	MDOT
6	5 70013	005	US-31 A1	T FELCH S	т ^	0	1 0	ŧ W	0	COMPLETE	030592	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		STG	091990		33516A	04056	MDOT
L.	5 70013	e101	US-31 SE	B @ X~OVEI	R NORTH OF JAMES	ST. 0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	071890	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		FRG	072689		30510A	03677	MDOT
ě	5 70014	017	US-31 (E	BEACON BL	VD)SB @ COLUMBUS	ST 0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	011889	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	071588	NO	29036A	03461	MDOT
E	70021	004	US-31(B)	YPASS) @ 3	24TH ST	0	1 0	1 W	0	COMPLETE	100787	S/S W/TBC	PED P/BUTN		FUG	111384	NO	27104A	03103	MDOT
7	5 70023	1022	010 8-2	I CHICAGO	DR) @ 36TH AVE	0	1 0	1₩	Ö	COMPLETE	011191	S/S W/TBC	RR PREM:LT	LNS & X-RD	FRG	121084	NO	30617A	03701	MDOT
ĩ	5 70023	.104	0L0 M-2	CHICAGO	DR EBO TARGET ST	ORE DR 0	1 0	1 W	Ö	COMPLETE	013190	S/S W/TBC	HARDWIRE	12" HEADS	FRG	060989	NO	29996A	03574	MDOT
x !	5 70023	118	010 M-2	1 CHICAGO	FB @ X-OV 620' W	SCHOOL 0	1 0	1 W	ō	COMPLETE	043087	EF-140 &	HARDWIRE	TO SCHL ST	М	082084	NO	26425A	02920	MDOT
×.	5 70041	008	M-45(LA	KE MICHIG	AN DR) @ 48TH AVE	0	1 0	1 W	ō	COMPLETE	102587	S/S CONTRI	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FRG	050586		27105A	03105	MDOT
- T	5 09033	010	M-13(HUF	RON) & BE	AVER RD	õ	1 0	1	ŏ	COMPLETE	060188	S/S CONTRI	SEMT-ACTUA	WIDEN X-RD	FRG	102984	NO	27503A	03238	MDOT
$\tilde{z}$	5 25031	004	US-23 SF	B OFF RAM	P @ OWEN RD (US-2:	38R) 0	1 0	1 ₩	õ	COMPLETE	071289	S/S CONTRL	SEMI-ACTUA	WIDEN RAMP	FUG	062684	NO	29373A	03508	GCRC
Ā	5 25042	008	1-69 FR	OFF RAMP	@ MORRISH RD/SPO	RTS CR 0	1 0	1₩	õ	COMPLETE	102287	S/S:POLICE	BOX SB RT	LN:0CT '87	M	032687	NO	274614	03206	GCRC
	25052	044	XM-54881	(SAGINAW)	@ FRANCES RD		1 0	1 W	õ	COMPLETE	072887	REMV FLSHR		NO F.A. \$\$	M	052684	NO	264274	02976	GCRC
7	5 25061	009	M-121(8		HOLIDAY DRIVE	ň	1 0	1 W	ñ	COMPLETE	042986	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	RELOC DRIV	MNT	120184	NO		02906	GCRC
	5 25074	003	M-54(DO	RI) 6 CRM		ñ	1 0	1 W	ñ	COMPLETE	090586	S/S CONTRI	W/ PEDS	DORT EXTN	FUG	061385	NO	253584	02880	6CRC
	5 25074	004	M-54(DOR	RT) or FIS	HER BODY PLANT-GT	BSON RD O	ίŐ	1 .W	ō	COMPLETE	092686	SEMI-ACTIA	W/ PEDS	DORT FXTEN	FUG	050385	ND	256554	02908	GCRC
X	8 25081	030	M-21(CO	RUNNA RD	SEYMOUR RDAD	0	1 0	i W	ō	COMPLETE	122890	SEMI-ACTUA	12" HEADS	ADV WRN FI	FRG	052689	ND	319324	03887	GCRC
¥	8 25092	000	M-15(ST	ATF) & PT			1 0	1 W	ŏ	COMPLETE	072286	WDN M-15#3	INS W/RT 1		FRG	053183	NO	249404	02809	GCRC
ĩ	8 25101	006	-M-57 (VI	TENNA ROAD	D) & SEYMOUR ROAD	0	1 0	1 W	ŏ	COMPLETE	060690	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	122188	NO	306944	03712	GCRC
	8 44014	000	M-24 (1)	APFER DOAL	D) & DRADEN BUYD	. U	1 0	1 W	ň	COMPLETE	100991	S/S W/TRC	12" HEADS	WIDEN=X-PD	FRG	122188	NO	330774	04014	MDnt
47 14	6 44011	000	M-24 (1)	ADFED DOAL		0	1 0	1 W	ñ	COMPLETE	101101	S/S W/TRC	12" HEADS	WIDEN=Y-PD	FRG	121988	NO	330784	04015	MDOT
, k	6 44011	000	е ет (L) Инрад (Ш	AINÌ A DEI	WITTE ST		1 0	÷Ψ	0	COMPLETE	070799	S/S W/TPC	DED P/RITN	X-TNC M-94	FUG	080585		282014	03310	MDOT
7	6 44011 6 44049		M-94(14)	NINJ & DEI	MILLE JI At manie iake drai	n 0	10	1 U	5	COMPLETE	112200	SEME-ACTUA	12" HEADS	WIDN F 150	FRC	110185	NO	287134	03313	NDOT
	2 44012		M-#9(055	FECR RUJ / DAD CT\ 4	AL DAVIO LARE RUA Meuady dd	υ υ 	1 0	ι <del>Π</del>	ň	COMPLETE	100200	C/C. CCUT	12 116403	WIDEN-Y-DD	STC	10100	NO	246604	03402	NDOT
<u> </u>	5 44UJ1 9 6600-	009	M-33(UE)	UAR 517 4	NEWARK RU	040		1 11 1 Li	0	COMPLETE	120392	SCHI-LOTH	12 READS	#10£M#X-KD	510	001000	ΝU	34030A	00700	
	12U0C כ כ	020	m=20(15/	ADELLA KU/	AUJ AI MERIDIAN K	υαύ Ο	1 0	1 11	u	LOMPLEIL	001380	JEM1 AUTUA			FRG	031063		Z491ZA	02790	տողու

£.

WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

مغطيقة فسيعت أأسر ووراز الشرار

LT = (01/ STONAL STATEWIDE WORK OF	29309	ONI	Y	TIM	F SPAN	■ 0186-1292								$\sim$
D -CS SPOT- LOCATION	LT	ST	LAS	ACTION	-DATE-	REMARKS			FUND	IR DATE	CSJ	JOB NO	WO NO	AGENC
\6 56023 033 US-108R M-20(LYONS) EB @ BAYLISS ST	01	01	wo	COMPLETE	050191	S/S CONTRL	PEDS	HARWIRE	FUG	120489		32153A	03910	MTDI AND
L6 56044 004 US-10 EB RAMPS @ US-10BR(EASTMAN)	01	01	WD	COMPLETE	100291	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	SB LTGA	FUG	012390	NÖ	33074A	04018	MIDLAND
76 56044 104 US-10 WB RAMPS @ US-108R(EASTMAN)	01	01	wo	COMPLETE	100391	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	WB RTGA	FUG	012390	NO	33073A	04017	MIDLAND
Y6 73031 001 N-52(SAGINAN) @ N-52(BELL)	01	01	พัก	COMP! FTE	040188	S/S 12"PED	CITY= PARK	REMVI 2-87	FRG	110376	NO	278644	03273	MDOT
VE 73061 002 N-46(CPATIOT) & M-52(CPAHAM)	0,	01	μn	COMPLETE	053090	S/S CONTRI	FR/WR IAG	ITO W/PTGA	FRG	051983	NO	272094	03141	MOOT
6 73061 003 M 46(GRATIOT) $e$ M 52(GRATIAN)	01	01	μ n	COMPLETE	053090	ADD PRESEN		ETO N/ICTOR	FRG	081987	110	272094	43141	MDOT
WE TODED OUT H-AG(CRATIOT) & M J2(CRAHAW)	01	01	<b>υ</b> Ο	COMPLETE	111102	NEMA A DHS	12" HEADS	12" PEDS	STG	040191	NΩ	345514	04181	NOOT
C 73102 017 M 40 GRATIOT & GOLTVIEW CONTRT CLOD D		01	มก	COMPLETE	030000	S/S CONTRI	12 HEADS	ADV DECOLL	TPC	020697	no	200121	03411	NDOT
0 /3101 002 170/3 ND OFF RAMP TO /111ADAWA33EC ND	10 01	0 I	н о и о	COMPLETE	+01000	DETN TEND	CLOS DELOC	CONTROLLER	100	020007		200134	02420	MDOT
*6 /3111 003 1-75,05-23 NB 0FF RAMPE M*81(WASHINGTO	*) 01		# U	COMPLETE	101209	REIN TEMP	DELOCATE	CONTROLLER	10 14	100000		200094	13429	
A TOTI OUT TTO US 23 (NO OFF RAMP) CONTINUIU	10 (1		w 0	COMPLETE	101209	REFLG PULE	ACLUGATE	CONTROLLER	m 100	120800		20009A	A3423	NDOT
NG 73111 UUS 1-75 SB UPP RAMP & DIALE HIGHWAY	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	000108	5/5 W/ 180	12" HEADS	NO 0500	189	062185		27926A	03317	MDOT
Y6 73131 003 M-46(HULLAND) @ M-83(GERA RU.)	01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	062989	S/SI SEMI	12" HEAUS		FRG	053084	NO	29085A	03437	MDUT /
76 73131 011 M-83(MAIN SI.) @ BAVARIAN MALL UR	01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	053190	S/S CONTRL	CONSTRUCT	D LANES	FRG	011885	NU	AUGUE	03704	MOUT
¥5 73171 001 1-75,05-10,23 NB UFF RAMP € M-54,83	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	061992	S/S SEMI	12" HEAUS	1N=1-15-88	FRG	032285	NU	27382A	03184	MDUT
6 74062 005 M~19/M-46(SANILAC) @ MAPLE VALLEY/DAWS	UN 01	01	WU	CUMPLETE	011990	S/S W/ IBC	PEDS: X-RD	REALIGNMI	FRG	031088	NU	301184	03601	MDUT
\$6 79051 003 M-46(SANILAC) AT M-24(MERIZ)	01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	002389	S/S LUNIRL	FULL AUTUA	RESI-N-RED	M CDO	030686		29001A	03446	NDOT
6 79052 001 M-81(CARO RD) AT CLEAVER-ELLINGTON RDS	01	01	w u	COMPLETE	101089	5/5 W/ IBC	12" HEADS	RELUC X-RD	FRG	072087	NO	29026A	03034	MDUT
16 79061 003 M-81(STATE) AT HOOPER-VANGEISEN-CULLIN	G 01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	111386	S/S CUNTRL		NEED= 9-80	MNI	0/0/83		070454	02960	MDUT
17 03023 013 M-89 @ CRUSS DAKS MALL DR	01	01	wu	COMPLETE	073087	S/S CUNTRE	12" HEADS	PEUS	FRG	082385		27045A	03005	MDUI
17 03032 011 US-31(BYPASS) @ CENTRAL AVE	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	061688	S/S W/IBC	PED P/BUIN	UPI AUV WRN	FUG	050786		271124	03106	NDOT
7 08034 003 M-57, M-43(STATE) AT INDUSTRIAL PARK RD	01	01	w U	COMPLETE	061292	S/S:SEMI	W/ LOUPS	WIUN= X-RU	516	082090	NU	33605A	04089	MDOI
↓7 11012 001 BL-94(LAKE SHORE) @ 1-94 SWB UFF RAMP	01	01	w u	CUMPLETE	012788	S/S CUNIRL	NB ADV WAR	1240=12-87	IRG	050486		274014	03182	MUUT
V7 11012 014 BL-94(LAKE SHORE) AT MAIDEN LANE	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	012390	SEMI~ACTUA	12 HEADS	NB RILN	M	042288	NU	29323A	03487	MUUT
₩7 11021 007 US-12 @ RED BUD TRAIL	01	01	WU	CUMPLETE	0/2486	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	NEED= 7-86	FRG	011085		25601A	02895	MDUT
11031 018 US-31 (SCOTIDALE JOUS-33RELUC/MINER	01	01	wu	CUMPLETE	041785	S/S CUNIRE	ADV WARN :	NO US-31	FUG	022779	NU	25123A	02828	MUUT
V7 11052 007 M-63(NILES) AT LINCULN AVE	01	01	W U	COMPLETE	040391	S/S W/IBC	SB ADV WAR	WIDEN=X-RD	FRG	030189	NU	31366A	03779	MDUT
V7 11052 020 US-31 AT GARLAND RD	- 01	01	W U	COMPLETE	041290	5/5 W/ IBC	12" PEUS	ADV WRN=NU	RSG	051387		29927A	03085	NDOI
₹7 13012 002 M-37(WASHINGIUN) @ HAMBLIN AVE	01	01	<b>₩ U</b>	COMPLETE	011487	PRIURITT	3/3,38 LIU	12" PEUS	MALT	001385			02936	MUUI
	01	01	* 0	COMPLETE	011487	REMOVE SD	LI PRASE		MUN F	103186		007401	A2930	MUUT
7 13032 017 M-66(CAPITAL) AT ROUSEVELT AVE	01	01	WU	COMPLETE	050790	S/S W/ IBG	12" PEDS	WIDEN=X-RU	FUG	051788	NU	30710A	03/13	BAILLE
47 13042 003 BL-94(MICHIGAN) @ WEST UR.	01	01	WU	CUMPLETE	030485	S/S CUNTRE	12" HEAUS	WE LI PROH	MUG	072384		25133A	02833	NDUT
7 13061 032 BL-94(MICHIGAN) AT WATTLES RU	01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	021/92	NEMA 4 PH	SEMI-ACTUA	IN= 112/91	FRG	062590	NU	33212A	04055	MUOT
₽7 39013 002 US~131 @ SHAVER RD.	01	01	₩U	COMPLETE	062086	SEMI ; ACTUA	12" HEAUS	REM FLSHR	FRG	100783		23325A	02507	MDOT
£7 39024 004 I-94 EB OFF RAMP AT DAKLAND DR.	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	092289	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		IRG	041988		29696A	03544	MDOT
1/7 39024 004 I-94 EB & WB OFF RAMPS AT DAKLAND DR	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	051491	NTS=WB	PHASING=EB	"EPAC"	M	033090		31576A	03819	MDOT
↓7 39042 017 M-96(MICHIGAN) AT 35TH ST(SHAFTER RD)	. 01	01	WD	COMPLETE	043092	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	RR PREEMPT	STG	062689	NO	33646A	04097	MDOT
X7 39081 017 M-43(W. MAIN) @ TURWILL LANE	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	091286	S/S CONTRL	W/ TBC	12" PEDS	MNT	062885			02961	MDOT
♦7 78051 007 M-66(CENETERVILLE) @ WENZEL/MCDONALDS	<b>DR 01</b>	10	WO	COMPLETE	090487	S/S W/TBC	PED P/BUTN	SCHL X'ING	FUG	102985		27269A	03160	MDOT
17 78061 002 M-86(MAIN) AT CLARK ST (COVERED BRIDGE	J 01	01	WO	COMPLETE	092792	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	ADV RESOLU	M	050692		34427A	04155	MDOT
L8 23012 010 BL-69(LANSING RD) @ ISLAND HWY	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	021288	S/S CONTRL	PEDS: CITY	WIDN X-RD	М	052985	NO	27650A	03254	MDOT
₩8 23041 010 M-43(SAGINAW) @ JENNE ST.	01	01	W O	COMPLETE	082587	S/S W/TBC	WB RTGA	EB ADV FLS	FUG	062185		27048A	03041	MDOT
8 23092 003 M-99(MICHIGAN RD) @ HOLT RD	01	01	WΟ	COMPLETE	100886	5/S CONTRL	SEMI-ACTUA	ADV WARN	FUG	031385		25289A	02869	MDOT
₩8 33011 013 M-99(LOGAN) @ I-96 WB OFF RAMP	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	100490	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	011189		30684A	03692	LANSING
NB 33011 030 M-99(EATON RAPIDS RD) @ BISHOP RD	01	01	W O	COMPLETE	082587	S/S W/TBC	ADV WARN	WIDEN X-RD	FUG	081486	NO	27095A	03109	MDOT
48 33021 009 M~36(CEDAR) AT M-36(ASH)	01	01	W O	COMPLETE	071890	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	WB RTGA	м	121989		30886A	03732	MDOT
-8-33021-009-M-36(CEDAR) @-M-36(ASH)	01	01	ΨÖ	COMPLETE	071890	ADD CPCO	COST FOR	SPAN, POLE	M	070990		30886A	A3732	MDOT
L8 33032 037 BL-96(CEDAR) @ NORTHRUP ST.	10	01	W Q	COMPLETE	062788	5/S CONTRL	W/ PEDS	WIDEN X-RD	M	022785	NQ	27264A	03161	LANSING
Y8 33042 018 M-43 (GRAND RIVER) AT FAIRVIEW AVE	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	082986	PEDS=N.E.S	ADD INTERC		FUG	022081	NO	22954A	02432	LANSING
18 33002/009-4-49(GRAND RIVER) AT-BOOUE	01	01	ΨO	COMPLETE	030486	WB LAG LTO	PEDS*S LEG		MUG	063083	NO	23616A	02527	MDOT
8 33082 000 M-43(GRAND RIVER) @ BOGUE	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	030486	REVISE	DISPLAY	NEED ROW	MUG	072385	NO	23616A	A2527	MDOT
YB 33082 009 M-43(GRAND RIVER) @ BOGUE	01	01	W O	COMPLETE	030486	NO ROW REQ	USE 3-WAY		MUG	010386	NO	23616A	R2527	MDOT
48 33082 027 M-43(GRAND RIVER) @ PARK LAKE RD.	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	082986	WIDEN X-RD	EB LAG LTO	NEED: OCT 1	MUG	021084	NO	25324A	02875	MDOT
	01	01	M 0	COMPLETE	082986	ADD ADV	WARN FLSHR	MEDIAN	MUG	041786	NO	25324A	A2875	MDO I
(8 33082 031 M-43 GRAND RIVER @ DOBIE RD.	01	01	WO	COMPLETE	082587	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	ADV WARN	м	092686		27181A	03133	MDOT

DATE = 05-22-95

4

DATE = 05-22-95

STATEWIDE

LT = '01' SIGNAL D -CS SPOT- LOCATION WORK ORDERS ONLY TIME SPAN = 0186-1292 LT ST LAST ACTION -DATE- REMARKS WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

FUND IR DATE CSJ JOB NO WO NO AGENC

4								- 4						
8	33084	001 I-96 EB OFF RAMP @ OKEMOS RD C	01 (	01	WO	COMPLETE	082587	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	ADV WRN FL	IRG 062685		26911A	03063 MDOT
18	38071	006 M-50(MAIN) @ M-124(WAMPERS LAKE RD) C	01 (	01	WΟ	COMPLETE	013087	S/S W/ TBC	PEDS	LT TURN LN	M 012385	NO	26435A	02947 MDOT
18	38071	015 BL-94(WASHINGTON)/LIBERTY@ BL-94(AIRLINE C	01 0	21	WΟ	COMPLETE	051288	S/S W/TBC	SPLIT PHAS	ADV RESOLU	FUG 010385		27428A	03198 JACKSON
Χ8	38082	2 008 BL-94(MICHIGAN) @ LAURENCE AVE 0	) 1 (	01.1	ΨD	COMPLETE	041189	S/S W/TBC	RR PREEMPT	WB RTGA	020585	NO	21896A	03460 MDOT
الأمد ا	38083	1 001 BL-94(E. MICHIGAN) AT WATERLOO AVE C	01 0	01	₩O	COMPLETE	052591	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	12" PEDS	M 122690		32622A	03949 JACKSON
¥8	38083	1 013 US-127 NB OFF RAMP @ BL-94(MICHIGAN) C	01 (	11	wο	COMPLETE	082187	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	WB ADV WAR	FUG 121984		27056A	03091 MDOT
ā	28082	A13 US-127 NR BEF RAMP @-BL-94(MICHIGAN)	N (	11	W 0	COMPLETE	082187	ADD EB	LOW LEVEL		FUG 080487		27056Å	A3091 MD0T
1ª	38083	041 BL-94(MICHIGAN AVE) @ MELJERS (WEST DR) 0	51 0	51	w n	COMPLETE.	112989	S/S W/TBC		ADV RESOLU	M 101587		302574	03631 MD01
1.9	39101	004 T-94 WB OFF RAMP & US-127 M-50 0	51 0	11	ผัก	COMPLETE	070391	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	NB/SB ADV	FUG 022889		317684	03843 MD0T
10	20144		 	11	ພິດ	COMPLETE	122890	SEMT ACTHA	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FUG 101198		307994	03715 MD01
18	47064				ພ ກ	COMPLETE	030280	C/C U/TOC		ADV RESOLU	FUG 10100	NO	274518	03713 4001
10	47001	OTT DE-SU (GRAND RIVER) & DIRON ST. U				COMPLETE	110701	C/C+CCUT '	TOU DEDE	C /ODCENDT		110	220004	03210 MD01
•8	47061	OID BL"BO(GRAND RIVER) AT HUWELL SCHOOL DR U				COMPLETE	112/31	3/3-3EMI		F/PREEMPI	FUG 102085		33080A	DADLI MDUI
- 46	47062	UTU BL-9D(GRAND RIVER) & CHILSON RD U				COMPLETE	002287	WIDEN X*RD	4-5 LNS;PE	PLN= 3-84	FRG 063181	NU	23617A	U2581 MUUT
<u>_</u>	47062	UTU-BL-UDUCH HIVEN/ CHILDUN NU U		11 1	W U	COMPLETE	062287	REV DISPLY	ADD DRIVE	ADV WRN FL	FRG 112185	NU	23617A	A2581 MOUT
~18	47062	2 OTT BL-96(GRAND RIVER AVE) @ LAISON RD U	л	11	wu	COMPLETE	050691	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	CLLI	FRG 072189	NU	32705A	03936 MDU1
<b>}</b> 8	47082	2 001 M-59(HIGHLAND) AT LATSON RD 0	01 0	01	WO	COMPLETE	101492	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	4-WAY C/S	STG 092791	NO	34398A	04168 MDOT
18	47082	2 020 M-59(HIGHLAND) @ HARTLAND H.S. DRIVE 0	)1 (	01 1	WO	COMPLETE	111788	S/S: SEMI	12" HEADS	NEED 9~88	FRG 010787		28710A	03406 MDOT
¥ 8	58032	2 001 M-50(TECUMSEH/MONROE) @ RILEY & MAIN STS 0	01 (	11	WΟ	COMPLETE	011991	S/S CONTRL	12" PEDS	NE-SE LEGS	FRG 120787		30249A	03651 MDOT
3 B (L	58051	003 US-24(TELEGRAPH) @ SMITH ~ LAVOY RDS 0	01 (	)1 1	WO	COMPLETE	060691	SEMI-ACTUA	W/4-5 LNS	STAGE CONS	FRG 022580	NO	30250A	03652 MDOT
48	58071	. 010.M-125(DIXIE HWY)@US-24 CONN-LUNA PIER RD 0	) I (	01 1	ψO	COMPLETE	081490	S/S W/TBC	ADV WARN F	CLLT = ALL	FRG 082687	NO	28639A	03392 MD01
<b>4</b> 8	58071	027 M-125 @ MABLE KEHRES RETIREMENT CENTER 0	D1 (	)1 1	WO	COMPLETE	081586	S/S W/TBC	SEMI-ACTUA	PED P/BUTN	MNT 112285			02898 MD01
18	58071	028.M-125(MONROE) @ SHOPPING CENTER-N DRIVE C	01 (	01 1	WO	COMPLETE	040490	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	DR REVISED	M 071487		27584A	03249 MDOT
18	58071	028 M-125(MONROE) @ MALL RD (FRENCHTOWN) 0	01 (	111	W 0	COMPLETE	040490	RELOC DR	N'LY AGAIN	REDO DESGN	M 100989	NO	27584A	A3249 MDOT
Ve	81031	TO 10 US-12(MICHIGAN) AT HARRIS ST	) 10	01 1	WO	COMPLETE	091090	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS		FUG 112789		31662A	03863 MD01
18	81041	999 I-94 DETOUR (GROVE RD) @ SNOW RD (RELOC) C	21 (	01.1	wо	COMPLETE	090386	REM SCH FL	INSTAL NEW	S&G: CONSTR	041985	NO		02825 MD0T
¥8	81062	003 1-94 WB OFF RAMP @ BI-94(JACKSON) 0	01 0	11 1	wo	COMPLETE	030290	S/S: SEMI	HARDWIRE	ADV WARN F	IRG 121886		294904	03525 MDOT
VA	81074	LOOS US-23 SB DEF RAMP & GEODES RD	hi d	51 1	wõ	COMPLETE	062188	S/S W/TRC	INTERCONNC	W/CO SYSTM	FRG 061086		277104	03292 MD01
¥9	81074			51	ผัก	COMPLETE	031089	S/S HOWIRE	12ª HEADS	ADV RESOLU	FUG 082686		290874	03439 ANN APR
	01074	: 002 US 20 50 011 NAME & PETHODIN NO : 002 US-23 SB OFF DAME & US-10(W MICHICAN) 0	51 V		ພິກ	CONDISTS	071980	S/S W/TRC	10" HEADS	ADV NEGOLO	FUC 091599		20074	03433 ANN AND
10	01020	$002 \text{ H}_3 20  SD OFF RAME & US (2.00 MICHIGAN) C002 M_37(WASHTENAW & CDOSS) AT SUMMIT ST$			ມີດ	COMPLETE	100000	C/C H/TOC	12 112403		N 000000		200244	03343 MD01
10	01001	002 M-17(WASHILNAW & CRUSS) AT SUMMIT ST U 000 N-17(WASHILNAW AVE) @ TER DODEDTIEC DD 0				CONDICTE	061490	S/S W/100		REMUVE MOI	M 012000	NO	32123A	03635 MUUT
10	01101	O25 M-163(EODD) AT DOCCECT OD		21 I 34 I	- U U O	COMPLETE	000403	5/5 W/100	12" PEDS	RI LANC	PI 012300	NO	29337A	03490 MD01
18	51121	OCA M EQ(MAN DVVC) & ICNNV (CONVCNITION BUND			4 U	COMPLETE	010000	5/3 W/180	AUV WARN	ULLI- ALL	310 101789	NO	33383A	04079 MDU1
	50011	OTA M-DS(VAN DIKE) @ DENNI/CUNVENIIUN BLVD. U				COMPLETE	012988	5/5 W/ IBC	PEU P/BUIN	M-53 UNLT	M 121080	NU	212144	03169 MCRC
19	50012	( 014 M-53(VAN UTKE) @ 28 MILE RU U				COMPLETE	040787	CUNST REQU	REM FLASHR	HULD= PRUJ	M 032080	NU	20438A	02934 MCRC
19	50015	000 M-53 (RELUCATED) @ 32 MILE RD				COMPLETE	083091	5/5 W/ IBC	12" HEADS	AUV WARN F	W 031388	NU	31644A	03849 MCRC
	50015	007 M-53 (RELUCATED) @ M-53 CUNNECTOR 0				COMPLETE	082892	SEMI-ACTUA	RIGA	ADV WRN FL.	M 091389	NU	31646A	03852 MCRC
	50015	OUS M-SS(RELUC) & NB INTERIM CONNECTUR-S OUT O			W U	COMPLETE	012191	S/S W/TBC	12 HEAUS	AUV WRN FL	M 091389	NU	3164UA	03851 MCRC
38	50022	COTT M-59(HALL) @ HEYDENREICH 0	01 0	21	W U	CUMPLETE	012188	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	ALIGN X-RD	FUG 100286	NO	27517A	03232 MCRC
N.	50022	UIB M-S9(HALL) @ IILCH RD./CULUNY DR. 0	n	21 1	W U	COMPLETE	081987	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	SPRING '87	FUG 082385		27099A	03110 MCRC
-19	50022	020 M-59 (HALL) AT RIVERGATE DR 0	31 U		WU	COMPLETE	010287	\$/\$ W/1BC	"PRIORITY"	(6 MONTHS)	M 091985		26228A	03006 MCRC
79	50022	2 021 M-59(HALL)WB @ KEDING ST 0	01 0	11 1	WO	CUMPLETE	042088	S/S W/PEDS	CITY= OK	ADV RESOLU	M 100186		27463A	03200 MCRC
. X9	50031	031 M-97(GROESBECK) @ ULRICH & RUDGATE WAY 0	01 0	01 1	WO	COMPLETE	042087	12" PEDS &	HEADS	ST EXTENSN	M 102385	NO	26441A	02972 MCRC
Дa	50051	001 M-3(GRATIOT) NB @ AURORA AVE 0	)1 (	01 1	W O	COMPLETE	051492	S/S W/TBC	RELOC 200'	1240= 5-91	MUR 080690	NO	26736A	03986 MCRC
¥9	50051	037 M-3(GRATIOT) SB @ X-OVER N OF VOILAND 0	<b>)</b> 1 (	11	WO	COMPLETE	091192	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		STG 100491	NO	34303A	04148 MCRC
V9	50051	O38 M-3(GRATIOT) NB @ WELTS AND GRATIOT ST O	01 (	)1 1	WO	COMPLETE	102488	S/S W/TBC	PED P/BUTN	URB SYS \$\$	MUR 031887	NO	27490A	03330 MCRC
Χg	50051	083 M-3(GRATIOT) NB @ X-OVER S OF WATERBURY 0	)1 (	)1 1	0 14	COMPLETE	091492	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		STG 100491	NO	34302A	04147 MCRC
χ9	50051	∣ 102 M-3(GRATIOT)NB @ X-OVER S OF 9 MILE RD 0	01 (	1 1	WΟ	COMPLETE	070692	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		M 041388	NO	32623A	03946 MCRC
¥ 9	50051	109 M-3(GRATIOT) @ X-OVER N OF 15 MILE RD 0	01.0	)1 1	wo	COMPLETE	120186	RELOCATE	X-OVER = N		MUG 103078	NO	21581A	02243 MCRC
<u>مر</u>	50051	121 M-3(GRATIOT) NEB @ X-OVER S OF MASONIC 0	) 1 (	1 1	W O	COMPLETE	120492	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		M 071886		33267A	04065 MCRC
<b>y</b> 9	50051	156 M-3(GRATIOT)NB @ MESLE AND X-OVER 0	01 0	)1 1	W O	COMPLETE	021988	S/S.HDWIRE	12" HEADS	ADV RESOLU	M 070986		27465A	03217 MCRC
¥9	50051	202 M-3(GRATIOT)SB @ X-OVER N 9 MILE RD 0	51 0	)1 1	wo	COMPLETE	070692	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		M 041388	NO	326244	03947 MCRC
ولا	50072	005 M-29(GREEN) @ COUNTY LINE RD.	11 0	1 1	N N	COMPLETE	121489	S/S CONTRI	SB ADV FLR	WIDEN X-RD	FUG 083084	NO	286384	03391 MCRC
ЧQ	50072	012 M-29(23 MILE RD) AT SEADEN DR	5 i 0	11	มัก	COMPLETE	061689	S/S CONTRI	12" HEADS		M 032787	NO	279374	03282 MCRC
10	B0002	0.05  M - 19(CRATINT)  AT M - 19(MATN)	51 0	11	 	COMPLETE	011290	S/S CONTRI	DED P/RITN	NE LEG	FIIC 072184		28720A	03202 MCRC
						VUNELLIC	011409		TLU F/DUIN	HL LLU			201J0A	しい みしろ 汚しせい

•

WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

	$IT = (01)^{\circ} STGNAL$	STATEWIDE	WORK ORDERS	ONE	Y	TIME	SPAN	- 0186-1292								
	0 -CS SPOT- LOCATION	STRIERIDE	IT	ST	1 451		-04TF-	REMARKS	•			IR DATE	CSJ		WO NO	AGENC
	D 03 SFOT EBORTION			ΰ.			DALLE.	112101114			10113			000		
	A 50111 006 1-94 NB 0	FF RAMP & N RIVER R	n 01	01	wo	COMPLETE	073186	S/S W/TRC	12" HEADS	1240= 8-85	IRG	070584		247694	02773	MCRC
	60111 009 1-94 DEF	DAMPS AT LITTLE MACK	01	01	พัก	COMPLETE	011791	S/S W/TRC	ITO & RTGA	BOTH RAMPS	186	081586		302454	03646	MCRC
	9 60112 001 I-94 NB 0	TEE RAMP & M-29(23 MI	່ເຮືອດ) 01	01	w n	COMPLETE	061688	S/S CONTRI	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	FUG	020386		276874	03264	MCRC
		COAND DIVED) & CDOV	/E CT 01	01	w n	COMPLETE	001000	S/S· MRT	PED P/RITN		M	001705		272514	03149	DCRC
		CORAND AIVENT & GROV		01	<b>u</b> 0	COMPLETE	021200	5/5 W/TRC	12" 45405	3 DHACE	TPC	051695		298124	03459	OCRC
	B C3022 004 1-90 WB 0	NET DAND & WIYON DOAD		01	<b>"</b> 0	COMPLETE	011200	S/S W/TRC	124 115405		IDC	042089		200124	03572	0000
	5 63022 014 1-96 #6 0	TT RAMP & WINOM ROAD	- 01	.01	μ O	COMPLETE	010330	S/S W/TOC	12 HEADS		IPC	042088		200004	03572	0000
	-3-63022 022 1 30 LU C	DIVED TO A V-D FOR V		01	<b>W</b> O	COMPLETE	401000	5/5 W/ 18C		10H LIEADC	160	042088		23630A	03313	00000
	9 63022 110 M~102(GR	RIVER LED ATU 525 W	MIDDLEDELI VI	01	W 0	COMPLETE	121300	C/C W/TRC	104 UEADC		ел 14	011207		203304	03321	OCRC
	9 63022 210 M-102(GD	RIVERINWE & X-UVR SE	MIDULEDELI UI	01	H 0	COMPLETE	121430	3/3 W/TBC	12 11203	MANDWINE	M	011805		3010ZA	03000	OCRC
	5 63031 024 US-24(TEL	EGRAPHISE @ X~UV .D		01	W U	COMPLETE	120407	S/S W/ IDC	12" HEAUS	DTCC-+4-96	FUC	102104		272128	03142	OCRC
	V9 63031 026 05-24(TEL	EGRAPH) @ HICKURY GR		01	w u	CUMPLETE	112487	CANG FLSHR	LATUUT SOG	UISE=11-80	FUG	103184		27100A	03099	OCDC
	9 63042 020 ULD M-59(	AUBURN) @ BARCLAY/PR	(IMRUSE DR UI	01		COMPLESS	091492	S/S "EPAC"	12" HEAUS	12" PEUS	216	012291		33623A	04095	OCRE
	SQ 63043 006 M~59 WB U	IFF RAMP & AUAMS RUAU	I (N. JUI) 01	01	W U	COMPLETE	020087	12" HEADS	WD PASS/FL	AUV RESULU	M EUO	100885	NU	202414	03013	OCDC
	9 63043 007 M-59 EBD	UFF RAMP @ CRUUKS RU		01	* 0	COMPLETE	090387	12" HEADS	ADD TOC	INTERCONNU	ruu	102984	NO	27101A	03100	DURU
	9 63043 008 M-59 WB U	JFF RAMP @ M-15U(RUCH		01	W U	CUMPLETE	051587			"PRIMARY"	M	022884	NU	205204	03052	OCRC
	9 63052 029 US-10(TEL	E) & UAKLAND PIE/SUM	MILPLUK UI	01	W U	COMPLETE	011188	5/5 W/180	ADD C LEG		M	002086	NU	273184	03176	OCRC
	9 63052 030 US-10(TEL	EGRAPH)@ SUMMIT PLAC	E MALL-N UR UI	01	W U	COMPLETE	060688	5/5 W/TBC	UISE NULLE	TEND- 40000	M CUC	002080	NU	273784	03240	
	9.63071 008 M-15(URIU	INVILLEJO GRANGE HALL	. RU/MILL SI UI	01	w U U D	COMPLETE	090992	5/5 W/ 160	12" PEUS	CR 11 0000	FUG	120889	NŲ	322004	03915	0000
	9 63071 013 M-15 (0810	INVILLE) @ SUUM SI	* 01	01		COMPLETE	091092	S/S: EPAG	12" HEAUS	JO LI PRUN	510	020092	10	34173A	04140	0000
	S 63112 017 M-24(LAPE	ERJ @ SCRIPPS RU		01	W U	COMPLETE	090788	5/3:32M1	ADI DEDÊ	WON A-RD	10 11	012985	NO	273854	03244	OCRC
	9 63132 012 M-150(RUC	HESTER) @ BARGLAY CI	RULE UI	01	W U U N	COMPLETE	021788	5/5 W/18C	12" PEDS	1240- 4-01	M 100	010285		214928	03222	DCRC
	9,63172 UU2 1-75 NB U	IFF RAMP @ BALDWIN RD		01	* 0	COMPLETE	002091	5/5 W/TBC	12" HEADS	1240- 1-91 CALL DOX	189	010390	10	31028A	03/9/	OCRU
	9,63172 008 1-75 NB 0	JEE RAMP & SASHABAW R		01	W U	COMPLETE	091989	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	CALL BUX	ING	120186	NU	2800/A	03401	ULKL
	9 53172 000 1-75 NB U	JEF RAMP & JUSLYN RUA	U U1	01	W U	CUMPLETE	091990	5/5 W/ IBC	FULL ACTUA	12" HEAUS	IRG	020889		29891A	03567	UCKC
- Ka	5 63174 004 1-75 NB 0	IFF RAMP @ ADAMS RD		01	WU	COMPLETE	082988	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	SB ADV WRN	IRG	0/0/86		27440A	03245	UCRC
9.	9 63174 208 1-75 SB C	JFF RAMP@ WB BIG BEAV	/ER(16 MILE) 01	01	WU	CUMPLETE	020692	BY CU PRUJ	CU HES \$\$	0K 6007 44	600	012489	NU			UCKC
	19 77052 017 M-29(BUSH	A) @ MICHIGAN AVE	- 01	01	W U	COMPLETE	012491	S/S W/IBC	12" HEADS	CK SPUL 11	FRG	101888		31785A	03868	MDUI
	NO 77091 016 M-136 (PI	NE GRUVEJ AL KRAFFT	RUAD 01	01	wu	COMPLETE	051992	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	GLLI = ALL	EDF	091587	NU	310964	04001	MDU1
	-9 77111 003 I-94 EBD	OFF RAMP @ WATER SIR	IEEL UI	01	WU	CUMPLETE	050288	S/S CONTRL	SEB LAG LI	12" HEADS	IRG	071885		27930A	03270	MDUT
	Ng 82022 018 1-94 EB C	DEF RAMP @ PELHAM RU	01	01	WU	COMPLETE	010887	PRUJECT \$\$	1240=12~86			121580	NU	18880A	03025	WCPS
	9 82022 118 1 94 WB G	HI KAMP @ PELHAM RU-	U1	01	WU	COMPLETE	010887	PRUJECT \$\$	1240=12-86		F.1.0	121580	NU	1888UA	03026	WCPS
-	9,82052 014 US-24(TEL	EGRAPH) SB UFF RAMP	@ ECURSE RD 01	01	WU	COMPLETE	050788	5/5 W/ IBC	12" HEADS		FUG	080185		27996A	03288	WCPS
	9,82052 103 US-24(TEL	EGRAPH)SB @ X-OVER N	OF GODDARD 01	01	W U	CUMPLETE	091788	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		FUG	073081	NU	28026A	03295	WCPS
	54 82052 113 US-24LIEL	EGRAPHINBOX-UV 675	S NORTHLINE 01	01	WU	COMPLETE	092488	S/S CUNTRL	HARDWIRE	EXTEND LN	FUG	022885	NU	28254A	03323	WCPS
	9,82053 104 US-24(TEL	EGRAPHISBO X-OV 700'	N OF WARREN 01	01	W U	COMPLETE	092086				FUG	052383	NU	23112A	02461	WCHC
	9,82053 106 US-24(TEL	EGRAPHISBO X-UV 690'	N - CHICAGO DI	01	W U	CUMPLETE	053186				FUG	052383	NU	23118A	02466	WCRC
	9 82053 204 US-24(TEL	EGRAPHINE® X-OV 650'	5 OF WARREN OT	01	W U	COMPLETE	092086				FUG	052383	NU	23114A	02463	WCRC
	9 82081 043 M-153(FUR	(D) WB @ ARIESIAN		01	W U	COMPLETE	032888	S/S CUNIRL	& LUW LEVE	ADV RESULU	FUG	000185	NO	27062A	03021	WEPS
	¥ 82081-062-M-152-4+0		TNG-GENLER 01	01	W U	COMPLETE	002/87	5/5 W/MB1	PEU P/BUIN	NEED 4-8/	M	101686	NU	20997A	03083	WUPS
	34 82081 062 M-153(FUR	(U) @ HEIGHIS SHOPPIN	IL CENTER 01	01	4 U 51 A	COMPLETE	001500	AUU UE CU		AON HEADS	M	000087		209978	A3083	WGPS
	19,82081 064 M-153(FOR	(D) AT CENTRAL CITY P	ARKWAY 01	01	W U L C	COMPLETE	091590	5/5 W/18C	F/PREEMPT	TZ" HEADS	M	070000	มด	J1449A	03782	WCPS
	9,82081 065 M-153(FUR	(D) MURIUN-TAYLOR R	(U) U1	01	W D	COMPLETE	081/91	5/5 W/IBC	12" PEUS	WIDEN=A-RU	FUG	100001	NU	32843A	04124	WCPS
	9,82101 011 ULU M-14	ANN ARBUR RUJ @ BECK		01	# U 14 A	COMPLETE	101692	5/3 W/180	12" HEADS	ADV WRN PL	51G M	100891	NO	34019A	02665	WCPS
		PETHOUTHJ VE TECH CEN	LIER DR. UI	01	# U U C	COMPLETE	121009	5/5 W/ 180	IZ" PEUS	REVISE UR	14	110000	NU	30430A	03665	WOPS
	34,82143 205 M-10218 M	אונבן אם פי ג-טע 650' אונבן בם איי א-טעט אינאס	E DEQUINURE UT	01	W U	COMPLETE	037393	575 CUNTRE	IZ" MEAUŞ C/C W/TRC	HARDWIKE	M	110888	NO	23913A	03083	WCPS
	3 82143 217 M*102(8 M	NILEJ ED (P A-UVK NEAK		01	# U 14 P	COMPLETE	092381	C/C U/TPC	3/3 W/100	12" READS	M	000083		20980A	03073	WCPS
	- 5582144 023 M~102(VEN	DILENT WOLF & MILLE KD		01	ΨU ΨΩ	COMPLETE	110400	5/3 W/180		42" HEADC	M	030303	10	300724	03201	WCPS
	2, 54211 113 M-83(FURI	i) ND ₩ Λ-UV 465' 3 E		01	- U	COMPLETE	10493	3/3 CUNIRL	DARDWIRE,	TZ FICAUS	1ei	034400		300134	03080	#CP3

DATE = 05-22-95

. .

Q.29927000000

S. 14.

이 가슴다. 김 관법값이 다

1

DATE = 05-23-95	TRAFFIC SIGNAL STATUS	FIL	E HISTO	ORY F	IND OF	TION REPORT	T WORK	ORDER HISTOR	Y DATA			
						- 101	100.14					
LI = 'UI' SIGNAL STATEWIDE	CUNIK SIG J	UB,	51 = 01		AGI	ENCY =	JUB NU	] ≡ 1 = 0196-1000				
D -CS SPOT- LOCATION	11	ST.	LAST ACTIC	0N -	-DATE-	DEMARKS	ILME SPAT	4 = V180-1292 C				ACENOV
D CS SPOT ECCATION		31	CAST ACTIC		DATE-	REMARKS		r	UND IR DAT	- 150	UUB NU	AGENCY
\5 37011 001 US-27BR(MISSION) AT	BLUEGRASS/CAMPUS DR 01	01	CONTRACT (	срт а	052191	S/S:SEMI	ACTU=LT PH	12" PEDS	FUG 091289	YES	311554	MDOT
15 37021 009 M-20(HIGH) AT WATSON	ST 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 0	)42292	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	12" PEDS	FRG 030890	YES	32032A	MDOT
15 41031 010 M-37(BROADMOOR) AT B	ARDEN DR (STEELSTOW) 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	122691	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		EDA 091390	YES	31264A	GR RAPIDS
5 41033 113 M-37(ALPINE) AT GREE	N RIDGE/K-MART DRIVE 01	01	CONTRACT C	СРТ О	080889	S/S: FULL	ACTUA: EPAC	12" PEDS	050587	YES	CITY	GR RAPIDS
	-MILE-RD 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	112091	S/S W/TBC	NEMA 8 PHS	NEGOTIATE	FUG 082490	YES	25746A	GR RAPIDS
	₱-5-MILE ROAD 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	121388	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG 021087	YES	27964A	GR RAPIDS
-5-41051-106-H-44(E_BELTLINE)NR @	X-DV 650' S LEONARD 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	121990	BLVD CONST	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	FUR 031389	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
5 41051 111 I-06 WB OFF RAMP 6 M	-44_(E BELTLINE) 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	121990				FUR 121289	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
5 41051-112 M-44(E-BELTLINE)NBe-	X-OV 200' S BRADFORD 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	121990	BLVD CONST	S/S W/TBC	LOOPS	FUR 031389	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
5 41031 206 M-44(E BELTLINE)SB @	X-0V 630' N LEONARD 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	121990	BLVD CONST	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	FUR 031389	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
		01	CONTRACT C	CPI 1	121990	TEMP S&G	STAGE CONS	REIN=FINAL	FUR 121289	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
3 41031 212 M-44(1-DELTEINE/300-	X-OV OUD N BRAUFURD 01	01	CUNTRACT C	CPI 1 CDT 4	121990	BLVD CONST	S/S W/IBC		FUR 031389	YES	25745A	GR RAPIDS
>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	INS AVE UT	01	CONTRACT C	CPI 1 CPT 0	112387	S/S SEMI	PED P/BUIN	CABLE IV	M 071387	YES	000054	MDO(
NO 41003 020 M-11(2817 31) AT ENG	ALLEY STATE UNIN DD) OF	01	CONTRACT (	CPI 0 CPI 4	120330	C/C ACTUA	IZ" PEDS	PED P/BUIN	FUG U31088	VEC	29980A	GR RAPIUS
16 44012 012 M-24 (LAPFER RD) 6 D	ALEY RD 01	01	CONTRACT	CPT O	182592	S/S W/TRC	12" HEADS	ANV WON FI	FDG 000365	VES	300338	MDOT
\$6 73033 013 M-84(BAY) @ SAGINAW	VALLEY UNIVERSITY DR 01	01	CONTRACT O	СРТ О	61991	S/S:SENT			FRG 032390	YES	311564	MOOT
16 76062 014 M-21 @ OWOSSO MALL/B	ONANZA 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	120787	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	C/SIGN	FIIG 021886	YES	257374	MDOT
N7 03023 011 M-89 AT 12TH ST	· 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 0	071390	S/S W/TBC	PED P/BUTN	NEGOTIATE	FRG 042988	YES	29988A	MDOT
- 7 03072 002 M-40(LINCOLN) AT M-4	0(48TH/146TH) 01	01	CONTRACT O	CPT 1	111992	S/S W/TBC	N/S LT PHS	POLICE BOX	EDA 051591	YES	29534A	MDOT
7 11016 101 1-94 NEB OFF RAMP @	PIPESTONE RD 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	120189	RELOC RAMP	NEW S&G	S/S W/TBC	IRG 010286	YES	28840A	MDOT
>7 11057 002 PROPOSED US-31 AT RE	LOCATED US-31 01	01	CONTRACT O	CPT 1	102292	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	WB ADV C/S	FR 013190	YES	29512A	MDDT
>7 12021 011 US-12(CHICAGO) AT WE	STERN/BUTTERS AVE 01	01	CONTRACT C	СРТ О	031692	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	12" PEDS	FUG 052289	YES	32036A	MDOT
>7 13043 009 BL-94, M-99(MICHIGAN)	AT INGHAM 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT O	070789	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS	ADV RESOLU	FUG 121686	YES	27968A	MDOT
N7 13061 047 M-89(MICHIGAN) AT ST	RINGHAM 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 0	073191	S/S W/TBC			FUG 053188	YES	31158A	BATTLE CK
7 39013 001 US-131 SB OFF RAMP A	T CENTRE 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	111187	S/S W/TBC	ADD=DISTWD	CONTRACT	FUG 101486	YES	27384A	MDOT
\[ \7 39081 014 M-43(W. MAIN) AI LUU \[ \7 39082 047 H 47(0001) \] \[ \7 39081 014 M-43(W. MAIN) AI LUU \]	GE LANE/101H 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	112388	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG 012787	YES	27968A	MDOT
~ 7 39082 017 M-43(GULL) @ "G" AV c 7 78040 004 US-434 M-60 AT 80040	E 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPI 1	111387	S/S: SEMI	12" HEADS	M-43: CLLT	FUG 042386	YES	25739A	MDOT
7 70012 004 US-131,M-00 AT BRUAD		01	CONTRACT C	CPT 0	J52990	S/S W/ IBG	12" HEADS	NB AUV WAR	FUG 101287	YES	29988A	MDOT
LA 33032 132 BL-96(CEDAR) AMASON S	T/THEAC HEART SCHOOL OF	01	CONTRACT (	CFT 0	141391 162700	DED ACTUAT	SAR 42	PERMANENT DETNI ETNAL	M 042288 NUD 100007	163	29347A	MUUT
8 47014 010 HS-23 NB DEF RAMP 6	M-59 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT O	101100	C/C W/TRC	STAGE CONS	REIN FINAL	MUK 103087 EDC 101700	TES	30499A	LANSING
8 47014 110 US-23 SB OFF RAMP 0	M-59 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT O	121492	S/S W/TRC			FDC 101769	VEC	32038A 22038A	
N8 81011 007 M-52 AT CHELSEA COMM	UNITY HOSPITAL DR 01	01	CONTRACT O	СРТ О	030392	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	12" PEOS	FRG 052990	YES	320384	MDOT
	STIN RD (RELOCATED) 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 1	102392	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	STG \$=6-92	NHG 050190	YES	340154	MDOT
38 81074 105 US-23 NB OFF RAMP @	GEDDES RD 01	01	CONTRACT O	СРТ О	012892	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	2-W C/SIGN	FRG 100489	YES	32038A	MDOT
9 50011 112 M-53(VAN DYKE) NB @	X-OVER 610' S 15 MI 01	01	CONTRACT C	СРТ О	)82289	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
-9 50011 116 M-53(VAN DYKE) NB @	X-OVER 620' \$ 16 MI 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	101789	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
9 500TT 124 M-53(VAN DYKE)SB @ X	-OV 400' N 16 1/2 MI 01	01	CONTRACT C	СРТ О	31590	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
<u>-9.50011</u> 125 M-53(VAN DYKE)SB @ X	-OV 210' N PLUMBROOK Of	01	CONTRACT C	CPT O	031590	S/S W/TBC	F/PREEMPT	12" HEADS	MU 030487	YES	25564A	MCRC
-9-50011 135 M-53(VAN DYKE) NB @	X-OVER 700' S 17 MI 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 0	031590	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
9 50011 155 M-53(VAN DYKE)NB @ X	-OV 150' S BROUGHAM 01	01	CONTRACT	CPIO	)92889	S/S CONTRL			MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
9-3001T 212 M-53(VAN DIKE) SE 0	X-UVER 620' N 15 MI 01	01	CUNTRACT (	CPT 0	181689	S/S CONTRE	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	MU 051586	YES	25657A	MCRC
	ATUVER DIU NIG MI UT	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 0	110889	C/C 4/190	E /DDEENDT		MU U51586	YES	25657A	MCRC
-9 50011 233 N-53(VAN DIRE/ND @ X	. GV 200 - 3 PLOMBROOK 01 X→AV 6304 N 18 M74 F - 01	01	CONTRACT	сет О Срт о	131590	5/3 #/100 5/5 CONTON	12" HEADS		MU US1287	TES	20004A	MCRC
9 50011 235 M-53(VAN DYKF) SR @	X~0VFR 650' N 17 MT 01	01	CONTRACT	CPT O	31590	S/S CONTRE	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	-000987 *****	YES	255644	MCDC
9 50011 255 M-53(VAN DYKE)SB @ X	-OV 330' S BROUGHAM 01	01	CONTRACT (	CPT 0	192889	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	, monthe	WI 041397	YES	256574	MCDC
-9 50011-316 16 MI RD(EB)@ X-DV 3	90' W M-53(VAN DYKE) 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	02389	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	U 041387	YES	256574	MCRC
9 50011 416 16 MI RD(WB)@ X-OV 5	70' E M-53(VAN DYKE) 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT O	12990	S/S CONTRL	12" HEADS	HARDWIRE	MU 041387	YES	256574	MCRC
▶9 63031 029 US-24(TELEGRAPH)SB @	DENSO DR(S FRANKLIN 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 1	00389	S/S:HARDWR	12" HEADS	NEGOTIATE	FUG 071488	YES	27970A	OCRC
N9 63031 030 US-24(TELEGRAPH)NB @	X-OV 980' N 8 MI RD 01	01	CONTRACT C	CPT C	062590	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG 042588	YES	29991A	OCRC
▶9 63031 031 US-24(TELEGRAPH)NB@	RALEIGH OFFICECENTRE Of	01	CONTRACT C	CPT 0	062590	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	HARDWARE	FUG 020789	YES	29991A	OCRC

AGENCY =

.

CONTR SIG JOB, ST = 01

WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

JOB NO = TIME SPAN = 0186-1292

.3 .5 .

1.9

D -CS SPOT- LOCATION	LT	ST	LAST ACTION	1 -D/	ATE-	REMARKS			FUND	IR DATE	CSJ	JOB NO	AGENCY
						- /							
\9 63031 105 US-24(TELEGRAPH) SB @ X-OV N LONG LK RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 06	1190	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	12" HEADS	FUG	042987	YES	29991A	OCRC
V9 63031 205 US-24(TELEGRAPH) NB @ X-DV S LONG LK RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	'T 061	1190	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	12" HEADS	FUG	042987	YES	29991A	OCRC
9 63041 008 M-59(HIGHLAND) @ PORTER RD(FIRE STATION)	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 02	1491	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	NEGOTIATE	FUG	080389	YES	31161A	OCRC
N9 63041 018 M-59(HIGHLAND) @ PONTIAC LAKE ROAD W JCT	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 040	0389	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	021986	YES	27970A	OCRC
>>9 63041 036 M-59(HIGHLAND)	01	01	CONTRACT CP	PT 022	2090	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS		FUG	090688	YES	29991A	OCRC
∿9 63041 046 M-59(HIGHLAND) @ OAKLAND BLVD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	YT 12	1087	S/S W/TBC	SEMI-ACTUA	PED P/BUTN	FUG	122684	YËS	25743A	OCRC
▶9 63043 020 M-59 WB OFF-RAMP @ CROOKS RD	01	01	CONTRACT OF	YT 02	1789	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	090887	YES	27970A	OCRC
N9 63043 021 M-59 EB OFF RAMP @ M-150(ROCHESTER)	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 021	1089	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS	NB RTGA	FUG	091587	YES	27970A	OCRC
N9 63043 022 M-59 EB OFF-RAMP @ ADAMS ROAD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 010	0291	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUR	100187	YES	28381A	DCRC
\9 63051 010 M-1 NB (WOODWARD)	01	01	CONTRACT CF	YT 10	1789	RELOC S&G	(FS #5)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
N9 63051 110 M-1 NB (WOODWARD) @ I-696 EB SERVICE RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	YT 101	1789	RELOC S&G	·(FS #6)		1	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
>9 63051 111 M-1 SB(WOODWARD)@SB WASHINGTON & LT RDWY	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 100	0989	NEW S&G	(FS #4)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
NO 63051 124 M-1 (WOODWARD)SB @ X-OVER N OF LONG LAKE	01	01	CONTRACT CF	YT 090	0589	S/S CONTRL	DRIVE= NO		MUR	061986	YES	22731A	OCRC
`9 63051 210 M-1 SB (WOODWARD)	01	01	CONTRACT CF	T 101	1789	RELOC S&G	(FS #7)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
▶9 63051 224 M-1(WOODWARD)NB @ X-OVER S OF LONG LAKE	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 090	0589	S/S CONTRL	SPLIT WIRE		MUR	061986	YES	22731A	OCRC
№ 63051 310 M-1 SB (WOODWARD) @ 1-696 EB SERVICE RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	YT 10	1789	RELOC S&G	(FS #8)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
N9 63052 031 US-24(TELEGRAPH)SB @ X-OVER TO HUMPHERY	01	01	CONTRACT OF	י <b>ד 10</b> 1	1090	S/S W/TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	040889	YES	31161A	DCRC
>>9 63052 201 US-24(TELEGRAPH)SB @ X-OV 550' N US-24BR	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 040	0689	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		М	042886	YES	25492A	OCRC
>9 63053 003 US-24(DIXIE)	01	01	CONTRACT CF	Y 03	1692	S/S W/TBC	RR PRE SIG		FUG	011889	YES	32041A	OCRC
5 63053 003 US-24(DIXIE) @ HATCHERY RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	°T 03	1692	REMOVE EX	FL/BEACON	ADD PEDS	FUG	031191	YES	32041A	OCRC
	01	01	CONTRACT CF	°T 03	1692	ADD LOW LV	NB ADV WAR	NEGOTIATE	FUG	040192	YES	32041A	OCRC
N9 63071 011 M-15(MAIN) @ WALDON RD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 100	0590	S/S W/TBC	WIDEN SB &	X-RD= 2 LN	FUG	120784	YES	28456A	OCRC
NO 63071 014 M-15(ORTONVILLE) @ BRANDON SCHOOL DRIVE	01	01	CONTRACT CR	YT 09:	2887	S/S CONTRL	SEMI-ACTUA	PED P-BUTN	FRG	120784	YES	25743A	OCRC
>9 63082 017 M-4(NORTHWESTERN)SEB @ X-OV 660' S 12 MI	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 03	1688	S/S W/ TBC	12" HEADS		FUG	090385	YES	25743A	OCRC
9 63082 108 M-10(NORTHWESTERN)SEB@X-OV NW MIDDLEBELT	01	01	CONTRACT CF	•т Оз	1089	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE		FUG	110586	ŶES	27970A	OCRC
N9 63082 113 M-10(NORTHWESTERN)SEB @ X-OV N 13 MILE	01	01	CONTRACT OF	PT 030	0989	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	12" HEADS	FUG	091186	YES	27970A	OCRC
N9 63082 213 M-10(NORTHWESTERN)NWB @ X-OV S 13 MILE	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 030	0989	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	12" HEADS	FUG	091186	YES	27970A	DCRC
N9 63082 412 M-4(NORTHWESTERN)SEB0X-OV/FRANKLIN(S LEG	01	01	CONTRACT C	Υ 022	2288	S/S W/TBC	12 "PEDS	COORD:#312	FUG	120283	YES	25743A	OCRC
N9 63082 412 M-4(NORTHWESTERN) @ FRANKLIN RD	01	01	CONTRACT C	°T 02:	2288	CITY AGREE	FRANKLIN	1-WAY SB	FUG	111484	YES	25743A	OCRC
N9 63102 003 I-696 WB SERVICE DR @ GREENFIELD RD	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 12	0589	S/S W/TBC	12" PEDS		1	020687	YES	21961A	OCRC
N9 63102 004 1-696(NEW) WB SERVICE DR @ SOUTHFIELD RD	01	01	CONTRACT CH	YT 12	1889	NEW S&G	STAGE CONS	SFS-2		060386	YES	21958A	DCRC
>9 63102 008 I-696 WB SERVICE DR  € EVERGREEN	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12:	2089				I	060286	YES	21958A	OCRC
√9 63102 009 I-696 WB SERVICE RD @ MAIN ST	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 100	0489	RELOC S&G	(FS #1)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
№ 63102 010 I-696 WB SERVICE RDΦ SB WOODWARD LT RDWY	01	01	CONTRACT CE	T 10	1689	NEW S&G	(FS #9)		I	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
√9 63102 01241-696 SERVICE DRS. @ MOHAWK / BERMUDA	01	01	CONTRACT CH	PT 03	1888	SEMI-ACTUA	PED P/BUTN	NEGOTIATE		102687	YES		OCRC
V9 63102 013 I-696 EB SERVICE DR @ CENTRAL PARK BLVD	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 120	0189	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	NEGOTIATE		121588	YES	21958A	OCRC
N9 63102 014 I-696 WB SERVICE DR @ CENTRAL PARK BLVD	01	01	CONTRACT CF	γL 15	0189	S/S CONTRL	HARDWIRE	NEGOTIATE		121588	YES	21958A	OCRC
>9 63102 015√1-696 WB SERVICE DR  MANISTEE	Ú1	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 070	0390	S/S:SEMI	LOOP, PEDS	NEGOTIATE	I	051189	YES	21958A	OCRC
N9 63102 102 I-696 WB SERVICE DR @ COOLIDGE HWY	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 042	2089	TEMP 2 PHA	4 DIRECTNS	S/S CONTRL		101784	YES	21859A	OCRC
√9 63102 103 I-696 EB SERVICE DR	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 120	0589	S/S CONTRL	12" PEDS	HARDWIRE	1	020687	YES	21961A	OCRC
>9 63102 104 1-696 EB SERVICE DR  € SOUTHFIELD RD	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12	1289	NEW S&G	STAGE CONS	SFS-1	I	060286	YES	21958A	DCRC
9 63102 107 I-696 WB SERVICE DR @ SCOTIA RD	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 042	2089	S/S CONTRL	& HARDWIRE			101784	YES	21859A	DCBC
>9 63102 108 I-696 EB SERVICE DR € EVERGREEN	01	01	CONTRACT OF	T 12	1289	NEW S&G	CONSTR		I	061085	YES	23425A	0080
>9 63102 109 I-696 EB SERVICE RD @ MAIN ST	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 10	0489	RELOC S&G	(FS #2)		ī	120285	YES	19806A	OCRC
9 63102 110 I-696 EB SERVICE RD@ SB WOODWARD LT RDWY	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 10	1689	NEW S&G	(FS #10)		ī	120285	YES	198064	OCRC
9 63102 202 I-696 EB SERV DR @ X-OVR 450' W COOLIDGE	01	01	CONTRACT CF	PT 04:	2089	S/S CONTRL	& HARDWIRE		-	101784	YES	21859A	OCRC
9 63102 203 I-696 WB SERV DRe X-OV 350' E GREENFIELD	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12	1289	S/S CONTRL	12" PEDS	HARDWIRE	I	020687	YES	219614	OCRC
9 63102 204 I-696 EB SERVICE DR @ X-OV W SOUTHFIELD	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12	1489	NEW S&G	STAGE CONS	STS-2	Ī	060286	YES	219584	OCRC
9 63102 208 1-696 WB SERVICE DR @ X-OVER E EVERGREEN	01	01	CONTRACT CF	T 12	1289	NEW S&G	CONSTR		ī	061085	YES	234254	OCRC
9 63102 302 1-696 WB SERV DR @ X-DVR 450' E COOLIDGE	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 04	2089	S/S CONTRI	8 HARDWIRF		-	101784	YFS	218594	DCRC
9 63102 303 I-696 EB SERV DRe X-OV 430' W GREENFIELD	01	01	CONTRACT CE	PT 12	1289	S/S CONTRI	12" PEDS	HARDWIRE	I	020687	YFS	219614	OCRC
9 63102 304 1-696 WB SERVICE DR @ X-OV E SOUTHFIELD	01	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12	1489	NEW S&G	NEGOTIATE	ESU 10-88	ī	060286	YES	219584	OCRC
S 63102 308 I-696 EB SERVICE DR @ X-OVER W EVERGREEN	Õi	01	CONTRACT C	PT 12	1289	NEW S&G	CONSTR		Ī	061085	YES	23425A	OCRC
				· · · -			· · · •		-				_

DATE = 05-23-95

LT = '01' SIGNAL

STATEWIDE

#### MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TRAFFIC & SAFETY DIVISION

r

TRAFFIC SIGNAL STATUS FILE --- HISTORY FIND OPTION REPORT WORK ORDER HISTORY DATA

te i ju

144

L	ľ =	101	' s	IGNAL	STATEWIDE	CONTR S	IG	ЮВ,	\$T =	01		AGI	ENCY	=	JOB NO	) =	106-120	20				
Ð	-09	S SP	от-	LOCATION			LI	r st	LAST	ACT	ION	-DATE-	REMA	RKS	TIME JFAI	1-0	100-123	FUND	IR DATE	CSJ	008 NO	AGENC
<b>`</b> 9	63	102	408	I-696 EB :	SERV DR@ FINAL X-OV W	EVERGREE	N OT	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	121289	NEW	58.G	STAGE CONS	SES-5	5A	I	060286	YES	21958A	OCRC
<u>\9</u>	63	102	713	GREENFIEL	D RD (SB) @ X-OVER N	OF TO MIL	E O	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	030591	S/S	CONTRL	HARDWIRE			MU	062089	YES	21388A	OCRC
_`9	63	102	723	GREENFIEL	D RD (NB) @ X-OVER S	OF 10 MIL	E O	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	030591	S/S	CONTRL	HARDWIRE			MU	062089	YES	21388A	OCRC
<b>9</b>	63	112	007	BL-75 (PE	RRY ) @ OPDYKE ROAD		01	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	120190	S/S	W/TBC	12" HEADS	ADV F	RESOLU	FUG	030188	YES	31161A	DCRC
ĝ	63	112	028	M-24(LAPE	ER) @ HARMON RD (PIST	ON ARENA)	Õ	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	021489	S/S	W/TBC				M	042286	YES	27883A	OCRC
``• <u>9</u>	631	112	029	M-24(LAPE	ER) @ AUBURN HILLS AR	ENA (S DR	) 01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	021489	S/S	W/TBC				M	110786	YES	27883A	OCRC
\ <u>9</u>	63	112	124	M-24(LAPE	ER) SB @ X-OV 410' N	INDIANWOO	D 01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	011790	•••					FUR	030487	YES	11320A	OCRC
<u>و</u> ر	63	172	005	I-75 NB 0	FF RAMP @ UNIVERSITY	DR	01	01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	012789	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS	NEGO	TIATE		010987	YES	25414A	OCRC
<u>\</u> 9	63	72	006	I-75 NB 0	FF RAMP @ M-15(ORTONV	ILLE RD)	01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	050590	s/s	CONTRL	FULL ACTUA	NEGD	TIATE	FUG	090789	YES	29991A	OCRC
-9	631	72	007	I-75.M-24	(CONNECTOR) @ M-24(LA	PEER) NB	0	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	021489	s/s	W/TBC	PISTONS	AREN/	4	м	121586	YES	27883A	OCRC
<b>\9</b>	770	023	013	BL-69 (OA	K) EB AT 16TH STREET		Ó	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	031789	s/s	W/TBC	12" PEDS			FUG	040187	YES	27970A	NDOT
<b>`</b> 9	770	023	019	BL-69 (GR	ISWOLD) WB AT 16TH ST	REET	01	01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	032989	s/s	W/TBC	12" PEDS			FUG	040187	YES	27970A	MDOT
` <b>`</b> 9	77	111	103	I-94 SWB (	OFF RAMP @ WATER ST		01	01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	010692	BLUE	WTR BR	RETN=FINAL	IN= 1	1-6-92	I	122288	YES	20425A	MDOT
<u>`9</u>	77	132	003	M-25(LYMB	URNER) 🕈 KEEWAHDIN AV	E	0	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	101090	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS			FUR	081890	YES	29219A	MDOT
`9	77	132	004	M-25(LYMB	URNER) 👁 BIRCHWOOD MA	LL DRIVE	01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	092790	<b>S/S</b>	W/TBC	12" HEADS	CLLT			092589	YES	29219A	MDOT
_ <b>∖</b> 9	82(	)53	049	US-24(TEL	EGRAPH)SB @ X-OV 300'	S EATON	1 01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	071592	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS			FRG	102188	YES	32042A	WCPS
<b>`</b> @	820	)53	149	US-24(TEL	EGAPH)NB @ X-OV 150'	S EATON	01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	071592	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS			FRG	102188	YES	32042A	WCPS
्रेष्ट	82(	061	054	US-12(MIC	HIGAN)EB@ X-OV 1915'	E JOHN HI	X O	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	102188	s/s	CONTRL	S&G @ NEW	X-OV	ER		042986	YES	03091A	WCPS
्रेश्र	820	J61	113	US-12(MIC	HIGAN)EB @ X-OV 625'	W NEWBURG	iH O:	F 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	102188	s/s	CONTRL	HARDWIRE	NEW )	K-OVER		042986	YEŞ	03091A	WCPS
ેગ	820	)61	213	US-12(MIC	HIGAN)EB @ X-OV 450'	E NEWBURG	H 01	01	CONT	RACT	CPT	112288	s/s	CONTRL	HARDWIRE	NEW )	K-OVER		042986	YES	03091A	WCPS
9	820	974-	071	<del>~#~a(ront)</del>	╾╋┈╔┋╔╤╫┝╌╦╪╌┯╴		01	1 01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	112486	EXTN	I LODGE	SERVICE DR	BY C	ITY		103184	YES		PLD
_ <b>`</b> ⊕	82	112	003	US-10(LOD	GE FRWY) WB SERV DR @	LIVERNOI	S 01	1 01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	102186	FUR	\$\$\$	REFER	TO C	EA#399		031584	YES	24850A	WCPS
9	82	112	103	US-10(LOD	GE) EB SERVICE DR 🛛 L	IVERNOIS	/ 0	1 01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	102186	TEMF	PLTPH	SB:EB REFR	TO CI	EA#399		031584	YES	24850A	WCPS
_`\$	82	112	203	US-10(LOD	GE)EB SEV DR @ X-OV W	LIVERNOI	S O	i 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	102186	INTF	R RECON	REFER	TO C	EA#399		031584	YES	24850A	WCPS
~9	82	131	069	M-1 (WOODW	ARD)NWBD@ X-OV 125'S	STRATHCON	IA O	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	111590	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS			MUR	030989	YES	26749A	PLD
~9	82	131	070	M-1(WOODW	ARD) NWBD @ W GRIXDAL	E & X-OVE	R 0	1 01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	111590	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS	12"	PEDS	MUR	030989	YES	26749A	PLD
<b>~</b> 9	82	131	071	M-1(WOODW	ARD) NWBD 🕈 W NEVADA	& X-OVER	0	1 01	CONT	RACT	СРТ	111590	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS	12"∉	PEDS	MUR	030989	YES	26749A	PLD
<i>,</i> ,9	82	131	170	) M-1(WOODW	ARD)SEBD @ X-OV 125'	S GRIXDAL	E O	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	111590	S/S	W/TBC	12" HEADS	12"	PEDS	MUR	030989	YES	26749Å	PLD
- 🕈	82	131	171	M-1(WOODW	ARD)SEBD @ X-OV 125'	S NEVADA	0	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	111590	s/s	W/TBC	12" HEADS	12"	PEDS	MUR	030989	YES	26749A	PLD
୍ତ	82	141	016	5 M-102(8 M	ILE) EB @ X-OVER W OF	BILTMORE	0	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	051986	s/s	CONTRL	HARDWIRE	DECL	LN RQ		050384	YES	24435A	WCPS
9	82	191	208	I-75(NEW	NB OFF RAMP) @ WEST R	D (S07)	0	1 01	CONT	RACT	CPT	010588	NEW	S&G					083085	YES	06747A	WCPS

DATE = 05-23-95

.

٩